
RUSHMOOR BOROUGH COUNCIL

LICENSING AND GENERAL PURPOSES 
COMMITTEE

at the Council Offices, Farnborough on
Monday, 9th April, 2018 at 7.00 pm

To:

Cllr A. Jackman (Chairman)
Cllr J.E. Woolley (Vice-Chairman)

Cllr Sue Carter
Cllr Sophia Choudhary

Cllr Liz Corps
Cllr A.H. Crawford

Cllr B. Jones
Cllr S.J. Masterson

Cllr M.D. Smith
Cllr L.A. Taylor

Cllr Jacqui Vosper

Enquiries regarding this agenda should be referred to the Committee Administrator, 
Kathy Flatt, Democratic and Customer Services, Tel. (01252 398829) or email 

kathy.flatt@rushmoor.gov.uk.

Public Document Pack



A G E N D A
1. MINUTES – (Pages 1 - 12)

To confirm the Minutes of the Meeting held on 29th January, 2018 (copy attached).

2. EXTERNAL AUDITOR - AUDIT PLAN - UPDATE – (Pages 13 - 18)

To receive an update from Ernst & Young (copy attached) on the progress of the 
2018/19 audit.  Andrew Brittain and Justine Thorpe from Ernst & Young will be in 
attendance at the meeting.

3. EXTERNAL AUDITOR - LOCAL GOVERNMENT AUDIT COMMITTEE BRIEFING 
PAPER – (Pages 19 - 30)

To receive a copy of the external auditor’s briefing paper (copy attached), which 
covers issues which may have an impact on the local government sector and audits 
undertaken.

4. ACCOUNTING STANDARDS ISSUES BUT NOT YET ADOPTED 2017/18 – (Pages 
31 - 36)

To consider the Head of Financial Services’ Report No. FIN1813 (copy attached), 
which provides an update on the introduction of International Financial Reporting 
Standard (IFRS) 9, the new accounting standard relating to financial instruments, 
including investments that will apply to local authorities for the 2018/19 financial year 
and onwards.  

5. REVIEW OF GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE – (Pages 37 - 124)

To consider the Head of Democratic and Customer Services’ Report No. DEM1803 
(copy attached), which proposes changes to the Council’s governance structure.  It 
is proposed that the existing policy and review panels will be replaced by one 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee and a Policy and Project Advisory Board.  There 
are also a number of changes to be made to the Cabinet working arrangements, 
although the review of portfolio responsibilities is still to be completed.  This will be 
determined by the Leader, who has authority to do this within the Constitution. 
Finally, this report also  proposes a number of consequential changes to documents 
within the Constitution.

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION AT MEETINGS

Members of the public may ask to speak at the meeting on any of the items on the 
agenda by writing to the Committee Administrator at the Council Offices, 
Farnborough by 5.00 pm three working days prior to the meeting.

-----------





This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 - 
 

LICENSING AND GENERAL PURPOSES 
COMMITTEE 

 
Meeting held on Monday, 29th January, 2018 at the Council Offices, Farnborough at 
7.00 pm. 
 
Voting Members 

Cllr A. Jackman (Chairman) 
Cllr J.E. Woolley (Vice-Chairman) 

 
Cllr Sue Carter 

Cllr Sophia Choudhary 
Cllr Liz Corps 

Cllr A.H. Crawford 
Cllr B. Jones 

Cllr S.J. Masterson 
Cllr M.D. Smith 
Cllr L.A. Taylor 

 
Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Cllr Jacqui Vosper. 
 

24. MINUTES 
 
The Minutes of the Meeting held on 27th November, 2017 were approved and 
signed by the Chairman. 
 

25. CRITERIA FOR THE SELECTION OF THE MAYOR AND DEPUTY MAYOR 
2018/19 
 
The Chief Executive reported on the outcome of the selection process for the Mayor-
Elect and the Deputy Mayor-Elect for 2018/19.  The Chief Executive had contacted 
the appropriate Members on the seniority list and reported that Cllr Sue Carter was 
the next Member able to accept the nomination for Deputy Mayor.  Through normal 
progression, Cllr S.J. Masterson, currently Deputy Mayor, would progress to the 
position of Mayor for 2018/19. 
 
The Committee RECOMMENDED TO THE COUNCIL that: 
 
(i) Cllr S.J. Masterson be appointed as Mayor-Elect for the 2018/19 Municipal 

Year; and 
 

(ii) Cllr Sue Carter be appointed as Deputy Mayor-Elect for the 2018/19 Municipal 
Year. 

 
26. WELLESLEY SECTION 106 AGREEMENT - RUSHMOOR BOROUGH COUNCIL 

APPOINTMENT TO THE ESTATE MANAGEMENT COMPANY - WELLESLEY 
RESIDENTS TRUST LTD 
 

Page 1

AGENDA ITEM No. 1



- 2 - 
 

The Committee considered the Solicitor to the Council’s Report No. LEG1801 which 
proposed the appointment of a Council representative as a Director of Wellesley 
Residents Trust Ltd, provided for by a Section 106 Agreement for the development.  
The Committee had considered the matter previously on 27th November, 2017, 
however, had sought further clarification on the appointment. 
 
The Chief Executive confirmed that the appointment could be filled by either an 
officer or Member of the Council and that the duties would involve attendance at 
board and general meetings of the company.  It was considered important that the 
appointment should be made so that the Council could influence the estate 
arrangements for the development to ensure that the development was properly 
funded, managed and maintained to a high standard so problems were not 
experienced by residents or by being a drain upon Council resources.   
 
During discussion, Members were of the opinion that the Council should be 
represented on the Board by a Member of the Council and Cllr A.H. Crawford’s 
name was put forward as a nominee.  Following a vote, it was agreed that Cllr 
Crawford should be nominated as the Council’s director on the estate management 
company – Wellesley Residents Trust Ltd. 
 
RESOLVED:   That Cllr A.H. Crawford be appointed at the Council’s representative 
on Wellesley Residents Trust Ltd.    
 

27. AUDIT PLAN 
 
The Chairman welcomed to the meeting Ms. Justine Thorpe, Manager, Ernst & 
Young who was attending the meeting to present the external auditor’s Audit Plan.  
The Committee received the Audit Plan which had been prepared by the Council’s 
external auditors, Ernst & Young.  The purpose of the Plan was to provide a basis on 
which to review the proposed audit approach and scope for the 2017/18 audit in 
accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014, the 
National Audit Office’s 2015 Code of Practice, the Statement of Responsibilities 
issued by Public Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA) Ltd, auditing standards and 
other professional requirements.  The Plan was also used to ensure that the audit 
was aligned with the Committee’s service expectations. 
 
The Plan also summarised Ernst & Young’s initial assessment of the key risks 
driving the development of an effective audit for the Council and outlined the planned 
audit strategy in response to the risks.   
 
RESOLVED:  That the Audit planning report for the year ended 31st March, 2018 be 
noted. 
 

28. HOUSING BENEFIT CLAIM CERTIFICATION 
 
The Committee received Ernst & Young’s report, which summarised the results of 
the work on the Council’s 2016/17 housing benefit claim to the Department for Work 
and Pensions (DWP) towards the cost of administering the Government’s housing 
benefits scheme for tenants.  In certifying the claim, Ernst & Young had followed a 
methodology determined by the DWP.   The report showed that Ernst & Young had 

Page 2



- 3 - 
 

checked and certified the housing benefits subsidy claim with a total value of 
£36,777,346.  In testing an initial sample of claims, two cases had been identified 
where benefit had been overpaid (£187.96 and £5.51) and one case where the claim 
had been overpaid by £65.81 due to an incorrect earnings figure. In view of these 
errors, an additional random sample of 40 cases had been selected.  The testing of 
the additional sample had identified four errors where benefit had been underpaid.   
These observations had been reported to the Department for Work and Pensions in 
a qualification letter.  The auditor was of the opinion that there was no impact on the 
Council’s claim to the DWP. 
 
During discussion, a question was raised regarding the underpayment of a claim and 
whether the Council would go back to the claimant.  The Head of Financial Services 
undertook to look into the matter and report back.  
 
RESOLVED:  That Ernst & Young’s report on its certification work on the Council’s 
housing benefits subsidy claim be noted.   
 

29. LOCAL GOVERNMENT AUDIT COMMITTEE BRIEFING 
 
The Committee received the Local Government Audit Committee briefing paper that 
had been produced by Ernst & Young, which covered Government and economic 
news, accounting, auditing and governance and any key questions for the 
Committee.   
 
RESOLVED:  That the Local Government Audit Committee Briefing Paper be noted.   
 

30. INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE 
 
The Committee received the Audit Manager’s Report No. AUD1801, which set out 
the work carried out by Internal Audit for Quarter 3 of the 2017/18 financial year and 
gave details of the proposed work to be delivered for Quarter 4.   
 
It was noted that audit reviews which had been completed since September, 2017 
had included: cyber security; contract letting and tendering; purchase of property and 
land; Aldershot and Farnborough Markets follow-up; and, HMRC requirements and 
tax requirements.   
 
The Committee was also advised that Internal Audit had provided input and advice 
as part of the Risk Management Group, which was overseeing the reconstitution of 
the Council’s risk management processes and development of strategic and 
operational risk registers.   Input had also been provided to work to ensure that the 
Council was set up to comply with the new General Data Protection Regulations 
(GDPR), which would replace the existing Data Protection Act from May 2018. 
 
The Report advised that, since the previous internal audit update report in 
September, 2017, an additional review had been added to the audit plan in respect 
of portable IT equipment, which was expected to be completed in the near future.   
Follow-up of previous audit recommendations relating to IT network security had also 
been added to the schedule and a follow-up of recommendations made concerning 

Page 3



- 4 - 
 

the Parking Machine income review would be deferred as this was reliant on the 
introduction of new parking machines which had been delayed. 
 
RESOLVED:  That the Audit Manager’s Report No. AUD1801 be noted.  
 

31. INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN 
 
The Committee considered the Audit Manager’s Report No. AUD1802, setting  out 
the Annual Internal Audit Plan for 2018/19 which provided the framework for the use 
of audit resources.   
 
The first six months’ work was set out in the Report and this had been selected from 
the higher risk areas set out in Appendix B to the Report.  The Committee was 
advised that it would receive quarterly updates on the Audit Plan and that the list of 
audits would be subject to review due to the changing needs of the organisation or 
resource availability.   
 
RESOLVED: That approval be given to the annual audit plan, as set out in the Audit 
Manager’s Report No. AUD1802, which would be monitored and updated on a 
rolling, quarterly basis.   
 

32. FEES AND CHARGES - ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH ANIMAL LICENCES 
 
The Committee considered the Head of Environmental Health and Housing’s Report 
No. EHH1802, which sought approval for revised fees for new licences and licence 
renewals in respect of animal boarding establishments, pet shops, dog breeders and 
dangerous wild animals following a review of the work time required to deliver the 
work.   The fees proposed were based on the principle of full cost recovery and were 
comparable with other local authorities.   
 
RESOLVED:  That approval be given to the following fees, as set out in the Head of 
Environmental Health and Housing’s Report No. EHH1802, with effect from 1st April, 
2018: 
 

Licence Existing 
Fee 

Fee payable from 
1st April 2018 

New Animal Boarding Establishment 
Licence/Renewal 

£142/£142 £242/£143 

New Pet Shop Licence/Renewal £142/£142 £271/£171 

New Dog Breeder Licence/Renewal £160/£160 £271/£171 

New Dangerous Wild Animals Licence (2 
years)/Renewal 

£280/£280 £399/£399 

 
33. AMENDMENT TO STANDING ORDER 8 - NOTICES OF MOTION 

 
The Committee considered a report on a potential amendment to the Council 
Procedure Rules (Standing Orders) relating to Notices of Motion and Questions.   
The report had been prepared by the Vice-Chairman, Cllr John Woolley, following 
discussion on the issue at the Committee meeting on 27th November, 2017 when it 

Page 4



- 5 - 
 

had been agreed that further information should be provided on the current situation 
and potential amendment options.  
 
Cllr Woolley presented his report and explained that the background to his proposal 
for an amendment was to ensure that all motions debated by the Council were 
relevant to topics over which the Council had some control and thereby using the 
Council’s time more effectively.   
 
At the previous meeting, it had also been suggested that a similar amendment could 
be made to Standing Order 8(3) (Questions).  However, it was felt that very few 
questions were submitted under this Standing Order and, as there was no debate on 
the question, the item was therefore dealt with quickly.  Standing Order 8 questions 
were there to give Members the opportunity to raise issues which might not 
otherwise be dealt with by an agenda item.   
 
The report gave examples of motions which had been debated by Members, the 
subject matter over which the Council had no powers or duties.  The report also gave 
details of other local authorities’ rules in respect of Notices of Motion.   
 
During discussion on the proposal, Members raised questions regarding the 
Government’s response to the resolutions passed by the Council the point was made 
that the idea behind the proposal was to focus the Council’s time rather than to stifle 
debate. A further request was made that there should be an annual report to the 
Council on the outcome of Notices of Motion taken to full Council.   

 
The Committee RECOMMENDED TO THE COUNCIL that 
 
(i) the proposed change to the provisions relating to Notices of Motion be 

agreed; and 
 

(ii) the following amendment be made to Council Procedure Rule (Standing 
Orders) 9(6), to read as follows: 

 
“Every motion shall be relevant to some matter in relation to which the Council 
has powers or duties”; and 

 
RESOLVED:  That further examination of the proposal to have an annual report to 
full Council of the outcome of Notices of Motion be considered as part of the next 
review of the Council Procedure Rules. 
 
Note:   Recommendation (ii) will stand adjourned without discussion until the Council 
Meeting on 19th April 2018. 
 

34. APPOINTMENT OF HONORARY ALDERMEN 
 
The Committee considered the Head of Democratic and Customer Services’ Report 
No. DEM1802 which recommended the approval of changes to the appointment and 
duties of Honorary Aldermen and the protocol thereon in the Council’s Constitution. 
 

Page 5



- 6 - 
 

Following a review of arrangements for appointing Honorary Aldermen and their 
roles, it was proposed that there should be a reduction in the period of eligible 
service with the Council and its constituent authorities from 25 to a total of 16 years 
(i.e. four full terms) and the inclusion of a provision that Aldermen should normally be 
Borough residents.  In addition, it was proposed that Aldermen should be allowed to 
ask to speak at meetings, subject to agreement by the relevant Council body.  This 
arrangement was the same as that which was currently afforded to elected Members 
who were not already members of that body.   At full Council meetings each 
Alderman would be able to speak on one agenda item at a meeting, subject to the 
other rules of debate set out in Standing Orders.   
 
It was further proposed to include in the protocol the provision to appoint an 
Honorary Alderman to represent the Council on outside bodies.  If agreed, the new 
arrangements would be kept under review. 
 
The Committee RECOMMENDED TO COUNCIL that approval be given to changes 
regarding the appointment and role of Honorary Aldermen, as set out in the Head of 
Democratic Services’ Report No. DEM1802. 
 

35. APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT PERSON 
 
The Committee considered the Head of Democratic and Customer Services’ Report 
No. DEM1802 which recommended an appointment to the role of Designated 
Independent Person for the Council, as part of the regime on Members’ standards 
which had been introduced by the Localism Act 2011. 
 
The Report advised the Committee that the previously appointed Designated 
Independent Person was no longer available to the Council and that it had therefore 
become necessary to re-appoint to this role.  The Report set out the role description 
and statutory functions of the Designated Independent Person.  It was noted that a 
person could not be considered independent if: 
 

 he or she had been an elected or co-opted Member of the Council or an 
officer of the Council; 

 

 he or she had been an elected or co-opted Member of any committee or sub-
committee of the Council; or 

 

 he or she had a relative or close friend of a current elected or co-opted 
Member or officer of the Council 

 
There was no payment for the role, however it was proposed that a small, annual 
retainer allowance should be paid to the post-holder equivalent to the amount paid to 
a co-opted committee member (£480 per annum).   
 
The Report gave details of the appointment process which had been undertaken for 
the role, following which it was proposed that Mrs Mary Harris be recommended for 
appointment as the Designated Independent Person for a three-year term, subject to 
the approval of the Committee and the Council.  Details of the candidate were also 
set out in the Report. 

Page 6



- 7 - 
 

 
During discussion, it was agreed that, prior to seeking the approval of the full 
Council, contact would be made with all Members of the Council to confirm the 
independence of the recommended candidate for the appointment.   
 
Subject to confirmation by Members of the Council of the independence of the 
recommended candidate, the Committee RECOMMENDED TO THE COUNCIL that 
Mrs Mary Harris be appointed to the role of Designated Independent Person for a 
three-year term.  
 

36. TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY AND PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 
2018/19 
 
The Committee considered the Head of Financial Services’ Report No. FIN1802, 
which set out the Treasury Management Strategy, Annual Borrowing Strategy and 
Annual Investment Strategy, Prudential Indicators and Minimum Revenue Provision 
Statement for recommendation to the Cabinet for approval.   
 
The Committee noted that CIPFA had conducted reviews of the Prudential Code and 
the Treasury Management Code of Practice in 2017 and that the Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) had also recently undertaken a 
consultation on treasury management issues.  However, neither of these institutions 
had produced additional new definitive reference and guidance.   The Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement for 2018/19 had therefore been prepared in 
accordance with the existing 2011 CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice 
and the 2010 MHCLG Investment Guidance.   It was expected that CIPFA and the 
MHCLG would provide further definitive guidance in the coming months.  Should this 
be the case, then a revision and an update to the Treasury Management Strategy for 
2018/19 might be required during the current financial year. 
   
The Report set out the purpose and functions of the treasury management operation 
and the Strategies, Indicators and Statement set out in Appendices A, B and C 
provided an approved framework within which officers undertook the day-to-day 
capital and treasury activities.   
 
Members were advised that Arlingclose continued to indicate that the Council should 
diversify investment risk (spreading smaller amounts over an increasing number of 
counterparties) wherever possible.  The Council was progressively incurring further 
borrowing and Arlingclose had advised that, in the circumstances of some current 
specific investments reaching their maturity dates, the Council should not replace 
them.  This strategy would allow for a natural reduction in overall investments 
balance during a period when borrowing was increasing.   
 
The Committee was also advised that the Council had incurred prudential code 
borrowing in 2016/17 of £6.548 million in relation to its capital expenditure.  Further 
borrowing to support the financing of the approved Capital Programme for the 
2017/18 financial year would be required.  The Council had therefore commenced 
the 2018/19 financial year in a position where its investment holdings continued to 
remain significant, but the Council also carried some accumulating debt.  Members 

Page 7



- 8 - 
 

were advised that there would be an inevitable requirement to incur some further 
borrowing to service capital expenditure in future years. 
 
The Report advised that careful observation of the Prudential Indicator “gross debt v 
capital financing requirement” would need to be undertaken progressively throughout 
the financial year.  This meant that the Council might need to redeem an element of 
its core pooled fund investments at some time in the future in order to adhere to the 
requirements of this Indicator. 
 
During discussion, Members asked questions in respect of borrowing in respect of 
Aldershot Regeneration projects, the role of Arlingclose and levels of risk in respect 
of investment. 
 
RESOLVED:   That  
 
(i) the Cabinet be recommended to approve 
 

(a) the Treasury Management Strategy, Annual Borrowing Strategy and 
Annual Investment Strategy, as set out in Appendix A to the Head of 
Financial Services’ Report No. FIN1802; 

 
(b) the Prudential Indicators, as set out in Appendix B; and 
 
(c) the Minimum Revenue Position Statement, as set out in Appendix C; and 

 
(ii) an all Member seminar be organised on the role and work of Arlingclose in due 

course. 
 

37. RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE 
 
The Committee considered the Head of Financial Services’ Report No. FIN1806, 
which set out the new processes being established to manage corporate risk within 
the organisation.   
 
The Report advised that a Corporate Risk Management Group had been formed to 
undertake a review and update of the risk register, which had led to the 
establishment of new policy and processes for risk management, details of which 
were set out in the Report.  Members were advised that, in order to ensure that key 
risks were assessed, managed and recorded appropriately, a risk register would be 
updated and maintained for the Council by the Risk Management Group.  A copy of 
the draft register was also set out in the Report.  The risk register would be a “living 
document” and would be subject to on-going updating and used as a tool for 
assessing and mitigating risk to the Council.   
 
The Committee was advised that the Head of Financial Services would report on the 
risk register to the Corporate Leadership Team every three months to ensure that 
Heads of Service and Directors remained aware of the key risks to the Council and 
the measures being put in place to mitigate that risk.   The Head of Financial 
Services would report on the risk register at least annually to Members via the 
Committee and the appropriate scrutiny panel. 

Page 8



- 9 - 
 

 
Work would continue to develop the risk register and adapt the system being 
established to ensure it remained fit for purpose.  In order to ensure risks were 
effectively identified and managed into the future, work to embed these practices at 
all levels of the organisation would take place.  Initially it was proposed to cascade 
information through a workshop for the Corporate Leadership Team and middle 
managers, with the aim of maturing the corporate risk management system within 
the organisation to a position where effective risk management was recognised and 
actively promoted at all levels. 
 
It was further reported that regular discussions had been held with the external 
auditors to validate and improve the Council’s approach and to respond to 
recommendations in the Audit Results Report/Annual Audit Letter and to develop the 
risk register.   In addition, the Council’s insurers were actively engaged and would be 
assisting with a workshop on risk management issues. 
 
During discussion, it was requested that Members should also receive training on 
risk management,  
 
RESOLVED:  That approval be given to the approach to corporate risk management 
as set out in the Head of Financial Services’ Report No. FIN1806.   
 

38. AUDIT FEES - RESPONSE TO CONSULTATION 
 
The Committee received the Head of Financial Services’ Report No. FIN1805 which 
set out the Council’s response to the Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited 
(PSAA) consultation on scale fee setting for 2018/19 for opted-in local government 
and police bodies.   
 
It was noted that, from 2018/19, Public Sector Audit Appointments was responsible 
for appointing an auditor and setting scale fees for relevant principal authorities that 
had chosen to opt into its national scheme and that, for the Council, there would be a 
23% fee reduction in 2018/19, providing an audit fee saving of £11,462.   In its 
response to the consultation, the Council had made representation regarding 
additional fees, which could be charged by an external auditor for additional work 
undertaken.  It was felt that there should be a robust consultation process in place on 
a fee variation, to include the audited body, auditor and PSAA with an iterative 
progressive resolution process in place.   
 
RESOLVED:  That the Head of Financial Services’ Report No. FIN1805 be noted.  
 

39. PUBLIC SECTOR AUDIT APPOINTMENTS' REPORT ON RESULTS OF 
AUDITOR'S WORK 
 
The Committee received the Head of Financial Services’ Report No. FIN1807 which 
summarised the results of audit work performed on local government bodies in the 
2016/17 audit cycle and the types of audit opinion that could be issued.   
 
RESOLVED: That the Head of Financial Services’ Report No. FIN1807 be noted.    
 

Page 9



- 10 - 
 

40. ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND RELATED MATTERS FOR THE YEAR 2017/18 
 
The Committee considered the Head of Financial Services’ Report No. FIN1809 
which reviewed the proposed accounting policies to be applied for the closure of the 
2017/18 accounts.   
 
The Report advised that, as part of its Statement of Accounts, the Council had to 
disclose the accounting policies it had applied to all material balances and 
transactions.  This process was described in CIPFA’s Code of Practice on Local 
Authority Accounting in the UK 2017/18 (the Code) as proper accounting policies, 
over which the Council had limited discretion.   The accounting policies had not 
changed compared to the policies applied for the previous financial year other than 
for: 
 

 cash and cash equivalent’s policy had been clarified to remove ambiguity with 
investments 
 

 the introduction of new accounting policy related to the capitalisation of 
borrowing cost  
 

 date references relating to the financial year 2017/18 applicable to some of the 
accounting policies had been updated. 

 
Members were advised that the materiality threshold might be lower for common 
transactions and outcomes where materiality judgements were usually particularly 
sensitive.  Preparations for 2017/18 account disclosure would be commencing in the 
near future and would be reviewed against the previous year’s disclosures in line 
with the level of materiality. 
 
RESOLVED:  That  
 
(i) the minor amendments to accounting policy in respect of cash and cash 

equivalents and borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation, as set out in the 
Head of Financial Services’ Report No. FIN1809, be approved for the closure of 
the 2017/18 accounts; and 

 
(ii) the updated disclosures and internal level of materiality to be included within 

the Statement of Accounts for 2017/18 be noted.  
 

41. FOLLOW UP FROM AUDIT RESULTS REPORT 
 
The Committee considered the Head of Financial Services’ Report No. FIN1810, 
which set out a proposed course of action in response to observations made by 
Ernst & Young and set out in its recent Audit Results Report and in the Annual Audit 
Letter in respect of: 
 

 revised terms of reference and work programme for the Licensing and General 
Purposes Committee 

 mapping and reporting of the Council’s Assurance Framework 

 review of Risk Management Framework 

Page 10



- 11 - 
 

 robust challenge of experts 
 
Other actions were proposed to underpin this work and these included improved 
communications on available training and forums and targeted training for Members 
of the Committee to understand their role as “those charged with governance”. 
 
During discussion, Members raised questions regarding the setting up of a work 
programme for the Committee, training and the scheduling of committee meetings.  
The comment was also made that some of the issues identified would need to be 
actioned by the end of the 2017/18 financial year. 
 
RESOLVED:  That approval be given to the action plan in response to the 
observations made by Ernst & Young in its annual Audit Results Report and Annual 
Audit Letter reported to the Committee on 25th September and 27th November, 
2017 respectively, and as set out in the Head of Financial Services’ Report No. 
FIN1810.   
 
The meeting closed at 8.45 pm. 
 
 
  

CLLR A. JACKMAN (CHAIRMAN) 
 
 
 
 
 

------------ 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Rushmoor Borough Council 

Licensing and General Purposes Committee  

External Audit Progress Report 

9 April  2018 

 

 

Page 13

AGENDA ITEM No. 2



 
 

 

 

 

  

   
 

 Ernst & Young LLP 
Wessex House 
19 Threefield Lane 
Southampton 
SO14 3QB 

 Tel: + 44 2380 382000 
Fax: + 44 2380 382001 
ey.com 
 
 

  Tel: 023 8038 2000 
Fax: 023 8038 2001 

 

 
Licensing and General Purposes Committee 
Rushmoor Borough Council 
Council Offices 
Farnborough Road 
Farnborough 
Hampshire GU14 7JU 

 

9 April 2018 

Audit Progress Report  

We are pleased to attach our Audit Progress Report.  

This progress report summarises the work we have undertaken since the last meeting of the Licensing 
and General Purposes Committee in January 2018.  
 
Our audits are undertaken in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 
2014, the National Audit Office’s 2015 Code of Audit Practice, the Statement of Responsibilities issued 
by Public Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA) Ltd, auditing standards and other professional 
requirements.   

We welcome the opportunity to discuss this report with you at your meeting on 9 April  2018.  

Yours faithfully 

 
 

Andrew Brittain  
Associate Partner 
For and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP 
Enc. 

Page 14



1 

 
 

Contents 

Progress on 2017/18 external audit ........................................................ 2 

Appendix 1 – Faster Close Key Messages ............................................ 3 
 

 

 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

In April 2015 Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) issued “Statement of responsibilities of auditors 
and audited bodies”. It is available from the via the PSAA website (www.PSAA.co.uk). 

The Statement of responsibilities serves as the formal terms of engagement between appointed auditors and 
audited bodies. It summarises where the different responsibilities of auditors and audited bodies begin and 
end, and what is to be expected of the audited body in certain areas.  

The “Terms of Appointment (updated February 2017)” issued by the PSAA sets out additional requirements 
that auditors must comply with, over and above those set out in the National Audit Office Code of Audit 
Practice (the Code) and in legislation, and covers matters of practice and procedure which are of a recurring 
nature. 

This report is made solely to the Licensing and General Purposes Committee and management of Rushmoor 
Borough Council in accordance with the statement of responsibilities. Our work has been undertaken so that 
we might state to the Licensing and General Purposes Committee, and management of Rushmoor Borough 
Council those matters we are required to state to them in this report and for no other purpose. To the fullest 
extent permitted by law we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Licensing and 
General Purposes Committee, and management of Rushmoor Borough Council for this report or for the 
opinions we have formed. It should not be provided to any third-party without our prior written consent. 

Our Complaints Procedure – If at any time you would like to discuss with us how our service to you could be 
improved, or if you are dissatisfied with the service you are receiving, you may take the issue up with your 
usual partner or director contact. If you prefer an alternative route, please contact Steve Varley, our 
Managing Partner, 1 More London Place, London SE1 2AF. We undertake to look into any complaint 
carefully and promptly and to do all we can to explain the position to you. Should you remain dissatisfied with 
any aspect of our service, you may of course take matters up with our professional institute. We can provide 
further information on how you may contact our professional institute. 

Page 15

http://www.psaa.co.uk/


Progress report 

2 
 

Progress on 2017/18 external audit 

Planning  

Our planning procedures for 2017/18 are complete, and our audit plan was presented to the 29 
January Licensing and General Purposes Committee meeting. We have also undertaken our 
walkthroughs of key financial systems for 2017/18 as part of our planning and risk assessment 
audit work. 

Interim audit  

We performed our interim audit in February and completed the following:   

 Use of data analytics tools for an efficient selection and testing of samples for months 1 
to 10 testing. 

 Good progress has been made in completing the planned programme of interim 
substantive testing, with samples being tested for income and expenditure, payroll, and 
property, plant and equipment (PPE). The challenge of meeting the faster close deadline 
of 31 July remains considerable, but the work completed during our interim audit will 
make a significant contribution to doing so. 

 Early work is underway to address some of the areas of focus identified in our audit 
plan, principally around the Council’s accounting estimates and accounting policies (the 
last two forming part of our work to address the risk of management override). 

 We have held regular catch-up meetings with the finance team to update on audit 
progress, discuss and resolve audit issues promptly, and to identify any further steps 
which may need to be put in place for the year-end audit visit. 

Value for money conclusion 

We have also commenced our work on the two value for money risks: 

 Delivery of a sustainable medium term financial strategy; and  

 Effectiveness of the Council’s risk management framework. 

 Final audit  

Our year-end audit is due to commence on 25 June 2018. In advance of this visit, we are 
meeting with finance staff again, on 26 April, to discuss our detailed working papers request to 
help ensure the audit can commence promptly on the agreed date. We will also maintain an 
open dialogue with officers to understand any issues emerging from the production of the 
financial statements and the supporting working papers. 

 

 

 

 

Page 16



Progress report 

3 
 

Appendix 1 – Faster Close Key Messages 

Following the discussion held at the 29 January 2018 Licensing and General Purposes 
Committee meeting as part of presenting our audit plan, we have set out below the key 
messages which we are communicating consistently to all authorities with regard to the earlier 
timetable for accounts production and audit completion for 2017/18. We would be happy to 
discuss this again at your April Committee meeting if you would like to do so. 

The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 introduced a significant change in statutory deadlines 
for the 2017/18 financial year. For this year the timetable for the preparation and approval of 
accounts will be brought forward with draft accounts needing to be prepared by 31 May and the 
publication of the accounts by 31 July. 

These changes provide risks for both the preparers and the auditors of the financial statements: 

 The Council now has less time to prepare the financial statements and supporting 
working papers. Risks to the Council include internal quality assurance arrangements, 
late working papers, and slippage in delivering data for analytics work in format and to 
the timescales required. 

 As your auditor, we have a more significant peak in our audit work and a shorter period 
to complete the audit. Risks for auditors relate to delivery of all audits within the same 
compressed timetable. Slippage at one client could potentially put delivery of others at 
risk. 

To mitigate this risk we will require: 

 good quality draft financial statements and good supporting working papers by the 
agreed deadline of 25 June; 

 appropriate Council staff to be available throughout the agreed audit period; and 

 complete and prompt responses to audit questions and information requests. 

If you are unable to meet key dates within our agreed timetable, we will notify you of the impact 
on the timing of your audit, which may include postponing your audit until later in the summer 
and redeploying the team to other work to meet deadlines elsewhere. 

Where additional work is required to complete your audit, due to additional risks being identified, 
additional work being required as a result of scope changes, or poor audit evidence, we will 
notify you of the impact on the fee and the timing of the audit. Such circumstances may result in 
a delay to your audit while we complete other work elsewhere. 

To support the Council we will: 

 work with the Council to engage early to facilitate early substantive testing where 
appropriate, in particular early work on the PPE revaluation on 26th and 27th April. 

 provide an early review on the Council’s streamlining of the Statement of Accounts 
where non-material disclosure notes are removed. 

 continue to work with the Council to implement EY Client Portal, this will: 

o streamline our audit requests through a reduction of emails and improved 
means of communication; 

o provide on –demand visibility into the status of audit requests and the overall 
audit status; 

o reduce risk of duplicate requests; and 

o provide better security of sensitive data. 

 Agree the team and timing of each element of our work with you. 

 Agree the supporting working papers that we require to complete our audit. 

 

Page 17



 

5 
 

EY | Assurance | Tax | Transactions | Advisory 

Ernst & Young LLP 

© Ernst & Young LLP. Published in the 
UK. 
All rights reserved.  

The UK firm Ernst & Young LLP is a limited liability 
partnership registered in England and Wales  
with registered number OC300001 and is a member firm of 
Ernst & Young Global Limited. 

Ernst & Young LLP, 1 More London Place, London, SE1 
2AF. 

ey.com 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 18



Local 
Government 
Audit Committee 
Briefing

Page 19

AGENDA ITEM No. 3



Contents 
at a glance

Page 20



1 Local Government Audit Committee Briefing

This sector briefing is one of 
the ways that we support you 
and your organisation in an 
environment that is constantly 
changing and evolving.

It covers issues which may have an impact on your 
organisation, the Local Government sector, and 
the audits that we undertake.

The briefings are produced by our public sector 
audit specialists within EY’s national Government 
and Public Sector (GPS) team, using our public 
sector knowledge, and EY’s wider expertise across 
UK and international business. 

The briefings bring together not only technical 
issues relevant to the Local Government sector 
but wider matters of potential interest to you and 
your organisation.

Links to where you can find out more on any of 
the articles featured can be found at the end of 
the briefing. 

We hope that you find the briefing informative 
and should this raise any issues that you would 
like to discuss further, please contact your local 
audit team.

Page 21



2 Local Government Audit Committee Briefing

Government and 
economic news

Will the UK economy hold up as Brexit nears?
The latest forecast from the EY Item Club highlights that UK 
GDP growth in 2017 was 1.8%, which was better than expected. 
However, it does compare unfavourably with 2017 GDP growth 
of 2.5% for the Eurozone, 2.3% for the US and an estimated 
3.0% globally.

The momentum from 2017, an improving outlook for consumer 
spending, and the increased likelihood of a near-term Brexit 
transition arrangements are expected to support UK growth this 
year. With this, we have nudged up our UK GDP forecast for 2018 
to 1.7%, up from the 1.4% we predicted in our Autumn forecast in 
October last year.

However, further out, the UK’s limited productivity performance 
and ongoing Brexit and political uncertainties will see the UK 
achieve only mid-range growth. With this, we have slightly reduced 
our GDP growth projections for 2019 to 1.7% (down from 1.8%), 
1.9% for 2020 (down from 2.0%), and 2.0% for 2021 (down from 
2.2%). Although we have modestly downgraded our expectation of 
the UK’s productivity performance, it remains more optimistic than 
the Office for Budget Responsibility’s latest forecast. Specifically, 
we forecast output per hour to rise 0.9% in 2018 and then 1.3% 
annually during 2019–2021.

Much depends on how the Brexit negotiations develop. 
The expectation is that the UK and EU will make sufficient 
progress to agree a transition arrangement lasting at least two 
years, from late March 2019. Since this will have to be ratified 
across the EU, agreement essentially needs to be reached by 
October 2018. Progress towards a transition deal in late 2018 
should support business confidence and a gradual pick-up in 
investment, helping GDP growth accelerate.

Provisional 2018–19 Local Government 
Finance Settlement
On 19th December 2017 the Government set out the provisional 
funding plan for the 2018–19 financial year, which will be the third 
year of the four year multi-year settlement that was accepted 
by 97% of local authorities. The main themes of the provisional 
settlement were:

Council tax referendum principles — as a result of the financial 
settlement consultation process the government has decided to 
set the core referendum principle at 3% in 2018–19 and 2019–20, 
to match the higher than expected inflation. This change will give 
local authorities more flexibility in deciding how money will be 
raised to offset the increasing financial pressures and demand on 
services. Shire district councils will be allowed an increase of 3% 
or £5 whichever is higher.

Page 22



3 Local Government Audit Committee Briefing

Continuation of the adult social care precept principle of a 2% 
increase, with the additional flexibility in 2018–19 to increase the 
precept by an additional 1%, from 2% to 3%, provided that the total 
increase across the three years 2017–18 to 2019–20 does not 
exceed 6%.

Analysis by the Local Government Association has estimated that 
the impact of increased flexibility in council tax precepts could be 
worth up to £540mn to local authorities by 2019–20. However  
local services are facing a total funding gap of £5.8bn in 2019–20. 
Therefore, the increased powers to raise council tax are not 
sufficient to meet the future funding gap.

Business rate retention — the Government’s continued intention 
to reform local government financing in the future by allowing 
authorities to retain a greater percentage of business rates instead 
of receiving certain grants (including RSG, public health grant) 
direct from central government. By 2020–21 it is estimated that 
the business rate retention across the local government system 
would be 75%, compared to the current level of 50% retention. 
It was also announced that the 100% business rates retention 
pilot schemes were going to be expanded to include a further 
10 local authorities. 

New homes bonus — since inception the new home bonus has 
allocated £7bn to local authorities to encourage the building of 
over 1.2 million new homes. The Government has decided to 
continue to set the national baseline (below which no bonus will 
be paid) at 0.4% for 2018/19. The national baseline represents 
the annual growth of Band D properties within a local authority 
above which the new homes bonus will be awarded. Government 
retained the option to adjust the baseline in future years based on 
housing statistics as reported through council tax base figures. 
This stability will provide some security for district authorities who 
have based their growth strategy on the New Homes Bonus.

Carillion liquidation
Major public sector building and support services contractor 
Carillion plc went into compulsory liquidation on 15 January 2018. 
Carillion’s sudden collapse is being felt across the country as a 
range of public services, from road building to school meals, have 
been unexpectedly terminated in a number of local authorities. 

The full extent of the affected services is yet to be determined 
as local authorities discuss existing contracts with the Official 
Receiver. Local authorities are implementing contingency plans 
where possible, including either finding alternative contractors 
or taking services back in house. For example the response from 
Oxfordshire County Council in relation to the provision of school 
meals at 90 schools supplied by Carillion was to guarantee 
Carillion staff who worked in schools that the county council would 
ensure that they were paid.

Although the Government has pledged that public services ‘will 
be protected’ after Carillion’s collapse, it is unclear how or when 
funding from central Government will be made available to the 
affected local authorities.

Public sector pay
Since 2013, the Government has implement a policy of a 1% 
annual pay increase cap for public sector workers; which was 
estimated to have saved approximately £5bn by 2019–20. In 
the Autumn Budget 2017 the Government confirmed the end of 
the 1% pay increase policy. Therefore from 2018–19, pay review 
bodies will be able award pay increases of greater than 1% as they 
determine to be appropriate. After the long freeze in real terms of 
public sector pay future increases above 1% have been welcomed; 
and it is thought that this has been needed to retain talent with in 
the public domain. However, this will be an additional cost pressure 
for local authorities that will require financing.

The national employers, who negotiate pay on behalf of 350 local 
authorities, suggested that most employees with salaries over 
£19,430 should receive a 2% increase for 2018–19 and a further 
2% for 2019–20. Lower salaried workers will received higher 
increases based on hourly pay; from £7.78 to £9.00 in April 2019 
and increase equivalent to 15.65%. National employers have said 
this would add another 5.6% to the national pay bill over the two 
years to 2020.

Page 23



4 Local Government Audit Committee Briefing

Accounting, 
auditing and 
governance

IFRS 15 — revenue from contracts 
with customers
The new revenue standard, IFRS 15, creates a single source of 
revenue requirements for all entities in all industries and is a 
significant departure from legacy IFRS. The new standard applies 
to revenue from contracts with customers and replaces all of the 
legacy revenue standards and interpretations in IFRS, including 
IAS 11 Construction Contracts and IAS 18 Revenue. 

IFRS 15 is principles-based but provides more application guidance 
and increased judgement. IFRS 15 also specifies the accounting 
treatment for certain items not typically thought of as revenue, 
such as certain costs associated with obtaining and fulfilling a 
contract and the sale of certain non-financial assets. The new 
standard will have little effect on some entities, but will require 
significant changes for others.

The standard describes the principles an entity must apply 
to measure and recognise revenue. The core principle is that 
an entity will recognise revenue at an amount that reflects 
the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in 
exchange for transferring goods or services.

The principles in IFRS 15 are applied using the following five steps:

1. Identify the contract(s) with a customer

2. Identify the performance obligations in the contract

3. Determine the transaction price

4. Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations 
in the contract

5. Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity 
satisfies a performance

Entities will need to exercise judgement when considering the 
terms of the contract(s) and all of the facts and circumstances, 
including implied contract terms. Entities will also have to apply 
the requirements of the standard consistently to contracts with 
similar characteristics and in similar circumstances.

The 2018/19 Code of practice on Local Authority Accounting 
in the United Kingdom (the Code) will determine how IFRS 15 
revenue from customers with contracts will be adopted by local 
government bodies. The 2018/19 Code will apply to accounting 
periods starting on or after 1 April 2018 but has not yet been 
published. The CIPFA/LASAAC Local Authority Accounting Code 

Page 24



5 Local Government Audit Committee Briefing

Board met on 6 June 2017 and discussed the implication of 
IFRS 15 on Local Government entities. The minutes of this meeting 
corroborate our view that for most entities income streams from 
contracts with customers are likely to be immaterial. The vast 
majority of income streams are taxation or grant based which do 
not fall within the scope of IFRS 15 as they are not contractually 
based revenue from customers. 

However, this may not always be the case for some smaller English 
authorities or authorities where there is a high public interest in 
commercial activities. The following income streams are within the 
scope of IFRS 15 and will need special consideration if they are 
material to the users of the financial statements: 

 ► Fees and charges for services under statutory requirements 

 ► Sale of goods provided by the authority 

 ► Charges for services provided by a local authority 

EY — CIPFA Accounts Closedown Workshop 
2017–18
EY and CIPFA Financial Advisory Network (FAN) are continuing to 
work in partnership to deliver a programme of accounts closedown 
workshops to support local government finance professionals 
across the country with separate events for police bodies and 
English, Welsh and Scottish local authorities. The workshop 
programme covers the key changes impacting on the production 
of the 2017/18 financial statements and the outcomes of the 
‘telling the story’ changes to the Code of Practice on Local 
Authority Accounting in 2016/17. Looking forward there are 
significant changes to IFRS that will come through in the 2018/19 
Code and later, so the workshops are also focused on the key risks 
in relation to the new Financial Instruments standard IFRS 9 and 
other future expected changes in the Code with potential to impact 
on the General Fund and the HRA. These workshops also aim to 
prepare local authority finance staff for a ‘faster, smarter and 
more accurate’ accounts closedown for 2017–18. 

By the end of this May, your local authority will need to publish 
its unaudited statement of accounts and publish audited 
accounts by the end of July. These changes provide risks for 

both the preparers and the auditors of the financial statements. 
Local Authorities will now have less time to prepare the financial 
statements and supporting working papers. As your auditor, 
we have a more significant peak in our audit work and a shorter 
period to complete the audit. Risks for auditors relate to delivery 
of all audits within same compressed timetable. Failure to meet 
a deadline at one client could potentially put delivery of others 
at risk.

To mitigate this risk we will require:

 ► Good quality draft financial statements and supporting working 
papers by the agreed deadline

 ► Appropriate staff to be available throughout the agreed 
audit period

 ► Complete and prompt responses to audit questions

If your authority is unable to meet key dates within our agreed 
timetable, we will notify you of the impact on the timing of your 
audit, which may be that we postpone your audit until later 
in the summer and redeploy the team to other work to meet 
deadlines elsewhere.

Of the 150 authorities we audit, we currently consider that around 
a quarter have left themselves a significant amount of work to do 
to get there and are running a real risk of missing the deadline 
because they will not have quality draft accounts and supporting 
evidence ready for their auditors by the end of May. 

In addition to our workshops with CIPFA, we have held events 
in each of our local offices and gathered insights from over 100 
practitioners and their local audit teams on the importance of what 
finance teams and auditors each need to do, and collaboratively, 
to achieve a successful faster closure. We have put together a 
comprehensive list of actions to streamline processes, work more 
collaboratively with their auditors and draw on EY’s analytics and 
innovative audit approach to achieve faster close. We include a 
summary below.

Page 25



Summary of faster close activities
Finance teams are:

 ► Critically appraising the content of their accounts, removing 
unnecessary disclosures

 ► Closing the ledger earlier and encouraging greater discipline 
across the authority to comply with deadlines for accruals

 ► Preparing discrete sections of the accounts (e.g., narrative 
report and remuneration notes) and associated working papers 
earlier to facilitate early audit work

 ► Focusing on judgements and significant estimates earlier 
including engagement with auditors

 ► Reviewing the de-minimis level for accruals, including 
discussion with auditors

 ► Conducting a hard close for monthly reconciliations e.g., bank 
reconciliations, feeder systems, etc., with a zero-tolerance to 
reconciling items over a month old

 ► Undertaking weekly cut-off testing in April to ensure that the 
accounts are complete, retaining the evidence in case that item 
is selected for audit testing

Auditors are:

 ► Meeting regularly with finance staff, sharing details of the 
audit approach, agreeing a planned timetable of tasks, 
communicating changes and providing clarity on what is 
expected and when

 ► Bringing forward testing to reduce the amount needed to do 
in the summer. In particular, valuation of land and building and 
other high risk areas

 ► Increasing the use of analytics to interrogate ledger and payroll 
transaction data

 ► Using the online EY client portal to streamline communications 
with finance teams

 ► Attending workshops with finance teams on accounting issues 
and effective working papers

 ► Selecting items for sample testing earlier

Together finance teams and auditors are:

 ► Holding regular meetings throughout the year to share 
progress and discuss issues

 ► Planning respective activities to ensure sufficient capacity on 
both sides

 ► Revisiting audit issues from the prior year, agreeing how 
similar issues can be avoided

 ► Ensuring the client assistance schedule is 
appropriately tailored

We have produced a faster close briefing checklist that you can use 
to ensure that you are doing all you can, alongside working with 
us, to achieve the accelerated timetable. For more information 
please contact your local engagement lead.

6 Local Government Audit Committee Briefing
Page 26



Regulation 
news

EU General Data Protection Regulation: 
are you ready? 
On 17 December 2015, after more than three years of 
negotiations and several draft versions of the General Data 
Protection Regulation (GDPR), an informal agreement was reached 
between the European Parliament and Council of the European 
Union. The GDPR is a significant change for organisations. It 
introduces more stringent and prescriptive data protection 
compliance challenges, backed by fines of up to 4% of global 
annual revenue. The regulation replaces Directive 95/46/EC, 
which has been the basis of European data protection law since it 
was introduced in 1995. 

The Regulation has a significant impact on organisations in all 
sectors, bringing with it both positive and negative changes in 
terms of cost and effort. 

Key changes proposed by the EU GDPR include:

 ► Regulators can impose fines of up to 4% of total annual 
worldwide turnover or €20,000,000

 ► Data Protection Officers (DPOs) — DPOs must be appointed if 
an organisation conducts large scale systematic monitoring or 
processes large amounts of sensitive personal data 

 ► Accountability — organisations must prove they are 
accountable by establishing a culture of monitoring data 
processing procedures, minimising data retention and building 
safeguards, and documenting data processing procedures

 ► Organisations must undertake Privacy Impact Assessments 
when conducting risky or large scale processing of personal data

 ► Consent to process data must be freely given, explicit and 
individuals must be informed of their right to withdraw 
their consent

 ► Organisations must notify supervisory authorities of data 
breaches ‘without undue delay’ or within 72 hours, unless the 
breach is unlikely to be a risk to individuals

 ► Introduction of new rights — right to be forgotten, right to data 
portability and right to object to profiling

 ► Organisations should design data protection into the 
development of business processes and new systems and 
privacy setting should be set a high level by default

 ► Data processors become an officially regulated entity

Whilst organisations may welcome the harmonisation of laws 
across the 28 EU member states which will make the complex data 
protection landscape easier to navigate, the introductions of new 
rights for individuals are likely to increase the regulatory burden 
for organisations.

Organisations need to review their current data protection 
compliance programmes to determine next steps and decide on 
the level of investment they need to make before 2018 to address 
the changes.

Organisations need to act now to ensure that they are ready 
to comply with the new Regulation when it comes into force on 
25 May 2018.

7 Local Government Audit Committee Briefing
Page 27



Find out more
EY ITEM Club Forecast

http://www.ey.com/uk/en/issues/business-environment/financial-
markets-and-economy/item---forecast-headlines-and-projections 

2018–19 Local Government Finance Settlement

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/provisional-local-
government-finance-settlement-england-2018-to-2019 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/
attachment_data/file/669538/LGFS_consultation_2018-19.pdf

https://www.local.gov.uk/parliament/briefings-and-responses/
provisional-local-government-finance-settlement-201819-day 

http://www.cipfa.org/about-cipfa/press-office/archived-press-
releases/2017-press-releases/cipfa-responds-to-the-provisional-
local-government-finance-settlement?crdm=0 

Carillion collapse

http://www.publicfinance.co.uk/news/2018/01/public-sector-
looks-ways-plug-gap-left-carillion

http://www.publicfinance.co.uk/news/2018/01/public-services-
will-be-protected-after-carillion-collapse

Public sector pay

http://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/CBP-
8037/CBP-8037.pdf

http://www.publicfinance.co.uk/news/2017/12/local-employers-
issue-2-pay-offer-each-next-two-years

IFRS 15 — revenue from contracts with customers

http://www.ey.com/Publication/vwLUAssets/ey-applying-revenue-
october-2017/$FILE/ey-applying-revenue-october-2017.pdf

EY — CIPFA Accounts Closedown Workshop 2017–18

For Faster Close Activities Checklist: please contact your local 
engagement lead

For a full list of locations and dates available search for 
‘Accounts Closedown Workshop’ at http://www.cipfa.org/training

Key questions for the Audit Committee
Has your local Authority considered the changes to council 
tax flexibilities into the 2018–19 budget And the impact of 
changes to business rate retention into your Medium Term 
Financial Strategy? 

Has your local authority been affected by the collapse of 
Carillion plc? How have contingency plans been implemented 
to maintain public services? What (if any) is the local 
authority’s financial exposure to this event?

Has your local authority included in its budget any likely 
increases of employee wages above 1%?

Has your Authority considered how IFRS 15 might impact your 
revenue streams?

How has the local authority prepared for the accelerated 
accounts closedown timetable for 2017–18?

Has the Authority considered the implications of the new 
GDPR, and is the Authority confident that it comply with its 
requirements when it comes into force?

8 Local Government Audit Committee Briefing
Page 28

http://www.ey.com/uk/en/issues/business-environment/financial-markets-and-economy/item---forecast-headlines-and-projections
http://www.ey.com/uk/en/issues/business-environment/financial-markets-and-economy/item---forecast-headlines-and-projections
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/provisional-local-government-finance-settlement-england-2018-to-2019
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/provisional-local-government-finance-settlement-england-2018-to-2019
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/669538/LGFS_consultation_2018-19.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/669538/LGFS_consultation_2018-19.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/parliament/briefings-and-responses/provisional-local-government-finance-settlement-201819-day
https://www.local.gov.uk/parliament/briefings-and-responses/provisional-local-government-finance-settlement-201819-day
http://www.cipfa.org/about-cipfa/press-office/archived-press-releases/2017-press-releases/cipfa-responds-to-the-provisional-local-government-finance-settlement?crdm=0
http://www.cipfa.org/about-cipfa/press-office/archived-press-releases/2017-press-releases/cipfa-responds-to-the-provisional-local-government-finance-settlement?crdm=0
http://www.cipfa.org/about-cipfa/press-office/archived-press-releases/2017-press-releases/cipfa-responds-to-the-provisional-local-government-finance-settlement?crdm=0
http://www.publicfinance.co.uk/news/2018/01/public-sector-looks-ways-plug-gap-left-carillion
http://www.publicfinance.co.uk/news/2018/01/public-sector-looks-ways-plug-gap-left-carillion
http://www.publicfinance.co.uk/news/2018/01/public-services-will-be-protected-after-carillion-collapse
http://www.publicfinance.co.uk/news/2018/01/public-services-will-be-protected-after-carillion-collapse
http://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/CBP-8037/CBP-8037.pdf
http://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/CBP-8037/CBP-8037.pdf
http://www.publicfinance.co.uk/news/2017/12/local-employers-issue-2-pay-offer-each-next-two-years
http://www.publicfinance.co.uk/news/2017/12/local-employers-issue-2-pay-offer-each-next-two-years
http://www.ey.com/Publication/vwLUAssets/ey-applying-revenue-october-2017/$FILE/ey-applying-revenue-october-2017.pdf
http://www.ey.com/Publication/vwLUAssets/ey-applying-revenue-october-2017/$FILE/ey-applying-revenue-october-2017.pdf
http://www.cipfa.org/training


9 Local Government Audit Committee Briefing
Page 29



EY  |  Assurance | Tax | Transactions | Advisory

About EY
EY is a global leader in assurance, tax, transaction and advisory services. 
The insights and quality services we deliver help build trust and confidence 
in the capital markets and in economies the world over. We develop 
outstanding leaders who team to deliver on our promises to all of our 
stakeholders. In so doing, we play a critical role in building a better 
working world for our people, for our clients and for our communities.

EY refers to the global organization, and may refer to one or more, of 
the member firms of Ernst & Young Global Limited, each of which is a 
separate legal entity. Ernst & Young Global Limited, a UK company limited 
by guarantee, does not provide services to clients. For more information 
about our organization, please visit ey.com. 

Ernst & Young LLP
The UK firm Ernst & Young LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales 
with registered number OC300001 and is a member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited.

Ernst & Young LLP, More London Place, London, SE1 2AF.

© 2018 Ernst & Young LLP. Published in the UK.  
All Rights Reserved.

ED None

EY-000055804.indd (UK) 02/18. Artwork by Creative Services Group London.

In line with EY’s commitment to minimise its impact on the environment, this document 
has been printed on paper with a high recycled content.

Information in this publication is intended to provide only a general outline of the subjects covered. 
It should neither be regarded as comprehensive nor sufficient for making decisions, nor should it 
be used in place of professional advice. Ernst & Young LLP accepts no responsibility for any loss 
arising from any action taken or not taken by anyone using this material.

ey.com/uk

Page 30



LICENSING & GENERAL PURPOSES 
COMMITTEE

9 APRIL 2018

HEAD OF FINANCIAL SERVICES
REPORT NO. FIN1813

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET ADOPTED
  2017/18

SUMMARY AND RECOMMENDATIONS:

SUMMARY: 
This report provides an update on the introduction of International Financial 
Reporting Standard (IFRS) 9, the new accounting standard relating to financial 
instruments, including investments that will apply to local authorities for the 
2018/19 financial year and onwards. 

The application of IFRS9 to local authority accounting has the potential to cause 
major fluctuations in the Council’s net budget requirement. While there is 
potential for Government to introduce a statutory override, which will negate this 
effect, consultation on such proposals has yet to be issued. The election 
proposed in this report, will reduce the overall effect of IFRS9, thereby reducing 
the scale of fluctuation in the Council’s general fund. This protects the Council’s 
position in the event that a statutory override is not granted.
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
That the Licensing and General Purposes Committee approve the irrevocable 
election to treat its strategic pooled funds as “equity instruments” at fair value 
through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) on 1 April 2018.

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 CIPFA/LASAAC1 approved the adoption of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments into 
the Local Authority Accounting Code2 on 8 November 2017 and therefore this 
will apply to local government accounts from 2018/19. The Board considered 
the relevance of IFRS 9 to local authority investments and concluded that full 
adoption of the Standard was appropriate.

1.2 CIPFA/LASAAC3 approved the adoption of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments into 

1 CIPFA – Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy/LASAAC – Local Authority Scotland 
Accounts Advisory Committee
2 The Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom issued by 
CIPFA/LASAAC Local Authority Accounting Code Board on an annual basis
3 CIPFA – Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy/LASAAC – Local Authority Scotland 
Accounts Advisory Committee

Page 31

AGENDA ITEM No. 4



the Local Authority Accounting Code4 on 8 November 2017 and therefore this 
will apply to local government accounts from 2018/19. The Board considered 
the relevance of IFRS 9 to local authority investments and concluded that full 
adoption of the Standard was appropriate. 

1.3 All investment activity involves risk and local authorities are required to 
manage this risk under CIPFA's Treasury Management Code and the 
statutory Investment Guidance5. The Board recognised that local authorities 
have invested in financial transactions and instruments that contain additional 
risk to the capital invested. The Board concluded that implementation of IFRS 
9 will help to drive improved transparency and decision-making in treasury 
management and in the determination of longer-term investment strategies.

1.4 One of the key impacts of IFRS9 will be that while many local authority loans 
and investments will continue to be held at amortised cost, gains and losses 
arising from changes in the fair value of some categories of investment will 
have to be recognised in the Council’s revenue account. This means that from 
2018/19 changes in value of certain investments will have a consequent 
impact on the general fund. Previously such changes were only recognised in 
the revenue fund when the asset was sold.

1.5 For example, the Council holds an investment in a property fund, whose 
capital value has risen over time. Currently this increase in value is held in a 
reserve and will only be taken to the General Fund when the asset is sold and 
a gain on the investment is realised. Equally, if the value of the investment 
were to fall, this would be set against the gains already held in the reserve. 
The reserve therefore absorbs the fluctuations in value without having an 
effect on the revenue balances of the Council. Under IFRS9 however, the 
Council would have to show these gains (or losses) in the revenue account 
annually as they arise. This could cause major fluctuations in the revenue 
account, based on unrealised gains and losses, and would directly effect he 
Council’s budget requirement and its funding gap. The Council would need to 
consider setting aside gains to cover potential future losses therefore 
influencing the level of reserves the Council sets aside to manage risk.

2 PROPOSAL

2.1 Arlingclose, the Council’s Treasury Management advisors, have advised the 
following action to ensure that movements in the fair value of the Council’s 
strategic pooled fund investments are not taken to the revenue account after 
the application of IFRS9.

2.2 When first adopting IFRS 9, organisations may irrevocably elect to account for 
individual investments in “equity instruments” at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (FVOCI), which is very similar to the current available 

4 The Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom issued by 
CIPFA/LASAAC Local Authority Accounting Code Board on an annual basis
5 Guidance on local government investments issued by the Department of Communities and Local 
government and the Welsh Government

Page 32



for sale accounting. Investments purchased after the transition to IFRS 9 may 
also be elected to FVOCI upon acquisition. The definition of an equity 
instrument is very wide and includes ordinary company shares, some types of 
preference shares, warrants and units in pooled funds that meet certain 
conditions. All the long-dated funds held by the Council meet these 
conditions. 

Accounting entries following election
2.3 Where investments have been elected to FVOCI, changes in fair value will be 

taken to a new Financial Instruments Revaluation Reserve (FIRR). For 
example, a fall in value would be accounted for as: 

Debit Financial Instruments Revaluation Reserve 
Credit Long-term investments 

The movement in the FIRR will be reported with the Other Comprehensive 
Income section of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
(CI&ES). 
When the investment is sold, the accumulated gain or loss will be taken direct 
to the General Fund and reported in the Movement in Reserves Statement 
(MiRS). Unlike current practice, it is not recycled to the CI&ES. 

Debit  General Fund 
Credit  Financial Instruments Revaluation Reserve 

Dividends will continue to be recognised as investment income when the 
authority has the right to receive them, unless they are clearly a repayment of 
the original investment. 

Debit Short-term debtors 
Credit Investment income receivable 

2.4 There is no requirement in IFRS 9 to assess equity instruments for 
impairment, irrespective of the election. 

2.5 Where pooled funds are classed as capital expenditure, any fair value gains 
and losses charged to Finance I&E will be reversed out to the Capital 
Adjustment Account via the MiRS. It might therefore appear that the election 
to FVOCI is unnecessary. However, since regulations might change in future 
and the election can only be made on initial recognition or on transition to 
IFRS 9, the Council should include capital expenditure funds in the election. 

Statutory Override
2.6 CIPFA/LASAAC has called for a statutory override so that the introduction of 

IFRS 9 does not impact on local authorities’ revenue accounts. The potential 
impacts are wider than just strategic pooled funds, and include fair value 
changes on short-term pooled funds and structured loans and deposits as 
well the new impairment provisions for all contractual financial assets. 
Arlingclose supports calls for such an override for these impacts. The clarity 
provided for strategic pooled funds will also be welcome. 

Page 33



2.7 Gareth Caller of the MHCLG, speaking at CIPFA’s Treasury Management 
Network conference on the 14th March, said the department was planning to 
consult on statutory overrides to “elements” of IFRS 9, specifically with regard 
to pooled property investment funds. The consultation going ahead was 
dependent on the approval of other government departments, which is 
standard practice for all government consultations. Assuming this was 
secured, and there was a positive response from consultees, regulations to 
implement the override would be laid before the end of the next financial year.

2.8 Making the election referred to in paragraph 2.2 however, would provide the 
Council with some certainty over the treatment of the assets specified in the 
election and would mitigate the risk that a statutory override may not be 
implemented.

2.9 This election would be recorded in the disclosure note “Accounting Standards 
issued But Not Yet Adopted” in the Statement of Accounts for the financial 
year 2017/18, for each of the council’s holdings in strategic bond funds, 
property funds, equity funds and multi-asset/diversified funds on the 31st 
March 2018. Each fund will be specifically named in the disclosure.

2.10 A draft of this disclosure note is shown at Appendix 1. 

3 CONCLUSION

3.1 Changes to the accounting treatment for Financial Instruments, under IFRS9, 
could result in a negative impact on council taxpayers, as reserves would 
have to change to reflect any unrealised losses or gains.

3.2 While a statutory override for some elements of IFRS9 may be implemented 
in the future, the Council should protect its general fund from the potential for 
significant fluctuations by making an irrevocable election from 1st April 2018 to 
account for its strategic pooled funds as equity instruments at fair value 
through other comprehensive income. 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION
http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/consultations-archive/201718-code-
of-practice-on-local-authority-accounting-in-the-united-kingdom-invitation-to-
comment

http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/c/code-of-practice-on-
local-authority-accounting-in-the-united-kingdom-201718-book

CONTACT
Amanda Fahey
Head of Financial Services
Amanda.Fahey@Rushmoor.gov.uk
01252 398440 

Page 34

http://www.publicfinance.co.uk/feature/2018/03/running-road-councils-using-rainy-day-reserves1
http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/consultations-archive/201718-code-of-practice-on-local-authority-accounting-in-the-united-kingdom-invitation-to-comment
http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/consultations-archive/201718-code-of-practice-on-local-authority-accounting-in-the-united-kingdom-invitation-to-comment
http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/consultations-archive/201718-code-of-practice-on-local-authority-accounting-in-the-united-kingdom-invitation-to-comment
http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/c/code-of-practice-on-local-authority-accounting-in-the-united-kingdom-201718-book
http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/c/code-of-practice-on-local-authority-accounting-in-the-united-kingdom-201718-book
mailto:Amanda.Fahey@rushmoor.gov.uk


APPENDIX 1

DRAFT DISCLOSURE NOTE TO BE INCLUDED IN THE 2017/18 STATEMENT OF 
ACCOUNTS

Accounting Standards Issued but not yet Adopted

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
The Council will adopt IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with effect from 1st April 2018. 
The main changes include the reclassification of financial assets and the earlier 
recognition of the impairment of financial assets.

The Council does not expect the reclassification changes to have a material impact 
upon the financial statements because the majority of its financial assets will retain 
the same measurement basis. To this end, on 1st April 2018 the Council irrevocably 
elected to present changes in the fair value of the following equity investments in 
other comprehensive income as permitted by the IFRS:

 M &G Strategic Corporate Bond Fund
 Payden Absolute Bond Fund
 CCLA LAMIT Property Fund
 UBS Multi Asset Income Fund
 Threadneedle UK Equity income Fund

The Council does not expect the impairment changes to have a material impact 
upon the financial statements because the impairment charge will be immaterial for 
its treasury management assets (e.g. bank deposits and bonds) and it already 
makes a provision for doubtful debts on its service assets (e.g. trade receivables). 

The estimated additional provision to be made as at 1st April 2018 is £XXX.

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

LICENSING AND GENERAL 
PURPOSES COMMITTEE 
9TH APRIL 2018 
 

HEAD OF DEMOCRATIC AND 
CUSTOMER SERVICES 
REPORT NO. DEM1803 

 
 

REVIEW OF GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE 
 

 
SUMMARY: 
 
Rushmoor’s current decision making structure has been in place for over fifteen 
years with little change. Whilst processes have been altered and adjustments 
made to the portfolios, there has been no fundamental review of the structure. 
Over the last year, with the support of Cabinet Members, options for change have 
been looked at. The structure was also highlighted in the recent Peer Review 
report, which urged the Council to review and modernise aspects of its 
governance arrangements. That report drew attention to the need to undertake a 
root and branch review of the scrutiny arrangements in general and 
rationalisation of the panel structure whilst ensuring that there were appropriate 
development opportunities for Members involved in the scrutiny process. 
 
As a result of the discussions, this report proposes changes to the structure. This 
will mean that the existing panels will be replaced by one Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee and a Policy and Project Advisory Board. There are also a number of 
changes to be made to the Cabinet working arrangements, although the review of 
portfolio responsibilities is still to be completed. This will be determined by the 
Leader, who has authority to do this within the Constitution. Finally, this report 
proposes a number of consequential changes to documents within the 
Constitution. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 
The Committee is requested to recommend to the Council that: 
 

(i) The proposed changes to the decision making structure set out in this 
report be endorsed; 

(ii) The changes to the Constitution set out in Appendix 2 (incorporating 
Annexes 1 – 6) be approved; 

(iii) The Head of Democratic and Customer Services, in consultation with 
the Cabinet Member for Corporate Services and the Chairman of the 
Committee, be authorised to make any further consequential changes 
to the Constitution resulting from these proposals, the Leader’s 
decision on portfolio responsibilities and the outcome of the internal 
review of the structure of the organisation; and 

(iv) The Head of Democratic and Customer Services, in consultation with 
the Chairman of the Committee, be authorised to make any minor 
changes to the report to the Council on 19th April, 2018 following this 
meeting. 

 
 
 

Page 37

AGENDA ITEM No. 5



2 
 

 
Note: In accordance with Standing Order 29, the proposed amendments to the 
‘Standing Orders for the Regulation of Business’ (Annex 4, Appendix 2) will stand 
adjourned without discussion to the Annual Council Meeting. The Council will 
also be asked at the Annual Meeting to waive the Council Procedure Rules in 
order for the changes to take immediate effect. 
 

 
 
1. INTRODUCTION 

 
1.1 Rushmoor’s decision making structure was set up in 2000 to reflect 

changes in legislation which established executive forms of governance 
arrangements. At the time, Rushmoor established the basis of its existing 
structure based around a Cabinet, five Policy and Review Panels and 
three Committees. Over the years, some adjustments have been made to 
the system, especially around the Committees and the portfolio 
responsibilities, although the basis has remained the same. Whilst that 
system has worked well, it has been clear for some time that changes 
needed to be made to streamline and modernise the arrangements. 
 

1.2 Over the last couple of years advances have been made to the way the 
organisation works as a result of changes within the Cabinet and the 
appointment of the Chief Executive. In addition, Rushmoor has been 
seeking to modernise other aspects of its operations and it has become 
clear that a review of the governance structure, both at a Member level 
and within the organisation, is needed.  

 
2. BACKGROUND TO THE REVIEW 

 
2.1 The vast majority of local authorities in the UK have some form of 

executive governance arrangements, most of which have a Cabinet. In this 
respect Rushmoor is similar, although the arrangements for carrying out 
overview and scrutiny are unusual amongst authorities in that Rushmoor 
has five Policy and Review Panels to carry out scrutiny and policy 
development.  Most other authorities, particularly of Rushmoor’s size, have 
only one or two scrutiny committees. Rushmoor has looked at this 
structure in the past but has retained the panel structure. 
 

2.2 The current Cabinet was appointed in May, 2016 and has a strong focus 
on the Council moving forward and delivering a wide range of priorities 
through its Council Plan.  The Cabinet has also been keen to involve other 
Members in delivering the Council Plan and ensuring that there are 
development opportunities, which it has felt could be better achieved 
through a different approach.  
 

2.3 In December, 2017 the Council was subject to a Peer Challenge Review 
and the report drew out the need to progress the review of governance 
with some urgency. In particular, it saw the need for a change in approach 
to scrutiny in Rushmoor where it considered that five Policy and Review 
Panels were excessive with the focus being on service and project 

Page 38



3 
 

updates rather that scrutiny. It also envisaged an approach where the 
Council had one Overview and Scrutiny Committee (to undertake 
performance review and pre decision scrutiny) and a Policy and Project 
Advisory Board (to help develop policy). 
 

2.4 In undertaking this review, the following objectives have been used to 
develop the new structure and working arrangements: 
 

 re-working the portfolios to secure a more even spread of 
responsibilities 
 

 providing a focus for the delivery of the Council Plan and Member 
priorities 
 

 streamlining and re-working the policy and review panel structure to 
provide clarity for scrutiny and policy development 

 

 establishing opportunities for Members to develop their roles. 
 

3. CABINET WORKING ARRANGEMENTS 
 
3.1 Taking these objectives into account, changes are being developed to the 

Cabinet working arrangements. As part of the work and restructuring of the 
internal organisation, the portfolios are being reviewed, potentially to 
reflect the new internal service structure. As this is yet to be finalised, the 
portfolios will be agreed by the Leader once the necessary decisions have 
been made. It is also intended to ensure that the portfolios are balanced 
as much as possible and that there is a focus on the Council’s biggest 
priorities. Under this arrangement it is likely that the Deputy Leader will not 
have a portfolio but will focus on corporate planning and performance 
together with the delivery of the Rushmoor 2020 improvement plan. 

 
3.2 Under this structure some of the existing standing groups would remain 

and would report into the Cabinet. The Cabinet could review them on an 
annual basis and could establish others if it wished. The main current 
groups are: 
 

 Budget Strategy Working Group 

 Member Development Group 

 Community Cohesion Group 

 Elections Group (formally set up by the Borough Services 
Panel/Licensing and General Purposes Committee) 
 

3.3 The Cabinet is also keen to establish some roles that would provide 
development opportunities for elected Members not on the Cabinet. 
Therefore, it is proposed that Cabinet Champions could be used to work 
on a particular area or project that does not fall naturally within an existing 
portfolio. These are likely to reflect certain priorities within the annual 
Council Plan. There would be a maximum of three per year to be reviewed 

Page 39



4 
 

annually by the Cabinet and for 2018/19 these might include delivering the 
Military Covenant (Councillor John Woolley already undertakes this role). 
 

3.4 Whilst the overall workload of the Cabinet has not changed in total, the 
new arrangements are likely to require a review of the special 
responsibility allowances.  Member Champions might be eligible for a 
specific allowance for their roles.  

 
4. OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

 
4.1 The current system of scrutiny does not work effectively with the Policy 

and Review Panels mainly receiving service/project updates and 
undertaking some policy work (although it is recognised that some aspects 
of external scrutiny work well).  The Peer Review gave a clear 
recommendation that the arrangements needed to change and 
benchmarking shows that many other authorities carry out their scrutiny 
function through one committee. It is proposed that Rushmoor moves to a 
system of one overview and scrutiny committee which will co-ordinate the 
Council’s work on scrutiny.  The arrangements would be as follows: 
 

 One committee established to drive the scrutiny process, 
concentrating on the performance of the Council plus other services 
in the Borough together with pre-decision scrutiny of items on the 
Cabinet Work Programme. 
 

 The committee would consist of eleven Members with a Chairman 
and two Vice-Chairmen who would provide active support to the 
Chairman by chairing task and finish groups and co-ordinating the 
work. 

 

 Task and finish groups would be established to carry out specific 
areas of scrutiny identified by the committee and would consist of 
Members drawn from the whole Council and not necessarily just 
from the Committee. 

 

 The Chairman and Vice-Chairmen would be required to undergo 
training for chairing meetings and managing the scrutiny process. 

 
4.2 The Chairman of the Committee would receive a Special Responsibility 
 Allowance and a decision will need to be made as to whether the Vice-
 Chairmen should receive an allowance for carrying out their work. 

 
5. POLICY AND PROJECT ADVISORY BOARD 

 
5.1 One of the key roles for the Council is to develop policy.  Under the 

existing arrangements, some work is carried out through the Cabinet and 
other work by the Policy and Review Panels and their sub-groups.  This 
proposal envisages the setting up of a Policy and Project Advisory Board 
which would look at a range of priorities, policy and project areas that will 
then report into the Cabinet or potentially the Council.  The arrangements 
for this Board will be: 

Page 40



5 
 

 

 A stand-alone group cutting across the Council’s activities, 
consisting of non-executive Members but with direct input from and 
to the Cabinet. 
 

 The Board would consist of eleven Members with a Chairman and 
two Vice-Chairmen. The Vice-Chairmen would lead specific projects 
and chair task and finish groups, working in a similar way to the 
Vice-Chairmen on the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

 

 Task and finish groups would be established to carry out specific 
areas of work that would include Members from across the Council, 
including Cabinet Members.  They would include some of the work 
of existing groups. Examples are: 

 
- Aldershot Regeneration 
- Farnborough Regeneration 
- Leisure Contracts 

 

 The Chairman and Vice-Chairmen would be required to undergo 
training for chairing meetings. 

 
5.2 The Chairman of the Committee would receive a Special Responsibility 

Allowance and consideration would be given to whether the Vice-
Chairmen should receive an allowance for carrying out their work. 
 

6. CONSEQUENTIAL ISSUES 
 

6.1 The new structure is set out in Appendix 1.  At this stage the arrangements 
for the Development Management and the Licensing and General 
Purposes Committees will stay the same although the terms of reference 
of the Licensing and General Purposes Committee are being reviewed in 
the light of recommendations from the Auditors. Any changes will be 
subject to a report to the Committee. 
 

6.2 As a result of the proposed new structure, a significant number of changes 
will need to be made to the Constitution. The main changes are set out in 
the summary list attached (Appendix 2) and accompanying papers 
(Annexes 1 – 6). In addition, the opportunity has been taken to include a 
number of updates to the provisions. In accordance with Standing Order 
29, the proposed changes to the Council’s Standing Orders for the 
Regulation of Business (Annex 4 to Appendix 2) will stand adjourned at 
the Council meeting on 19th April, 2018 until the Annual Meeting on 22nd 
May, 2018 when it will also be necessary to waive the Council Procedure 
Rules for the changes to be made at the Annual Meeting. 
 

6.3 At the Cabinet meeting on 17th April, 2018, the Chief Executive is 
scheduled to submit a report setting out proposals for a new internal 
structure for the organisation. The proposals will have an impact on the 
portfolios and some other aspects of the Constitution, including the 
Scheme of Delegation and the Cabinet Procedure Rules. The Leader will 

Page 41



6 
 

determine the new portfolio arrangements and a report will also be 
submitted to the Cabinet early in the 2018/19 Municipal Year. It is 
proposed that the consequential changes to the Constitution are then 
agreed by the Head of Democratic and Customer Services in consultation 
with the Portfolio Holder for Corporate Services and the Chairman of the 
Licensing and General Purposes Committee.  

 
6.4 Given the significance of the proposals, there are implications for the 

Council’s Members’ Allowances Scheme. Therefore, arrangements have 
been made to constitute the Independent Remuneration Panel to review 
the Members’ Allowances Scheme. The scheduled dates for the Panel to 
meet are 23rd/24th April, 2018. The Panel will be looking at the scheme in 
the light of the new structure and will also be reviewing some of the 
existing provisions, such as around the IT/Telecommunications allowance 
and the impact of the new General Data Protection Regulations regime. 
The report from the Panel is expected in May, 2018. 
 

6.5 As a result of the new structure some changes have also been made to 
the Calendar of Meetings and this is also attached for information 
(Appendix 3). 
 

6.6 After the elections, there will be an induction programme for the new 
Members and at one of the sessions it is proposed to provide further 
information about how the new structure will work in practice and the 
outcomes of the review by the Independent Remuneration Panel. All 
Members will be invited to this session. 

 
7. CONCLUSIONS 
 
7.1  Whilst the existing governance structure has served the Council well in the 

past, a new structure will provide a more modern approach that reflects 
the Council’s priorities and operating arrangements. A new structure will 
also provide Members with opportunities to develop new roles and 
specialise in areas of interest. The new structure will take time to settle in 
and will be kept under review and the arrangements for doing this will be 
discussed with Members through the Member Development Group. 

 
 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: 
2017 Rushmoor Borough Council Peer Review 
 
CONTACT DETAILS: 
Report Authors and Contacts:  
  
Head of Service – Andrew Colver 
andrew.colver@rushmoor.gov.uk 
01252 398820 
 
Democratic Services Manager – Jill Shuttleworth 
jill.shuttleworth@rushmoor.gov.uk 
01252 398822 

Page 42

mailto:Amanda.Fahey@Rushmoor.gov.uk
jill.shuttleworth@rushmoor.gov.uk


APPENDIX 1 

April 2018 1 

 

 THE FULL COUNCIL 

CABINET 
(Dealing with executive functions) 
 
NEW PORTFOLIOS TO BE CONFIRMED  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

TASK AND FINISH GROUPS 
 

 

 
 
 

 

TASK AND FINISH GROUPS 

COMMITTEES 
(Dealing with specified non-executive 
functions) 
 

 

LICENSING AND 
GENERAL PURPOSES 

COMMITEE 

DEVELOPMENT 
MANAGEMENT 

COMMITTEE 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY  

COMMITTEE 

 
 

    

POLICY 

FRAMEWORK 

LEVEL 

DECISION 

MAKING 

LEVEL 

POLICY  
DEVELOPMENT  
AND REVIEW 
LEVEL 

LICENSING SUB-
COMMITTEE (ALCOHOL 

AND ENTERTAINMENTS) 

POLICY AND PROJECTS  
ADVISORY BOARD 

 

P
age 43



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 2 

SUMMARY OF PROPOSED NEW AMENDMENTS TO THE CONSTITUTION 

Part 1 – Summary and Explanation 

 
Paragraph Number 

 

 
Summary of Proposed New Change 

1.1 (3) Update index of Articles. Insert new Article 9 ‘Policy and 
Project Advisory Board’.  

1.4 (5) Insert new para. ‘A Policy and Project Advisory Board 
supports the Cabinet and the Council in the development of 
policies and projects that will help to deliver Council Plan 
Priorities’ 

1.4 (6), and 1.5 Delete references to Policy and Review Panels and replace 
with references to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

1.8 Paragraphs on Management Structure to be updated once 
arrangements are confirmed   

Decision Making Diagram  Attached as Appendix 1 to the main Report 

List of Definitions Delete references to Policy and Review Panels and replace 
with references to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 

Part 2 – Articles of the Constitution 

 
Article 

 

 
Summary of Proposed New Change 

1 – The Constitution No Changes 

2 – Councillors and Role 
Descriptions 

Delete references to Policy and Review Panels and replace 
with references to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
Add new role descriptions: 
 

 Chairman of Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 Vice-Chairmen of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee (2) 

 Chairman of Policy and Project Advisory Board 

 Vice-Chairmen of Policy and Project Advisory Board 
(2) 

   
Copy of role descriptions with track-changes attached 
(Annex 1) 

3 – Residents and the 
Council 

Delete references to Policy and Review Panels and replace 
with references to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

4 – The Full Council Minor update to reflect proposed new Policy and Project 
Advisory Board 

5 – Chairing the Council Minor update to reflect proposed new Policy and Project 
Advisory Board 

6 – The Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

Updates to terms of reference, and composition 
arrangements 
Copy attached with track-changes (Annex 2) 

7 – The Cabinet No change 

8 – Committees of the 
Council 

No change 

Page 45



9 – Policy and Project 
Advisory Board 

Proposed new Article 9 attached (Annex 3) 

10 – Area Committees No change 

11 – Joint Arrangements  No change 

12 - Officers Paragraphs related to Senior Management roles to be 
updated once arrangements are confirmed   

13 – Decision Making Delete references to Policy and Review Panels and replace 
with references to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

14 – Finance, Contacts and 
Legal Matters 

No change (subject to updates on senior management 
roles) 

15 – Review and Revision of 
the Constitution 

No change (subject to updates on senior management 
roles) 

16 – Suspension and 
Publication of the 
Constitution 

No change (subject to updates on senior management 
roles) 

Schedule 1 – Description of 
Executive Arrangements 

Update to include reference to new Policy and Project 
Advisory Board 

 

Part 3 – Responsibility for Functions 

 
Document Section 

 

 
Summary of Proposed New Change 

Responsibility for Functions 
– background and general 
provisions 

Paras 10 & 12 – delete references to Panels and replace 
with Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  

Section A A separate review of the Scheme of Delegation is 
currently planned and will reflect senior management 
restructuring    
Cabinet Portfolio titles and responsibilities to be updated – 
further to confirmation from the Leader  

Sections B & C  Subject to updates on senior management roles 

 

Part 4 – Council Procedure Rules 

 
Document  

 

 
Summary of Proposed New Change 

1. Standing Orders for the 
Regulation of Business 
incorporating scheme for 
annual reports of the policy 
and review panels 

Updates to Membership of the Decision Making Structure, 
inclusion of references to the Policy and Project Advisory 
Board, and updates to align speaking arrangements with the 
current scheme for relevant bodies 
Copy attached with track changes (Annex 4) 

2. Access to Information 
Procedure Rules   

Updates to reflect provisions in the Openness of Local 
Government Bodies Regulations 2014 
Copy attached with track changes (Annex 5) 

3. Public Speaking 
Procedure Rules 

Para 1.2 – delete references to Panels and insert reference 
to Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Policy and Project 
Advisory Board 
 
Add new Para 5.1 ‘A speaker will be allowed a maximum of 
10 minutes to address the meeting. However, if there are 
multiple speakers who wish to address the meeting on the 
same issue, arrangements will be made to facilitate a joint 
case’ 

Page 46



4. Cabinet Procedure Rules Paras 2.3. 2.4 and 2.5 – delete references to Panels and 
insert reference to Overview and Scrutiny Committee and 
Policy and Project Advisory Board 
 

5. Overview and Scrutiny 
Procedure Rules 

Copy of revised Procedure Rules attached showing 
track-changes (Annex 6) 

6. Licensing sub-committee 
hearings protocol and 
procedure rules 

No change 

7. Standards hearings 
procedure rules 

No change 

8. Budget and policy 
framework 

Para 1 - Insert reference to the role of the Policy and Project 
Advisory Board ‘the Policy and Project Advisory Board will 
assist and advise the Cabinet in the formulation, 
development and delivery of the Policy Framework (set out 
in Article) and of the policies and priorities that will help to 
deliver the Council Plan’  
 
Para 2  - add reference to Policy and Project Advisory Board 
as being part of consultation process in addition to the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  
 
All references to Panels are deleted and replaced with 
reference to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  
 

9. Financial Procedure Rules May be subject to updates on senior management roles 

10. Contract Standing Orders  

11. Officer Employment 
Procedure Rules 

 

12. Petitions Scheme All references to Panels are deleted and replaced with 
reference to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  
 

 

Part 5 – Codes and Protocols 

 
Document  

 

 
Summary of Proposed New Change 

 
 
 

 
No significant changes to codes and protocols arising from 
the changes to Overview and Scrutiny arrangements 
 

 

Part 6 – Members Allowances Scheme 

 
Document  

 

 
Summary of Proposed New Change 

  
Changes to the Members Allowances Scheme to be 
implemented further to recommendations by the 
Independent Remuneration Panel which will be meeting on 
23rd/24th April 2018 
 

 

Page 47



 

ANNEX 1 
 

Part 2 – Articles of the Constitution 

 

11 
April 2018 

 

ARTICLE 2 – COUNCILLORS AND ROLE DESCRIPTIONS 
 

 
 
2.1  COMPOSITION AND ELIGIBIILTY 
 

(1) Composition 
 
The Council comprises 39 Members, otherwise called councillors. Three 
councillors will be elected by the voters for each of the thirteen wards in 
accordance with a scheme approved by the Secretary of State.  
 
(2) Eligibility 
 
Only registered voters of the Borough or those living or working there (at the time 
when nominations are made for candidates for election) will be eligible to hold the 
office of councillor, in accordance with Section 79 of the Local Government Act 
1972. 

 
2.2 ELECTION AND TERMS OF OFFICE  
 

The ordinary election of councillors will be held on the first Thursday in May three 
years out of every four.   Each year of the three, one councillor will be elected in 
each ward.  Generally, the terms of office of councillors will start on the fourth day 
after being elected and will finish on the fourth day after the date of the ordinary 
election of councillors four years later.   

 
2.3 ROLES AND FUNCTIONS OF COUNCILLORS 
 

(1) Key Roles and Duties for All Councillors 
 
Councillors have a range of key roles and duties.  All elected councillors have a 
responsibility for the good governance of the local authority, to act as community 
leaders and to be a link and point of mediation between the local authority and the 
community.    

 
   The key roles of councillors will be to: 

 

 collectively be the ultimate policy-makers and carry out a number of 
strategic and corporate management functions; 

 

 contribute to the effective governance of the Borough and of their wards by 
promoting well being;   

 

 contribute to the effective management of the Council through scrutiny and 
monitoring of services to the local community; 

Page 48



 

ANNEX 1 
 

Part 2 – Articles of the Constitution 

 

12 
April 2018 

 

 act as community leaders 
 

 represent their communities and bring their views into the Council’s 
decision-making process, i.e. the advocate of and for their communities; 

 

 deal with individual casework and act as an advocate for constituents in 
resolving particular concerns or grievances; 

 

 respond to residents’ enquiries and representations fairly and impartially; 
 

 balance different interests identified within the ward and represent it as a 
whole; 

 

 be involved in decision-making; 
 

 be available to represent the Council on other bodies;  
 

 maintain the highest standards of conduct and ethics. 
 
 Rights and Duties: 
  

 Councillors will have such rights of access to such documents, information, 
land and buildings of the Council as are necessary for the proper discharge 
of their functions and in accordance with the law; 

 

 Councillors will not make public information which is confidential or exempt 
without the consent of the Council or divulge information given in 
confidence to anyone other than a councillor or officer entitled to know it.  
(“Confidential” and “exempt” information are defined in the Access to 
Information Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution). 

 
(2) Leader of the Council 

 
 The key roles of the Leader will be to: 
 

 provide overall political leadership for the Council in relation to the co-
ordination and delivery of Council policies, strategies and services, and to 
assume specific responsibilities for those major areas of policy as set out in 
Part 3. 

 

 lead the Cabinet in its work to develop the policy framework and budget and 
to deliver services to the local community; 

 

 lead the process of developing partnerships both inside and outside of the 
Borough, with stakeholders, citizens and other interested organisations; 

 

Page 49



 

ANNEX 1 
 

Part 2 – Articles of the Constitution 

 

13 
April 2018 

 contribute actively to the preparation, monitoring and review of the Council’s 
policies, budget, strategy and service delivery. 

 

 The main responsibilities of the Leader will be to: 
 

 provide leadership to the Council and its political administration; 
 

 act as principal spokesman for the Council and the administration; 
 

 assume prime responsibility to the local community for the decisions and 
work of the Cabinet; 

 

 act as the focus for the interface with officers, in particular the Chief 
Executive and Corporate Leadership Team; 

 

 lead the development of the Council’s strategic and corporate planning 
process to secure the duty of continuous improvement to services and 
improvements to the environmental, social and economic wellbeing of the 
Borough; 

 

 have prime responsibility for presenting the Cabinet’s proposals to the 
Council and to the local community; 

 

 take overall responsibility for the Cabinet’s participation in scrutiny and 
performance review of services and to allocate Cabinet Members for 
attendance at such meetings as may be required; 

 

 manage and chair meetings of the Cabinet and provide the political lead in 
proposing the policy framework, budget and direction of the Council; 

 

 ensure that the work of the Cabinet and portfolio holders is co-ordinated 
and is in accordance with the Council’s policy framework and the needs and 
aspirations of the local community; 

 

 ensure that working relationships between the Cabinet and councillors, 
officers and the local community are effective and professional; 

 

 carry out any other matter required by the Council. 
 

(3) Deputy Leader of the Council 
 

The key role of the Deputy Leader will be to deputise for the Leader of the Council 
as and when necessary and to provide support in the political leadership of the 
Council. The main roles and responsibilities of the Deputy Leader will be to: 
 

 chair the Cabinet in the absence of the Leader; 
 

Page 50



 

ANNEX 1 
 

Part 2 – Articles of the Constitution 

 

14 
April 2018 

 support the Leader in all aspects of his or her work, particularly in relation to 
providing the political direction on strategic issues; 

 

 provide the political lead in particular corporate initiatives and strategies and 
assume specific responsibility for  one of the Cabinet portfolios. 

 

 ensure that effective communication mechanisms exist with non executive 
councillors and ensure that their views are taken into account by the 
Cabinet; 

 

 provide support to portfolio holders as and when required and carry out their 
duties on those occasions when they are absent. 

 
(4) Cabinet Members 

 
 The key roles and responsibilities of Cabinet Members will be to: 
 

 assume responsibility for a portfolio of services and functions of the Council 
delegated to the Cabinet; 

 

 through the Cabinet, contribute to the development and implementation of 
the Council’s policies, budget, strategies and service delivery and to take 
the lead as necessary at Cabinet meetings on items within the portfolio; 

 

 take decisions on specific issues within the portfolio where permitted in the 
Scheme of Delegation and this Constitution; 

 

 work within the portfolio to: 
 

 act as spokesperson inside and outside the Council 
 liaise with Heads of Services and service managers 
 ensure that he/she has a clear understanding and knowledge of the 

portfolio 
 ensure that appropriate methods of consultation and communication 

methods are in place 
 participate in performance and process  reviews of the services as 

agreed with the Overview and Scrutiny Committeethe appropriate 
policy and review panel 

 attend the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Policy and Project 
Advisory Board as and when required. 

 

 be accountable to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee appropriate policy 
and review panel, the Council and the local community for the portfolio. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 51



 

ANNEX 1 
 

Part 2 – Articles of the Constitution 

 

15 
April 2018 

(5) Chairmen of Committees 
 

The key roles and responsibilities of Chairmen of Committees are to: 
 

 chair meetings of the Committee and provide leadership in its functions and 
working arrangements; 

 

 where set out in the Scheme of Delegation, act as consultee in decisions 
delegated by the Committee; 

 

 ensure that the work of the Committee is co-ordinated with other decision 
making bodies and is an accordance within the policy framework; 

 

 be responsible for presenting the Committee’s proposals and decisions to 
the Council and the community; 

 

 secure effective working relations between the Committee and the officers 
and the local community; and  

 

 participate in relevant training and development events 
 

(6) Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee Policy and Review 
Panels 

 
The key roles and responsibilities of the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee a Policy and Review Panel will be are to: 

 
 lead the Overview and Scrutiny process effectively 

 
 chair meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee Panel and provide 

leadership and strategic direction in its working arrangements; 
 

 develop the Committee’s Panel’s internal and external influence;  
 

 be fully aware of the Cabinet Work Programme so that the Committee is 
able to consider relevant issues and carry out pre-decision scrutiny. 

 

 be the formal link between the Cabinet and the Cabinet and ensure that any 
issues referred to the Committee by the Cabinet or Council are properly 
considered 

 
 in conjunction with the Lead Officer, lead the development of the 

Committee’s Panel’s work programme, and the co-ordination of the 
Committee’s Task and Finish Groups. Ensure progress is monitored and 
that tasks are progressing satisfactorily.  

 

 ensure that issues selected for in depth review further corporate objectives 
 

Page 52



 

ANNEX 1 
 

Part 2 – Articles of the Constitution 

 

16 
April 2018 

 ensure that clear terms of reference and timescales are set for Task and 
Finish Groups appointed by the Committee  

 

 attend and chair mid-cycle meetings     
 
 present the Committee’s Panel’s reports and recommendations to the 

Council, Cabinet or other decision making body in respect of any work 
carried out by the Panel;  

 
 develop and promote the role and impact of the Committee’sPanel through 

effective working relationships with the Cabinet, other councillors and 
officers and the local community; 

 
 develop stakeholder and partner involvement in the Panel’s Committee’s 

work; 
 

 ensure that he/she has knowledge and understanding of the Council’s 
responsibilities and processes related to the areas of work covered by the 
PanelCommittee; 

 

 ensure that mechanisms to support the Panel are working effectively and 
that the requirements of the Panel are met 

 

 participate in relevant training and development events; and 
 

 act as a consultee in urgent key decisions being considered by the Cabinet 
which have not been included in the Cabinet Work Programme; 

 
 

(7) Vice-Chairmen of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
 

The key roles and responsibilities of the Vice-Chairmen of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee are to: 
 

 assist the Chairman in leading the Overview and Scrutiny process 
effectively 

 

 deputise for the Chairman in his/her absence 
 

 assist the Chairman in leading the development, management and 
monitoring of the Committee’s work programme and the co-ordination of 
Task and Finish Groups appointed by the Committee  

   

 be fully aware of the Cabinet Work Programme so that the Committee is 
able to consider relevant issues and carry out pre-decision scrutiny 

 

Page 53



 

ANNEX 1 
 

Part 2 – Articles of the Constitution 

 

17 
April 2018 

 attend ‘mid-cycle’ meetings with the Chairman, representatives from the 
Committee and senior officers to assist agenda planning and enable 
discussion to inform effective scrutiny  

 

 chair Task and Finish Groups appointed by the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee  

 

 assist the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee to ensure that 
clear terms of reference and timescales are set for Task and Finish Groups 

 

 present reports of Task and Finish Groups to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

 

 support the Chairman in preparing and presenting reports from the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee to the Council and the Cabinet 

 

 assist the Chairman to develop and promote the role and impact of the 
Committee through effective working relationships with the Cabinet, other 
councillors, officers and the local community.  

 

 participate in relevant training and development events; and  
 

 ensure that he/she has knowledge and understanding of the Council’s 
responsibilities and processes related to work areas which are the subject 
of reviews by Task and Finish Groups  

 
 

(7)(8) Chairman of Policy and Project Advisory Board 
 

The key roles and responsibilities of the Chairman of the Policy and Project 
Advisory Board are to: 

 

 lead the work of the Policy and Project Advisory Board 
 

 chair meetings of the Policy and Project Advisory Board 
 

 Advise the Cabinet and Overview and Scrutiny Committee on the work of 
the Policy and Project Advisory Board as required   

 

 in conjunction with the Lead Officer, lead the delivery of the Board’s work 
programme, and the co-ordination of the Board’s Project Working Groups. 
Ensure progress is monitored and that tasks are progressing satisfactorily.  

 

 ensure that clear terms of reference and timescales are set for each 
Working Group appointed by the Board  

 

 attend mid-cycle meetings with senior officers and keep up to date on key 
issues in respect of council priorities, policies and projects  

Page 54



 

ANNEX 1 
 

Part 2 – Articles of the Constitution 

 

18 
April 2018 

 

 ensure that proposals for new or revised priorities or policies are well 
informed and that Council policies are widely understood and promoted 
positively  

 

 present Board reports and recommendations to the Cabinet, Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee and Council   

 

 participate in relevant training and development events   
 

 ensure that he/she has knowledge and understanding of the Council’s 
responsibilities and processes related to the work covered by the Board; 
and  

 

 promote the role of the Board through effective working relationships with 
the Cabinet, other councillors, officers and the local community. 

 
 

(8)(9) Vice-Chairmen of Policy and Project Advisory Board 
 

The key roles and responsibilities of the Vice-Chairmen of the Policy and Advisory 
Board are to: 

 

 assist the Chairman in leading the work of the Policy and Project Advisory 
Board 
 

 deputise for the Chairman in his/her absence 
 

 chair working groups appointed by the Board 
 

 ensure working groups appointed by the Board have clear terms of 
reference and timescales  

 

 lead on projects which are part of the Board’s programme of work 
 

 present reports to the Board on behalf of working groups or projects he/she 
is leading 

 

 assist the Chairman in leading the development, management and 
monitoring of the Board’s work programme and the co-ordination of Task 
and Finish Groups appointed by the Board  

 

 attend mid-cycle meetings with senior officers and keep up to date on key 
issues in respect of council priorities, policies and projects  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 55



 

ANNEX 1 
 

Part 2 – Articles of the Constitution 

 

19 
April 2018 

 participate in relevant training and development events 
 

 ensure that he/she has knowledge and understanding of the Council’s 
responsibilities and processes related to work areas which are the subject 
of working groups or special projects  

 

 promote the role of the Board through effective working relationships with 
the Cabinet, other councillors, officers and the local community    

 
 

2.4 CONDUCT 
 
 Councillors will at all times observe the Code of Conduct for Members and the 

Protocol on Member/Officer Relations set out in Part 5 of this Constitution. 
 
2.5 ALLOWANCES 
 

Councillors will be entitled to receive allowances in accordance with the Members’ 
Allowances Scheme set out in Part 6 of this Constitution. 

Page 56



 
ANNEX 2 

 
Part 2 – Articles of the Constitution 

23 
April 2018 

 

 

ARTICLE 6 – THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
POLICY AND REVIEW PANELS  

 

 
 
6.1 TERMS OF REFERENCE POLICY AND REVIEW PANELS 

 
The Council will appoint an Overview and Scrutiny Committee Policy and Review 
Panels to discharge the functions conferred by Section 21 of the Local 
Government Act, 2000, or regulations under Section 32 of the Local Government 
Act 2000. This Committee is also the Council’s designated crime and disorder 
committee under Section 19 of the Police and Justice Act 2006. , in relation to all 
the matters falling within its powers and duties as set out below: 

 
 
 

 
Policy and Review 
Panel 
 

 
Scope of Responsibility 
 

 

Leisure and Youth  
 
 
 
 
 

 

The provision, planning and management of all issues in 
the Borough relating to: 
 
- sport and recreation (including leisure facilities       

contracts) 
- education and lifelong learning 
- parks and open spaces 
- tourism and heritage 
- young people 
- childcare and play 
- arts and entertainment 
- Rushmoor in Bloom 
- Town Twinning 
 

 

Corporate Services 
 
 
 
 
 

 

The provision, planning and management of all issues 
within the Council’s internal administration relating to: 
 
- support services within the Council 
- issues relating to human resources strategies and 

policies 
- matters relating to financial administration 
- management of corporate property portfolio 
- services to Members 
- audit matters 

Page 57



 
ANNEX 2 

 
Part 2 – Articles of the Constitution 

24 
April 2018 

- corporate performance issues 
- communications 

 
Community 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The provision, planning and management of all issues in 
the Borough relating to: 
 
- statutory housing responsibilities 
- health issues 
- care in the community 
- housing association liaison 
 

 
Environment 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The provision, planning and management of all issues in 
the Borough relating to: 
 
- parking management 
- waste management (including service contracts) 
- street cleansing (including service contracts) 
- public space and street scene 
- strategic transportation issues 
- planning policy (including Local Development 

Framework) 
- economic development/regeneration, including 

markets 
- cemeteries and crematoria 
- public conveniences 
- policy around travellers 
- the built and natural environment 
- development control 
- building control 
 

 
Borough Services  
(covering Safety and 
Regulation and 
Concessions and 
Community Support) 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The provision, planning and management of all issues in 
the Borough relating to: 
 
- community strategies  
- community safety 
- grants to voluntary organisations 
- liaison with community groups 
- community projects fund 
- democratic renewal and community involvement 
- environmental health powers related to regulatory 

issues, licensing, food, health and safety  
- caravan sites 
- funding major voluntary organisations 
- electoral issues 
- benefits 
- access 
- concessionary fares 

Page 58



 
ANNEX 2 

 
Part 2 – Articles of the Constitution 

25 
April 2018 

 
 

 The general Within their terms of reference of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee are:, Policy and Review Panels can: 

 

 to perform all overview and scrutiny functions on behalf of the Council; 
 

 to appoint such formal sub-committees and informal task and finish groups 
as it considers necessary to assist it in discharging its functions; 
  

 to prepare and approve the overview and scrutiny work programme so as to 
ensure that the Committee’s time is effectively and efficiently utilised; 

 
 to undertake investigations into such matters relating to the Council’s 

functions and powers as: 
 

(1) may be referred by the Council, Committees, the Cabinet, or 
the Leader; or 

(2) the Committee may consider appropriate; or 
(3) have been referred to the Committee pursuant to the “call-in” 

procedure set out in the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure 
Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution. (These can be decisions 
taken by the Cabinet, a Cabinet Member, key decisions taken 
by an officer or under joint arrangements). 
 

 to monitor and review the performance of the Council and services against 
relevant performance indicators and adopted plans;  
 

 to review and/or scrutinise decisions proposed to be made (pre-decision 
scrutiny) or actions taken in connection with the discharge of any of the 
Council’s functions; 
 

 to review existing policy and strategy with a view to securing continuous 
improvement in the way in which the Council’s functions are exercised, 
having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness;   

 
 to make reports and/or recommendations to the full Council and/or the 

Cabinet in connection with the discharge of any functions; 
 
 to review and/or scrutinise consider any matter affecting the area or its 

inhabitants;  
 

 to discuss initiatives put forward for consideration by individual members of 
the Committee and any relevant ‘call-for-action’ in accordance with the 
Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this 
Constitution; and  

 

Page 59



 
ANNEX 2 

 
Part 2 – Articles of the Constitution 

26 
April 2018 

 to consider petitions referred to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee in 
accordance with provisions set out in the Petition Scheme set out in Part 4 
of this Constitution.    

 
 review policy and strategy through responding to requests from the Council 

and the Cabinet and initiate proposals for new and changed policies and 
services; 

 
 exercise the right to call-in, for reconsideration, decisions made but not yet 

implemented by the Cabinet and or any joint committee; 
 
 undertake responsibility for performance and process reviews and services 

and functions; and 
 
 determine requests by four or more councillors to “call in” a decision 

pursuant to the Council’s call-in procedure; these can be any decisions by 
the Cabinet or a Cabinet Member, key decisions taken by an officer or 
under joint arrangements (details are set out in the Overview and Scrutiny 
Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution). 

 

6.3 SPECIFIC FUNCTIONS OF POLICY AND REVIEW PANELS 
 

(1) Scrutiny  
 

 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee may: Policy and Review Panels 
may: 

 
 review and scrutinise the decisions made by the Cabinet and officers both 

in relation to individual decisions and decisions on on-going issues; 
 

 question Cabinet Members and chief officers about their decisions and 
performance, whether generally in comparison with service plans and 
targets over a period of time, or in relation to particular decisions, initiatives 
or projects; or in relation to the portfolios of the Leader or of lead 
councillors.  

 
 make recommendations to the Cabinet and/or Council arising from the 

outcome of the scrutiny process; 
  
 review and scrutinise the performance of other public bodies in the area and 

invite reports from them by requesting them to report on their activities and 
performance;  

 
 question and gather evidence from any person (with their consent) and 

require information from partner organisations; and  
 

 use innovative ways to scrutinise matters of concern; the issue being 
investigated should be matched to the most appropriate process. 

 

Page 60



 
ANNEX 2 

 
Part 2 – Articles of the Constitution 

27 
April 2018 

 
(2)  Performance Management and Review 

 
 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee Policy and Review Panels will make 
arrangements to: 

 
 review and scrutinise the performance of the Council in relation to its policy 

and budgetary objectives, performance targets and/or particular service 
areas; 

 
 undertake performance reviews of the Council’s functions as appropriate 

and prepare the appropriate reports for the Cabinet and the Council; 
 

 monitor and review the outcomes of performance and process  reviews and 
make further recommendations where necessary; and 

 
 consider the policy implications arising from reviews for other functions and 

services. 
 
 
(3) Policy Development and Review 

 
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee may: Policy and Review Panels may: 

 
 assist the Council and the Cabinet in the development of its budget and 

policy framework by in-depth analysis of policy and budget issues; 
 
 conduct research and community and other consultations in carrying out  

review of existing policies and strategies. the analysis of policy issues and 
possible options; 

 
 consider and implement mechanisms to encourage and enhance 

community participation in the development of policy options; 
 
 question Cabinet Members, Committee Chairmen and chief officers about 

their views on issues and proposals affecting the area; and 
 
 liaise with other external organisations operating in the area, whether 

national, regional or local, to ensure that the interests of local people are 
enhanced by collaborative working. 

 
(4) Finance 
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee Each Policy and Review Panel may 
exercise overall responsibility for any finances made available to it and may 
request a budget. 
 
 
 

Page 61



 
ANNEX 2 

 
Part 2 – Articles of the Constitution 

28 
April 2018 

(5) Annual Report 
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee Each Policy and Review Panel shall report 
annually to the full Council on the outcomes of its work for the year.  

 
6.4 PROCEEDINGS OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE POLICY 
AND REVIEW PANELS  
 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee Policy and Review Panels will conduct its 
proceedings in accordance with the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules set 
out in Part 4 of the Constitution. Committee   Panel meetings will normally be open 
to the public.   

 
6.5 COMPOSITION  
 

The arrangements with respect to the composition of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee Policy and Review Panels will be as follows: 

 
 The Committee Each Panel will have a maximum of eleven nine Members 

and, in accordance with the provisions of the Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989, will reflect the political balance of the Council.  

 
 The Committee may appoint up to two Vice-Chairmen, to focus on different 

areas of responsibility, for example internal corporate matters, and external 
community and environmental issues. Role descriptions for the vice-
chairmen of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee are set out in Article 2 of 
the Constitution.    

 
 The Committee Each Panel will be able to co-opt external representatives 

or appoint advisers as it sees fit in a non-voting capacity. 
 
 No member of the Cabinet will normally be entitled to sit on the Committeea 

Panel. Where the Committee a Panel or other body appointed by it is 
undertaking a review, the appropriate Member of the Cabinet will be entitled 
to be present attend as a  non-voting Member. 

 
Membership of both the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Policy and 
Project Advisory Board does not inevitably create a conflict of interest.  

 
 
6.6 TASK AND FINISH GROUPS 
 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee A  Policy and Review Panel or  decision 
making body will have responsibility for establishing such Task and Finish Groups 
as it considers necessary to assist it in discharging its functions.  The details of the 
area of responsibility and working arrangements of for each Task and Finish 
Group will be determined by the Committee appointing body.  
 
 

Page 62



 
ANNEX 2 

 
Part 2 – Articles of the Constitution 

29 
April 2018 

 
All Members, whether or not they are members of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, may be appointed to a Task and Finish Group. However, no Member 
may be involved in scrutinising a decision in which he or she has been involved 
directly.     
 
WORKING ARRANGEMENTS – MID CYCLE MEETINGS 

 
6.7 The Chairman and Vice-Chairmen of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 

together with cross-party representatives will meet regularly at mid-cycle meetings 
to develop, manage and update the Committee’s work programme, plan agendas, 
and co-ordinate task and finish groups.   
 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 63



 

ANNEX 3 
 

Part 2 – Articles of the Constitution 

30 
April 2018 
 

 

 

ARTICLE 9 – POLICY AND PROJECT ADVISORY BOARD 
 

 
 

9.1 ROLE 
  

The Council will appoint a Policy and Project Advisory Board to act as source of 
policy and project advice to the Cabinet and the Council. The main role of the 
Board is to advise the Cabinet about the formulation and development of policies 
and projects that will help deliver Council Plan priorities. The Board will be 
advisory in nature, and will not have any substantive decision-making powers 
delegated to it.    
 

9.2 TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 
The general terms of reference of the Policy and Project Advisory Board are: 
 

 to assist and advise the Cabinet in the development of Policy Framework 
issues 

 to undertake research, consultation and reviews for the purpose of advising 
the Cabinet on the delivery of priorities in the Council Plan (usually through the 
task and finish groups)   

 to advise the Cabinet at an early stage in respect of the formulation and 
development of policies and projects that will help to deliver Council Plan 
priorities 

 to assist in the development of Cabinet decisions 

 to assist and advise the Cabinet on budget preparation 

 to develop and maintain a work programme ensuring that there is efficient use 
of time 

 
The powers of the Policy and Project Board are: 
 

 to require the Leader and/or lead councillors and senior officers to attend 
meetings to answer questions 

 to question and gather evidence from any person (with their consent) 

 to co-opt expert individuals on a non-voting basis to assist the Board’s work 

 to set up task and finish groups to look at specific issues relating to the 
delivery of the Council Plan or other significant priorities in order to inform 
decision making by the Cabinet.  

 
9.3 COMPOSITION 
  

 The arrangements with respect to the composition of the Policy and Project 
Advisory Board will be as follows: 

 

Page 64



 

ANNEX 3 
 

Part 2 – Articles of the Constitution 

31 
April 2018 
 

 

 The Board will have a maximum of eleven non-executive councillors, and in 
accordance with the provisions of the Local Government Housing Act 1989, 
will reflect the political balance of the Council.  
 

 The Board will be able to appoint up to two Vice-Chairmen to lead on 
specific projects and to chair task and finish groups. 

 

 Cabinet Members will be expected to attend the Board, and task and finish 
groups appointed by the Board, as appropriate to contribute on matters that 
relate to their portfolio.   

 

 The Board will be able to co-opt external representatives or appoint 
advisers as it sees fit in a non-voting capacity. 
 

Membership of both the Policy and Project Advisory Board and the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee does not inevitably create a conflict of interest. As a rule, 
councillors should not be involved on scrutinising a decision in which they have 
been involved directly, but the Board is advisory and it remains the responsibility of 
the Cabinet to formally take and implement decisions.  

 
9.4 MEETINGS 
 
 The Policy and Project Advisory Board shall have six scheduled meetings 

annually. 
 
 All meetings of the Policy and Project Advisory Board shall be open to the public to 

attend except where the item under discussion is considered exempt under 
Schedule 12A and Section 1001 of the Local Government Act 1972 or is 
confidential under Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972.  

  
 The Chairman will preside at meetings of the Board. In the absence of the 

Chairman, a Vice-Chairman will take the chair. 
 
9.5  QUORUM 
 
 The quorum for the Policy and Project Advisory Board shall be six voting members 

of the Board (at least one half of the whole number of voting Members).  
 
9.6  TASK AND FINISH GROUPS 
 
 The Policy and Project Advisory Board will have responsibility for establishing such 

Task and Finish Group as it considers necessary to assist it in discharging its 
functions. The terms of reference and working arrangements for each Task and 
Finish Group will be determined by the Board.  

 
 The Vice-Chairmen of the Policy and Project Advisory Board will chair task and 

finish groups and lead specific projects.    
 

Page 65



 

ANNEX 3 
 

Part 2 – Articles of the Constitution 

32 
April 2018 
 

 
 All Members, whether or not they are members of the Board, may be appointed to 

a Task and Finish Group.  
 
9.7 WORKING ARRANGEMENTS – MID CYCLE MEETINGS 
 
 The Chairman and Vice-Chairmen of the Policy and Project Advisory, together with 

cross-party representatives will meet regularly at mid-cycle meetings to develop, 
manage and update the Board’s work programme, plan agendas, and co-ordinate 
task and finish groups.   

 
   

Page 66



ANNEX 4 
 

Part 4 – Standing Orders for the Regulation of Business 

137 
April 2018 

 

STANDING ORDERS FOR THE REGULATION 
OF BUSINESS 

 

 
INTRODUCTION 

 
The Council Procedure Rules (known as Standing Orders) set out the rules of 
debate and procedure for the conduct of meetings of the Council, including 
where necessary their application to committees, sub-committees and other 
bodies. 
 
The Standing Orders are: 

 
1. Meetings of the Council 

2. Order of Business – Annual Meeting 

3. Appointment of Relevant Bodies 

4. The Cabinet and Other Bodies 

5. Election of Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen 

6. Order of Business – Ordinary Meetings 

7. Minutes 

8. Questions 

9. Notices of Motion 

10. Reports of Relevant Bodies 

11. Voting 

12. Motions and Amendments which may be moved without notice 

13. Rules of Debate for Council Meetings 

14. Quorum 

15. Closure and Adjournment of Meetings 

16. Motions Affecting Persons Employed by the Council 

17. Disorderly Conduct 

Page 67



ANNEX 4 
 

Part 4 – Standing Orders for the Regulation of Business 

138 
April 2018 

18. Disturbance by Members of the Public 

19. Recission of Preceding Resolution 

20. Confidentiality of Certain Business 

21. Petitions 

22. Deputations and Memorials 

23. Interpretation of Standing Orders 

24. Sealing of Documents 

25. Authentication of Documents for Legal Proceedings 

26. Standing Orders to Apply to Relevant Bodies 

27. Meetings of Relevant Bodies 

28. Sub-Committees 

29. Variation and Revocation of Standing Orders 

30. Suspension of Standing Orders 

31. Standing Orders to be given to Members 

Where the term “relevant body” is mentioned under the Standing Orders it relates 
to the Cabinet, committees, sub-committees or Policy and Project Advisory 
Board policy and review panel and this item shall be construed as appropriate. 
 
The Council Procedure Rules contain some mandatory standing orders and other 
standing orders to reflect local custom and practice.  Mandatory standing orders 
are also reflected in the other Procedure Rules set out in this Constitution. 
 
Members and officers shall comply with these Standing Orders at all times. 
 
 
 

--------------- 
 

Page 68



ANNEX 4 
 

Part 4 – Standing Orders for the Regulation of Business 

139 
April 2018 

MEETINGS OF THE COUNCIL 
 

Annual Meeting 
 
1. (1) In a year when there is an ordinary election of councillors, the 

Annual Meeting will take place within 21 days of the retirement of 
the out-going councillors.  The meeting shall normally be held on a 
Tuesday as near as possible to 20th day of May in each year, 
unless the Mayor, in consultation with the Chief Executive and 
Head of Democratic Services determines otherwise.   

 
Ordinary Meetings 

 
(2) In addition to the Annual Meeting of the Council and any meetings 

convened by the Mayor or by Members of the Council, meetings for 
the transaction of general business shall be set out in a calendar by 
the Head of Democratic Services to ensure the effective transaction 
of business. 

 
Time of Meetings 

 
(3) Meetings of the Council shall be held at seven o’clock in the 

evening, unless the Mayor, in consultation with the Head of 
Democratic Services, determines otherwise.  

 
Extraordinary Meetings 

 
(4) An Extraordinary Meeting may be called by the Head of Democratic 

Services at the request of:  
 

(a) the Council by resolution 
(b) the Mayor 
(c) any five Members of the Council by notice which has been 

signed by those Members and specifies the business 
proposed to be transacted. 

 
Notice of and Summons to Meetings 

 
(5) The Head of Democratic Services will give notice to the public of 

the time and place of any meeting in accordance with the Access to 
Information Rules. At least five clear working days before a 
meeting, the Head of Democratic Services will send a summons 
signed by him or her to every Member of the Council or leave it at 
the Member’s usual place of residence. The summons will give the 
date, time and place of each meeting and specify the business to 
be transacted, and will be accompanied by such reports as are 
available. 

 
 

Page 69



ANNEX 4 
 

Part 4 – Standing Orders for the Regulation of Business 

140 
April 2018 

 

ORDER OF BUSINESS – ANNUAL MEETING 
 
2. (1) The order of business of the Annual Meeting of the Council shall 

normally be to: 
 
(a) elect the Mayor and Deputy Mayor of the Borough; 
 
(b) approve the minutes of the last meeting; 
 
(c) receive any announcements from the Mayor and/or the Chief 

Executive; 
 
(d) appoint the Leader of the Council; 
 
(e) note the appointment of the Deputy Leader and other  

Members appointed to the Cabinet by the Leader;   
 

(f) appoint to the Committees and the Policy and Project 
Advisory Board Review Panels (including committee 
chairmen and vice-chairmen) as appropriate; and  

 
(g) consider any other business set out in the summons. 

 
 

APPOINTMENT OF RELEVANT BODIES 
 
3. (1) The Council shall at the Annual Meeting appoint the relevant bodies 

specified in Standing Order 4 and shall determine the composition 
of the voting Members of each relevant body, and may at any time 
appoint such other relevant bodies as are necessary to carry out 
the work of the Council but, subject to any statutory provision in that 
behalf: 

 
(a) shall not give effect to the appointment of any Member of a 

relevant body so as to hold office later than the next Annual 
Meeting of the Council; 

 
(b) may at any time dissolve a relevant body; and 
 
(c) may suspend a Member from membership of a relevant 

body for a specified period. 
 

(2) Where the Members of the Council are divided into political groups, 
the Council shall, at the Annual Meeting and at such other times as 
appropriate, review the allocation of seats on relevant bodies 
between the political groups. 

 
 

Page 70



ANNEX 4 
 

Part 4 – Standing Orders for the Regulation of Business 

141 
April 2018 

 
(3) The Head of Democratic Services shall set out in a report to the 

Council the allocation of seats to political groups in accordance with 
the requirements of the Local Government and Housing Act, 1989 
and the Local Government Act, 2000, upon which the Council shall 
determine the allocation of seats accordingly. 

 
(4) Subject to Standing Orders 3 (2) and (3) and Standing Order 4 (7), 

the Council shall make appointments to relevant bodies so as to 
give effect to the wishes of the political groups as appropriate. 

 
(5) The arrangements to secure political balance and the provisions set 

out in Standing Orders 3, 4 and 27 shall be undertaken in 
accordance with the provisions of  the Local Government and 
Housing Act, 1989 or any subsequent amending legislation, and 
Regulations made thereunder from time to time by the Secretary of 
State. 

 
(6) For the purpose of these Standing Orders, the term 'political group' 

means two or more Councillors who wish to be treated as a political 
group for the purposes of the provisions of the Local Government 
and Housing Act, 1989 or any subsequent amending legislation, 
and regulations made thereunder from time to time by the 
Secretary of State. 

 
 

THE CABINET AND OTHER BODIES 
 

Membership 
 
4. (1) The decision making structure of the Council shall consist of the 

bodies set out below, together with a Leader and Cabinet. The 
Council shall appoint the Members of each of the relevant bodies, 
which shall not exceed the number of Members specified below: 

 
Relevant Body Maximum Number 

of Voting Members 
 

Development Management Committee 11 
Licensing and General Purposes Committee 11 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 11 
Policy and Project Advisory Board 11 
Borough Services Policy and Review Panel 9 
Community Policy and Review Panel 9 
Corporate Services Policy and Review Panel 9 
Environment Policy and Review Panel 9 
Leisure and Youth Policy and Review Panel 9 

 
 

Page 71



ANNEX 4 
 

Part 4 – Standing Orders for the Regulation of Business 

142 
April 2018 

 
 
 
(2) The Council shall appoint standing deputies to the Development 

Management Committee, in accordance with the provisions for the 
appointment of standing deputies contained in Appendix 1 to these 
Standing Orders.   

 
(3) The military authorities may nominate a representative to serve on 

the Development Management Committee as a co-opted Member 
to assist in the consideration of the business of the Committee, but 
shall not be entitled to vote thereon. The Council shall make the 
appointment at the Annual Meeting or such other full Council 
meeting as appropriate.   

 
(4) The Member of the Cabinet with responsibility for matters relating 

to planning policy (the Environment portfolio) shall be an ex officio 
Member of the Development  Management Committee PROVIDED 
that the Member shall only be entitled to vote if appointed with full 
voting rights in accordance with the political balance arrangements. 

 
(5) The Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Policy and Project 

Advisory Board A Policy and Review Panel may appoint such non-
voting Members and advisers as it they considers fit. 

 
Vacancies in Membership 
  

(6) If any Member shall be absent from three consecutive meetings of 
a Committee or the Policy and Project Advisory Board Policy and 
Review Panel, he or she shall cease to be a Member thereof, 
unless he or she shall, in the opinion of the Committee or Board 
Policy and Review Panel, show reasonable grounds for his or her 
absence there from. 

 
(7) On a vacancy arising on the Licensing and General Purposes 

Committee or the Development Management in a Committee, the 
Head of Democratic Services shall give notice thereof in the 
summons calling the next Council meeting, so as to enable the 
Council to fill such vacancy.   

 
(8) On a vacancy arising on the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or 

the Policy and Project Advisory Board in a Policy and Review 
Panel, such vacancy shall be filled by the appropriate Leader of a 
Political Group where it falls within that Group. In all cases the 
appointment shall be reported on the Agenda of the following 
meeting of the body Panel.  Where the vacancy is not part of the 
allocation of a political group, it shall be filled by the Council.   
 

 

Page 72



ANNEX 4 
 

Part 4 – Standing Orders for the Regulation of Business 

143 
April 2018 

APPOINTMENT OF CHAIRMEN AND VICE-CHAIRMEN 
 

Appointment of Leader of the Council 
 
5. (1)  The Leader of the Council shall be appointed at the Annual Meeting 

of the Council. On a vacancy arising, or at the end of the Municipal 
Year, the Head of Democratic Services shall seek nominations from 
Members and give notice in the summons calling the next Council 
meeting so as to enable the Council to fill such vacancy. The 
Leader of the Council shall Chair meetings of the Cabinet and 
references to Chairman in these Standing Orders shall be 
construed accordingly.   

 
Appointment of Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen 

 
(2) Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of the Development Management 

and Licensing and General Purposes Committees shall be 
appointed at the Annual Meeting of the Council for the ensuing 
year. 

 
Chairmen of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Policy 
and Project Advisory Board shall also be appointed at the Annual 
Council Meeting.  
 
Vice-Chairmen of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the 
Policy and Project Advisory Board shall be appointed at the  
Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of Policy and Review Panels shall be 
appointed at the first meeting of the appropriate Committee/Board 
Panel in each Municipal Year.  
 
On a vacancy arising, the appropriate Committee or Board Policy 
and Review Panel will be asked to fill the vacancy at its next 
meeting. In the absence from a meeting of the Chairman and Vice-
ChairmanChairmen, a Chairman for that meeting shall be 
appointed. 

 
Chairman of Meeting 

 
 (3) Any power or duty of the Mayor or a Chairman in relation to the 

conduct of a meeting may be exercised by the person presiding at 
the meeting.    

 
ORDER OF BUSINESS – ORDINARY MEETINGS 
 
6. (1) The order of business at every meeting of the Council shall 

normally be to: 
 

(a) choose a person to preside if the Mayor and Deputy Mayor 
are absent; 

Page 73



ANNEX 4 
 

Part 4 – Standing Orders for the Regulation of Business 

144 
April 2018 

 
(b) deal with any business required by statute to be done before 

any other business; 
 
(c) approve as a correct record and sign the Minutes of the last 

meeting of the Council.  No motion or discussion shall be 
allowed on the Minutes except as to their accuracy and any 
objection on that ground must be made by motion; 

 
(d) deal with any business expressly required by statute to be 

done; 
 
(e) receive any Mayor’s announcements; 
 
(f) dispose of business (if any) remaining from the last meeting; 
 
(g) answer questions asked under Standing Order 8; 
 
(h) authorise the sealing of documents; 
 
(i) consider motions in the order in which notice has been 

received; 
  
(j) receive and consider matters for decision submitted by 

relevant bodies; 
 
(k) consider matters for debate raised by the relevant bodies; 
 
(l) answer questions for the Cabinet in accordance with the 

agreed procedure; 
 

(m) receive Reports submitted by the Cabinet, Licensing and 
General Purposes Committee and Development 
Management Committee  and Committees; 

 
(n) other business, if any, specified in the Summons; and 

 
(o)   receive Reports submitted by the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee and the Policy and Project Advisory Board. Policy 
and Review Panels.  

 
Variation of Order of Business 

 
(2) Business falling under Items (a), (b) or (c) of Standing Order 6 (1), 

shall not be displaced, but, subject thereto, the foregoing order of 
business may be varied by: 
 
(a) the Mayor at his or her discretion; or 
 

Page 74



ANNEX 4 
 

Part 4 – Standing Orders for the Regulation of Business 

145 
April 2018 

(b) resolution passed on a motion (which need not be in writing) 
duly moved and seconded, which shall be moved and put 
without discussion. 

 
Mayor-Elect and Deputy Mayor-Elect 

 
(3) The Licensing and General Purposes Committee shall recommend 

to the Council a Mayor-Elect and a Deputy Mayor-Elect at least one 
month before the end of the Municipal Year. 

 
 

 
MINUTES 

 
 Approval of Minutes 
 
7. (1) The Mayor shall put the question that the Minutes before the 

meeting be approved as a correct record. 
 

Minutes not to be discussed 
 

(2) No discussion shall take place upon the Minutes, except upon their 
accuracy, and any question of the accuracy shall be raised by 
motion.  If no such question is raised, or if it is raised then as soon 
as it has been disposed of, the Mayor shall sign the Minutes. 

 
Extraordinary Meetings 

 
(3) The Council shall approve as a correct record the Minutes of the 

proceedings of an Extraordinary Meeting of the Council called 
under Standing Order 1(4) at the next following Ordinary Meeting of 
the Council and they shall be signed by the Mayor. 

 
 

QUESTIONS BY MEMBERS 
 

Questions for the Cabinet 
 

8. (1) A Member of the Council may ask a Cabinet Member any question                   
upon any matter dealt with under the executive arrangements, in 
accordance with the procedure contained in Appendix 2 to these 
Standing Orders.   

 
Questions relating to Reports  

 
 (2) A Member of the Council may ask a Committee Chairman or a 

Cabinet Member any question upon an item in the Report of a 
relevant body (Standing Order 6(1)(m)) when that item is under 
consideration by the Council. 

Page 75



ANNEX 4 
 

Part 4 – Standing Orders for the Regulation of Business 

146 
April 2018 

 
Questions relating to other matters 

 
(3) A Member of the Council may: 

 
(a) if ten clear working days’ notice in writing has been given to 

the Head of Democratic Services, ask the Mayor, the 
Chairman of the Licensing and General Purposes 
Committee, the Chairman of the Development Management 
Committee or a Cabinet Member any question on any matter 
in relation to which the Council has powers or duties or 
which affects the Borough, PROVIDED that the number of 
questions permitted to be asked shall be limited to three for 
each political group or Member, in the case that the Member 
is not part of a political group. 

 
Urgent Questions 

 
(b) with the permission of the Mayor, put to him or her or a 

Chairman or Cabinet Member any question relating to urgent 
business, of which such notice has not been given; but a 
copy of any such question shall, if possible, be delivered to 
the Head of Democratic Services not later than five o'clock in 
the afternoon of the day of the meeting. 

 
Length of Questions 

 
(4) No question asked under 3 (a) or (b) above shall exceed fifty words 

in length including any document appended thereto. 
 

Answers not to be discussed 
 

(5) No speech or discussion shall, without the consent of the Council, 
be allowed on any question so put, or on any answer thereto. 

 
Forms of Answer 

 
(6) An answer may take the form of:- 

 
(a) a direct oral answer; or 
 
(b) where the desired information is contained in a publication of 

the Council, a reference to that publication; or 
 
(c) where the reply to the question cannot conveniently be given 

orally, a written answer circulated to Members of the 
Council; or 

 

Page 76



ANNEX 4 
 

Part 4 – Standing Orders for the Regulation of Business 

147 
April 2018 

(d) a reference to the fact that the question relates to a 
confidential matter and as such can only be answered when 
the Council has resolved to exclude the public. 

 
Questions to the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Policy and Review Panels 
 

(7) A Member of the Council may ask the Chairman of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee a Policy and Review Panel any question 
on a matter relating to the Committee’s Panel’s responsibilities 
during consideration of the Annual Report of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee Panels to the Council, in accordance with the 
procedure contained in Appendix 3 to these Standing Orders. 

 

 

NOTICES OF MOTION 
 

Notice to be in writing 
 
9. (1) Notice of every motion, other than a motion which under Standing 

Order 12 may be moved without notice, shall be given in writing or 
sent electronically including the name of the Member or Members 
of the Council giving the notice, and delivered, at least ten clear 
days before the meeting to which it relates, at the office of the Head 
of Democratic Services by whom it shall be dated.   

  
Inclusion of Motions in Summons 

 
(2) The Head of Democratic Services shall set out in the Summons for 

the appropriate meeting of the Council, the motions of which notice 
has been duly given in the order in which they have been received, 
unless the Member giving notice of the motion shall have in writing 
withdrawn it or indicated that he or she proposes to move it at a 
later meeting. 

 
Motions not moved considered withdrawn 

 
(3) If a motion thus set out in the Summons be not moved either by a 

Member who gave notice thereof or by another Member on his or 
her behalf it shall, unless postponed by consent of the Council, as 
appropriate, be treated as withdrawn and shall not be moved 
without fresh notice. 

 
Motions referred to a Relevant Body 

 
(4) Where a motion has been included in the Summons and moved 

and seconded, the Mayor may direct that it be referred to the 
relevant body and not further debated at that meeting of the 
Council. The recommendations, upon a motion, shall then be 

Page 77



ANNEX 4 
 

Part 4 – Standing Orders for the Regulation of Business 

148 
April 2018 

considered by the Cabinet or a Committee, as appropriate, prior to 
being resubmitted to the Council as a recommendation.  

 
Motions Submitted 

 
(5) The number of new motions permitted to be considered at each 

meeting of the Council shall be limited to one per political group or 
one per Member, in the case that a Member is not part of a political 
group. 

 
(6) Every motion shall be relevant to some matter in relation to which 

the Council has powers or duties or which affects the Borough 
directly.(underlined is proposed to be removed) 

 
 

Length and Content of Motions 
 

(7) No motion, other than a motion which may be moved without notice 
under Standing Order 12, shall exceed 100 words in length 
including any document appended thereto.  

 
(8) A Motion should be expressed in positive terms to either adopt a 

certain course of action, carry out some act or to declare a 
particular view.  

 
 

REPORTS OF RELEVANT BODIES 
 

Submission and Form of Reports 
 
10. (1) As soon as is practicable following a meeting of a relevant body, it 

shall submit a Report to the Council.  Relevant bodies shall, as 
appropriate: 
 
(a) submit proposals containing recommendations which require 

approval by the Council;  
 
(b) submit Reports which relate to matters of information or to 

decisions taken; and  
 
(c) submit items for debate on which the Council’s views are 

sought. 
 

Transfer of Matters Contained in Reports 
 

(2) At a meeting of the Council, any Member, immediately following the 
relevant page of a Report of the Cabinet or Committee being called 
over, may move that an item contained in the Report be discussed 
at the meeting and, upon being seconded, any such motion shall be 

Page 78



ANNEX 4 
 

Part 4 – Standing Orders for the Regulation of Business 

149 
April 2018 

put to the meeting without discussion, PROVIDED that the 
proposer may, when putting his motion, indicate briefly his or her 
reasons for so moving and the Chairman or Cabinet Member may 
respond thereto. 
 

Reports not to be discussed 
 

(3) No discussion (other than a question asked or answered in 
accordance with Standing Order 8) shall take place upon any 
matter contained or referred to in a Report of a relevant body 
submitted under Standing Order 10(1)(b) above. 

 
 
 
 

VOTING 
Majority 

 
11. (1) Unless this Constitution provides otherwise, any matter will be 

decided by a simple majority of those Members voting and present 
in the room at the time the question is put.  The mode of voting at 
meetings of the Council shall be by show of hands or, if there is no 
dissent, by the affirmation of the meeting. 

 
Mayor to have casting vote 

 
(2) In the event of an equality of votes, the Mayor, or in the case of a 

relevant body, the Chairman, shall have a casting vote, whether or 
not he or she had already voted. If the Mayor or Chairman declines 
to give a casting vote the proposition shall not be carried.  

 
Right to have vote recorded 

 
(3) Where any Member requests it, immediately after the vote is taken, 

his or her vote will be so recorded in the minutes to show whether 
he or she voted for or against the question or abstained from 
voting. 

 
Recorded Votes 

 
(4) On the requisition of any Member of the Council made before the 

vote is taken, the voting on any question shall be recorded so as to 
show whether each Member present gave his or her vote for or 
against that question or abstained from voting. 

 
(5) A recorded vote shall be taken on any decision relating to the 

budget or council tax.    
 

Appointments  

Page 79



ANNEX 4 
 

Part 4 – Standing Orders for the Regulation of Business 

150 
April 2018 

 
(6) Where there are more than two persons nominated for any position 

to be filled by the Council, and of the votes given there is not an 
overall majority in favour of one person, the name of the person 
having the least number of votes shall be struck off the list and a 
fresh vote shall be taken and so on until a majority of votes is given 
in favour of one person. 

 
MOTIONS AND AMENDMENTS WHICH MAY BE 

MOVED WITHOUT NOTICE 
 

12. The following motions and amendments may be moved without notice:- 
 

(a) appointment of a Chairman of the meeting at which the motion is 
made; 

 
(b) motions relating to the accuracy of the Minutes; 
 
(c) that an item of business specified in the Summons has precedence; 
 
(d) remission to a relevant body; 
 
(e) appointment of a Committee or a Policy and Review Panel etc. or 

members thereof, occasioned by an item mentioned in the 
Summons to the meeting; 

 
(f) adoption of Recommendations of the relevant bodies or Officers 

and any consequent resolutions; 
 
(g) that leave be given to withdraw a motion; 
 
(h) extending the time limit for speeches; 
 
(i) amendments to motions; 
 
(j) that the Council proceed to the next business; 
 
(k) that the question be now put; 
 
(l) that the debate be now adjourned; 
 
(m) that the Council do now adjourn; 
 
(n) authorising the sealing of documents; 
 
(o) suspending Standing Orders, in accordance with Standing Order 

29; 
 

Page 80



ANNEX 4 
 

Part 4 – Standing Orders for the Regulation of Business 

151 
April 2018 

(p) motion under Section 100A of the Local Government Act, 1972 to 
exclude the public; 

 
(q) that a Member named under Standing Order 17 be not further 

heard or do leave the meeting; 
 
(r) inviting a Member to remain where he or she has a pecuniary 

interest; 
 
(s) giving consent of the Council where the consent of the Council is 

required by these Standing Orders; 
 
(t) continuing the sitting under Standing Order 15(1); 
 

(u) to debate a matter contained in the Report of a relevant body in 
accordance with Standing Order 10(2). 

 
RULES OF DEBATE FOR COUNCIL MEETINGS 

 
Form of Motions and Amendments 

 
13. (1) A motion or amendment shall not be discussed unless it has been 

proposed and seconded, and unless notice has already been given 
in accordance with Standing Order 9 it shall, if required by the 
Mayor, be put into writing and handed to the Mayor before it is 
further discussed or put to the Meeting. 

 
Seconder’s Speech 

 
(2) A Member when seconding a motion or amendment may, if he or 

she then declares his or her intention to do so, reserve his or her 
speech until a later period of the debate. 

 
Members to stand while speaking and form of reference to other 
Members 

 
(3) A Member when speaking shall stand and address the Mayor.  If 

two or more Members rise, the Mayor shall call on one to speak; 
the other or others shall then sit.  While a Member is speaking the 
other Members shall remain seated, unless rising to a point of order 
or in personal explanation.  Members should be referred to by their 
titles of “Mayor”, “Deputy Mayor”, “Chairman” or “Councillor” as 
appropriate. 

 
Content and length of speeches 

 
(4) A Member shall direct his or her speech to the question under 

discussion or to a personal explanation or to a point of order.  No 
speech shall exceed five minutes except by consent of the Council. 

Page 81



ANNEX 4 
 

Part 4 – Standing Orders for the Regulation of Business 

152 
April 2018 

 
When a Member may speak again 

 
(5) A Member who has spoken on any motion shall not speak again 

whilst it is the subject of debate, except:- 
 

(a) to speak once on an amendment moved by another Member; 
 
(b) if the motion has been amended since he or she last spoke, to 

move a further amendment; 
 
(c) if his or her first speech was on an amendment moved by 

another Member, to speak on the main issue, whether or not 
the amendment on which he or she spoke was carried; 

 
(d) in exercise of a right of reply given by paragraph (11) or (13) of 

this Standing Order; 
 
(e) on a point of order; 
 
(f) by way of personal explanation. 

 
Form of Amendments to Motions 

 
(6) (a) An amendment shall be relevant to the motion and shall 

either:- 
 

(i) refer a subject of debate to a relevant body for 
consideration or re-consideration; 

 
(ii) leave out words; 
 
(iii) leave out words and insert or add others; or 
 
(iv) insert or add words; 

 
but such omission, insertion or addition of words shall not 
have the effect of negativing the motion before the Council. 

 
(b) Subject to Standing Order 13(6)(a), any amendment to a 

recommendation on a Notice of Motion shall incorporate a 
specific reference to the Notice of Motion submitted for 
consideration. 

 
Amendments to be disposed of singly 

 
(7) Only one amendment may be moved and discussed at a time and 

no further amendment shall be moved until the amendment under 
discussion has been disposed of PROVIDED that the Mayor may 

Page 82



ANNEX 4 
 

Part 4 – Standing Orders for the Regulation of Business 

153 
April 2018 

permit two or more amendments to be discussed (but not voted on) 
together if circumstances suggest that this course would facilitate 
the proper conduct of the Council's business. 

 
Subsequent Amendments 

 
(8) If an amendment be lost, other amendments may be moved on the 

original motion.  If an amendment be carried, the motion as 
amended shall take the place of the original motion and shall 
become the motion upon which any further amendment may be 
moved. 

 
Alteration of Motion 

 
(9) With the consent of the Council, a Member may: 

 
(a) alter a motion of which he or she has given notice; or 
(b) with the further consent of his seconder, alter a motion which 

he or she has moved; 
 

if (in either case) the alteration is one which could be made as an 
amendment thereto. 

 
Withdrawal of Motions and Amendments 

 
(10) A motion or amendment may be withdrawn by the mover with the 

consent of his or her seconder and of the Council, which shall be 
signified without discussion, and no Member may speak upon it 
after the mover has asked permission for its withdrawal, unless 
such permission shall have been refused. 

 
Right of Reply 

 
(11) The mover of a motion has a right to reply at the close of the 

debate on the motion, immediately before it is put to the vote.  If an 
amendment is moved, the mover of the original motion shall also 
have a right of reply at the close of the debate on the amendment, 
and shall not otherwise speak on the amendment.  The mover of 
the amendment shall have no right of reply to the debate on his or 
her amendment. 

 
Motions which may be moved during debate 

 
(12) When a motion is under debate no other motion shall be moved 

except the following: 
 
(a) to amend the motion; 
 
(b) to adjourn the meeting; 

Page 83



ANNEX 4 
 

Part 4 – Standing Orders for the Regulation of Business 

154 
April 2018 

 
(c) to adjourn the debate; 
 
(d) to proceed to the next business; 
 
(e) that the question be now put; 
 
(f) that a Member be not further heard; 
 
(g) by the Mayor under Standing Order 17(2) that a Member do 

leave the meeting; 
 
(h) a motion under Section 100A of the Local Government Act, 

1972 to exclude the public. 
 

Motions for adjournment, closure etc. 
 

(13) A Member may move without comment at the conclusion of a 
speech of another Member, "That the Council proceed to the next 
business", "That the question be now put", "That the debate be now 
adjourned", or "That the Council do now adjourn", on the seconding 
of which the Mayor shall proceed as follows: 

 
(a) on a motion to proceed to the next business: unless in his or 

her opinion the matter before the meeting has been 
insufficiently discussed, he or she shall first give the mover 
of the original motion a right of reply, and then put to the vote 
the motion to proceed to next business; 

 
(b) on a motion that the question be now put: unless in his or 

her opinion the matter before the meeting has been 
insufficiently discussed, he or she shall first put to the vote 
the motion that the question be now put, and if it is passed 
then give the mover of the original motion his or her right of 
reply under paragraph (11) of this Standing Order before 
putting his or her motion to the vote; and 

 
(c) on a motion to adjourn the debate or the meeting: if in his or 

her opinion the matter before the meeting has not been 
sufficiently discussed and cannot reasonably be sufficiently 
discussed on that occasion he or she shall put the 
adjournment motion to the vote without giving the mover of 
the original motion his or her right of reply on that occasion. 

 
Points of order or personal explanations 

 
(14) A Member may rise on a point of order or in personal explanation, 

and shall be entitled to be heard forthwith. A point of order shall 
relate only to an alleged breach of a Standing Order or statutory 

Page 84



ANNEX 4 
 

Part 4 – Standing Orders for the Regulation of Business 

155 
April 2018 

provision and the Member shall specify the Standing Order or 
statutory provision and the way which he or she considers it has 
been broken.  A personal explanation shall be confined to some 
material part of a former speech by him or her which may appear to 
have been misunderstood in the present debate. 

 
Ruling of Mayor to be final 

 
(15) The ruling of the Mayor on a point of order or on the admissibility of 

a personal explanation shall not be open to discussion. 
 

Members not to impute unworthy motives 
 

(16) No Member shall impute to another Member dishonest or unworthy 
motives, or use offensive or unbecoming words, or be guilty of 
tedious repetition. 

 
Protest not to be entered on Minutes 

 
(17) No protest or expression of dissent, other than as a record of votes, 

shall be entered upon the Minutes of the Council. 
 

Respect for Chair 
 

(18) Whenever the Mayor rises during a debate a Member then standing 
shall resume his or her seat and the Council shall be silent. 

 
QUORUM 

 
14. (1) Subject to the provisions of Paragraph 45 of Schedule 12 of the 

Local Government Act, 1972, no business shall be transacted at a 
meeting of the Council unless at least one-third of the whole 
number of Members of the Council are present. 

 
(2) If during any meeting of the Council the Mayor, after counting the 

number of Members present, declares that there is not a quorum 
present the meeting shall stand adjourned. 

 
CLOSURE AND ADJOURNMENT OF MEETINGS 

 
15. (1) No opposed business (i.e. business which any Member wishes to 

debate) shall be taken at an Ordinary Meeting of the Council after 
eleven o'clock in the evening, except the business then under 
consideration and as hereinafter provided.  At the conclusion of the 
business then under consideration, the Mayor shall call over the 
business remaining to be transacted and any opposed business, 
including the remainder of a Report of the relevant body if then 
under discussion, shall stand adjourned unless the Council resolve, 
on a motion which shall be put without debate, to continue the 

Page 85



ANNEX 4 
 

Part 4 – Standing Orders for the Regulation of Business 

156 
April 2018 

sitting either for a particular item or items on the agenda or for all 
the remaining business. 

(2) When a meeting is adjourned pursuant to any provision contained 
in these Standing Orders (except in accordance with Standing 
Orders 17 (2) or (3)) then the consideration of all business not 
transacted shall be adjourned to a day and time to be fixed by the 
Mayor or, if he or she does not fix a day and time, to the next 
Ordinary Meeting of the Council.  Notice of an adjourned meeting 
shall be given to each Member by the Head of Democratic Services 
and such notice shall specify the business remaining to be 
transacted, but it shall not be necessary to send with such notice a 
further copy of any minutes and/or reports already circulated. 

 
 

MOTIONS AFFECTING PERSONS EMPLOYED 
BY THE COUNCIL 

 
16. If any question arises at a meeting of the Council, or of a relevant body, as 

to the appointment, promotion, dismissal, salary, superannuation or 
conditions of service, or as to the conduct of any person employed by the 
Council, such question shall not be the subject of discussion until the 
Council or relevant body, as the case may be, has decided whether or not 
the power of exclusion of the public under Section 100A of the Local 
Government Act, 1972 shall be exercised. 

 
DISORDERLY CONDUCT 

 

Naming a Member 
 
17. (1) If at a meeting any Member of the Council, in the opinion of the 

Mayor notified to the Council, misconduct himself or herself by 
persistently disregarding the ruling of the Chair, or by behaving 
irregularly, improperly, or offensively, or by wilfully obstructing the 
business of the Council, the Mayor or any other Member may move 
"That the Member named be not further heard", and the motion if 
seconded shall be put and determined without discussion. 

 
Removal of disorderly Member 

 
(2) If the Member named continues his misconduct after a motion 

under Standing Order 17 (1) has been carried the Mayor shall: 
 

EITHER move "That the Member named do leave the Meeting" (in 
which case the motion shall be put and determined without 
seconding or discussion); 

 
OR adjourn the meeting of the Council for such a period as the 
Mayor shall consider expedient. 

Page 86



ANNEX 4 
 

Part 4 – Standing Orders for the Regulation of Business 

157 
April 2018 

 
Adjournment in case of disorder 

 
(3) In the event of general disturbance, which in the opinion of the 

Mayor renders the due and orderly dispatch of business impossible, 
the Mayor in addition to any other power vested in him or her may, 
without question put, adjourn the meeting of the Council for such 
period as considered expedient. 

 
 

DISTURBANCE BY MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 
 

18. If a member of the public interrupts the proceedings at any meeting the 
Mayor shall warn him or her.  If he or she continues the interruption the 
Mayor shall order his or her removal from the Council Chamber.  In case 
of general disturbance in any part of the Chamber open to the public the 
Mayor shall order that part to be cleared. 

 
 
 
 

 

RESCISSION OF PRECEDING RESOLUTION 
 

Motion to rescind a previous decision 
 
19. (1) A motion or amendment to rescind a decision made at a meeting of  

the Council within the previous six months cannot be moved unless 
the notice of motion is signed by at least six Members. 

 
Motion similar to one previously rejected 

 
(2) A motion or amendment in similar terms to one that has been 

rejected at a meeting of the Council in the previous six months 
cannot be moved unless the notice of motion or amendment is 
signed by at least six Members.  Once the motion or amendment is 
dealt with, no one can propose a similar motion or amendment for 
six months. 

  
Recommendation of Relevant Body 

 
(3) Standing Orders 19 (1) and (2) shall not apply to motions moved in 

pursuance of a recommendation of a relevant body. 
 

CONFIDENTIALITY OF CERTAIN BUSINESS 
 
20. Where a relevant body shall have resolved to exclude the public from a 

meeting pursuant to Section 100A(2) or (4) of the Local Government Act, 
1972, a Member of the Council who attends the meeting shall not, without 

Page 87



ANNEX 4 
 

Part 4 – Standing Orders for the Regulation of Business 

158 
April 2018 

permission of the relevant body, disclose any matter dealt with or 
discussed in the absence of the public until the matter has been reported 
to the Council and is not subject to any stipulation that the matter shall 
continue to be regarded as exempt or confidential; or until the matter has 
been communicated to the Press by or with the authority of the relevant 
body. 

PETITIONS 
 
21. Where a petition is submitted to the Council in accordance with the 

Council’s Petitions Scheme, and has at least 1000 eligible signatures, the 
subject matter of the petition shall be reported to considered at the next 
Ordinary Meeting of the Council, allowing at least ten working days’ notice. 
The petition organiser shall be given the opportunity to present their 
petition to the Council at the beginning of the debate and a maximum of 
ten minutes shall be permitted for this. Members of the Council shall not 
be permitted to ask questions of the petition organiser. The Council will 
then consider its response to the petition.   

 
 
 
 
  

DEPUTATIONS AND MEMORIALS 
 

Deputations to the Council 
 
22. (1) A deputation may be received by the Council or a relevant body, 

according to the wishes expressed by the deputation; but no such 
deputation shall be received unless five clear days' notice of the 
intended deputation and of its objects shall have been received by 
the Head of Democratic Services; and then only by leave of the 
Council or the relevant body concerned. 

 
Reception of Deputations to the Council 

 
(2) No deputation shall consist of more than five persons.  In the case 

of a deputation received by the Council, tTwo persons may address 
the Council, but the first speaker's address shall not exceed ten 
minutes and the second speaker's address shall not exceed five 
minutes. When a deputation is received by a relevant body only 
one person may make the address and such address shall not 
exceed ten minutes; except that, following the address and at the 
discretion of the Chairman, any member of the deputation may 
reply to questions put by Members.  The duration of any address 
shall include the time taken to read a memorial which may be 
presented by the deputation. Following the address, Members of 
the Council shall not be permitted to ask questions of the 
deputation, except at the discretion of the Chairman.  

Page 88



ANNEX 4 
 

Part 4 – Standing Orders for the Regulation of Business 

159 
April 2018 

 
The Scheme for Public Speaking at meetings of relevant bodies is 
contained in Part 4 of the Council’s Constitution. 

   

Memorials 
 

(3) A copy of a memorial which a deputation wishes to present to the 
Council or to a relevant body, shall be delivered to the Head of 
Democratic Services at least five clear days prior to the meeting at 
which the deputation desires to be received.  The purpose of any 
such memorial shall be circulated by the Head of Democratic  
Services to the Members of the Council or the relevant body 
concerned, unless the Mayor or, as the case may be, Chairman 
directs otherwise. 

 
Urgent Memorials 

 
(4) A memorial on any subject which the Mayor may deem to be urgent 

shall be brought before the next meeting of the Council or a 
relevant body, whichever may first be sitting; or he or she may, if he 
or she deems it necessary, direct the Head of Democratic Services 
to Summon a Special Meeting, either of the Council or of a relevant 
body to deal with the matter. 

 
 

INTERPRETATION OF STANDING ORDERS 
 

23. The ruling of the Mayor or, as appropriate, the Chairman of a relevant 
body as to the construction or application of any of these Standing Orders, 
or as to any proceedings of the Council or a relevant body, shall not be 
challenged. 

 
SEALING OF DOCUMENTS 

 
Custody of Seal 

 
24. (1) The Common Seal of the Council shall be kept in a safe place in 

the custody of the Solicitor to the Council. 
 

 

Authorised use of Seal 
 

(2) The Common Seal of the Council shall  be affixed to any document  
authorised by a resolution of the Council, the Cabinet or a 
Committee to which the Council have delegated their powers in this 
behalf or through powers and duties delegated in the Council’s 
Constitution.  

 

Page 89



ANNEX 4 
 

Part 4 – Standing Orders for the Regulation of Business 

160 
April 2018 

Attestation of Seal 
 

(3) The Seal shall be attested by either the Chief Executive, Director or 
the Solicitor to the Council and an entry of every sealing of a 
document shall be made and consecutively numbered in a book 
kept for the purpose and shall be signed by a person who has 
attested the Seal. 

 
 

AUTHENTICATION OF DOCUMENTS FOR 
LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

 
25. Where any document will be a necessary step in legal proceedings on 

behalf of the Council it shall be signed by the Solicitor to the Council or the 
Head of Democratic Services  where appropriate unless any enactment 
otherwise requires or authorises, or the Council give the necessary 
authority to some other person for the purpose of such proceedings. 

 
STANDING ORDERS TO APPLY TO RELEVANT BODIES 

 
26. The Standing Order of the Council headed “Rules of Debate” (except 

those parts which relate to standing and to speaking more than once) 
shall, with any necessary modification, apply to meetings of relevant 
bodies. 

 
 

MEETINGS OF RELEVANT BODIES 
 

Convening of Meetings 
 
27. (1) A relevant body shall hold meetings at such times as may be 

required and may adjourn such meetings as may be thought 
proper. Special meetings of a relevant body shall be summoned by 
the Head of Democratic Services at the request of the Chairman or 
any three Members of the relevant body. 

 
Discussion of additional items 

 
(2) No additional item of business not already included on the agenda 

for a meeting of a relevant body shall be raised unless the 
Chairman is satisfied that the matter is one of urgency.  Urgent 
matters which Members propose to raise shall be notified to the 
Chairman or to the Head of Democratic Services not later than  
noon on the day of the meeting (unless relating to an emergency 
arising after that time). 

 
Minutes 

 

Page 90



ANNEX 4 
 

Part 4 – Standing Orders for the Regulation of Business 

161 
April 2018 

(3) Minutes of the proceedings of a relevant body shall be recorded in 
a Minute Book kept for that purpose and shall be signed by the 
Chairman at the same or following meeting. 

 
Quorum 

 
(4) Except where authorised by Statute or ordered by the Council, 

business shall not be transacted at a meeting of a relevant body 
unless at least one half of the whole number of voting Members are 
present.  

 
(5) In the case of the Cabinet, the Quorum shall be five voting 

Members.  
 

Voting  
 

(6) Voting at a meeting of a relevant body shall be by a show of hands 
PROVIDED that immediately after the vote is taken any Member 
may require that his or her vote for the question or against the 
question or whether he or she abstained from voting shall be 
recorded in the Minutes. 

 
 

Mover of Motion may attend meeting  
 

(7) A Member of the Council who has moved a motion which has been 
referred to a relevant body shall have notice of the meeting at 
which it is proposed to consider the motion.  He or she shall have 
the right to attend the meeting and if he or she attends shall have 
an opportunity to explain the motion. 

 
Attendance of Members 

 
(8) No Member of the Council shall attend a meeting of a relevant 

body, except as a member of the public, unless:- 
 

(a) he or she is a Member of the relevant body; or 
 
(b) he or she is entitled to be present at such meeting by virtue 

of any provisions contained in these Standing Orders; or 
 
(c) he or she is invited by the relevant body to be present at 

such meeting. 
 
but that any Member of the Council shall have the right to ask the 
relevant body to address the meeting on an item of business 
included on the agenda. 

 

Page 91



ANNEX 4 
 

Part 4 – Standing Orders for the Regulation of Business 

162 
April 2018 

(9) Members of the Council attending, as members of the public, 
meetings of the Cabinet, Committees or Policy and Project 
Advisory Board or Policy and Review Panels of which they are not 
Members, shall be entitled to remain, during the consideration of 
business where the press and public are excluded. 

 
(10) When the Cabinet is holding informal discussions on future policy 

issues, other Members of the Council shall not be entitled to be 
present unless invited. 
 

Public Participation 
 
(11) Members of the public may address or ask questions of the 

Cabinet, Committees or Policy and Project Advisory Board Policy 
and Review Panels in accordance with the Public Speaking 
Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution.  

  
SUB-COMMITTEES 

 
Consent of Council required 

 
28. (1) Any Sub-Committees established by a Committee shall be 

appointed in accordance with the political balance arrangements 
agreed by the Council and the Committee shall give effect to the 
appointments proposed by the appropriate political groups. 

 
Chairman to be Ex Officio Member 

 
(2) The Chairman of a Committee shall be an ex officio Member of 

every Sub-Committee appointed by that Committee, unless he or 
she signifies to the Committee that he or she does not wish to 
serve PROVIDED that he or she may not vote at a meeting of a 
Sub-Committee of which he or she is not a voting Member. 

 
Co-opted Members 

 
(3) A Sub-Committee may appoint such non-voting Members and 

advisers as it considers fit. 
 

VARIATION AND REVOCATION OF STANDING ORDERS 
 

Motions to amend Standing Orders 
 
29. (1) Any motion to add to, vary or revoke these Standing Orders shall, 

when proposed and seconded, stand adjourned without discussion 
to the next Ordinary Meeting of the Council. 

 
 

Page 92



ANNEX 4 
 

Part 4 – Standing Orders for the Regulation of Business 

163 
April 2018 

SUSPENSION OF STANDING ORDERS 
 

30. (1) Subject to Paragraph (2) of this Standing Order, any of the 
preceding Standing Orders may be suspended so far as regards 
any business at the meeting where its suspension is moved. 

 
(2) A motion to suspend Standing Orders shall not be moved without 

notice (i.e. under Standing Order 12) unless there shall be present 
at least one-half of the whole number of the Members of the 
Council. 

 
STANDING ORDERS TO BE GIVEN TO MEMBERS 

 
31. A copy of these Standing Orders and of such statutory provisions as 

regulate the proceedings and business of the Council, shall be made 
available to each Member of the Council by the Head of Democratic 
Services upon delivery to him of the Member's Declaration of Acceptance 
of Office on the Member being first elected to the Council. 

Page 93



ANNEX 5 
Part 4 – Access to Information Procedure Rules 

169 
April 2018 

 

ACCESS TO INFORMATION PROCEDURE RULES  
 

 

 
1.   INTRODUCTION AND SCOPE 
 
1.1 The Council’s Access to Information Procedure Rules can be regarded as a 

written summary of the public rights in relation to;  
 

 Notice of council meetings; 

 Attendance at council meetings; 

 Inspection of documents; 

 Information about decisions planned to be made by the 
Council;   

 Records of decisions that have been made by the Council; and 

 Access to recorded information held by the Council under the 
Freedom of Information Act. 
 

1.2 These rules also set out the additional rights of access to documents by 
elected Members of the Council.     

 
1.3 Part 1 of this document applies to all meetings of the full Council, the Cabinet, 

Committees and Policy and Project Advisory Board Policy and Review 
Panels, which are open to the public. 

 
1.4 Part 2 of this document sets out the additional provisions that relate to 

Cabinet decision making, including key decisions.  
 
1.5 Part 3 sets out the types of decisions recorded by officers.  
 
1.6 Part 4 sets out additional provisions that relate to Members’ access to 

documents and Part 5 outlines the general rights of access to information 
under the Freedom of Information Act 2000.  

 
1.57 These provisions do not affect any more specific rights to information 

contained elsewhere in this Constitution or the law.   
 
PART 1 – SUMMARY OF PUBLIC RIGHTS RELATED TO COUNCIL MEETINGS 
 
2. Access to documents 
 
2.1  Documents related to council meetings  will normally be published on the 

Council’s website and are available for inspection in Democratic  Services at 
the Council Offices, Farnborough Road, Farnborough (Telephone (01252) 
398398) between the hours of 8.30 am and 5.00 pm (4.30 pm Fridays) on 
weekdays (not Saturdays).   

 

Page 94



ANNEX 5 
Part 4 – Access to Information Procedure Rules 

170 
April 2018 

2.2 By Act of Parliament, or Statutory Instrument, or pursuant to the Standing 
Orders of either House of Parliament, documents may be required to be 
deposited with an appointed officer. A person interested in any such 
document may inspect it. Requests should be made to the Head of 
Democratic  Services. 

  
3.  Rights to attend and report Meetings 
  
3.1 Members of the public may attend all meetings subject to the exceptions set 

out in paragraph 9 below. 
 
3.2 The Council will provide reasonable facilities for any member of the public to 

report on the proceedings of all meetings that are open to the public. 
Members of the public are permitted to film, audio record, take photographs 
and use social media provided that those activities do not disrupt the conduct 
of the meeting.  

 
4.  Notice of Meetings 
 
4.1 The Council will give at least five working days’ notice (excluding weekends 

and bank holidays) of any meetings by posting details at the Council Offices, 
Farnborough Road, Farnborough (the designated office). In addition, notice of 
meetings will be published on the Council’s website.  
 

5.  Access to Agenda and Reports before the Meeting 
 
5.1 The Council will make copies of the agenda and reports open to the public 

available for inspection at the designated office at least five clear days before 
the meeting. If an item is added to the agenda later, the revised agenda will 
be open to inspection from the time when the item was added to the agenda. 
Where reports are prepared after the summons has been sent out, the Head 
of Democratic Services shall make each such report available to the public as 
soon as the report is completed and sent to Members of the Council. Copies 
of agendas and reports will also be available to view on the Council’s website.  

 
6.  Supply of Copies  
 
6.1 The Council will supply copies of: 
 

 any agenda and reports which are open to public inspection; 
 
 any further statements or particulars necessary to indicate the nature 

of the items in the agenda; and 
 
 if the Head of Democratic Services thinks fit, copies of any other 

documents supplied to councillors in connection with an item  
 
 to any person on payment of a charge for postage and any other costs. 
 

Page 95



ANNEX 5 
Part 4 – Access to Information Procedure Rules 

171 
April 2018 

6.2 No fee is charged for inspecting any of the documents referred to in this 
statement.  A fee may be charged by the Council for any copies or extracts 
from a document at its standard rate, which is reviewed periodically.   

 
6.3 Minutes will be available when finalised and printed, even if they have not yet 

been formally approved at a subsequent meeting. 
 
6.4 A reasonable number of copies of agenda and reports must be made 

available for the public present at a meeting.  Agendas and reports must also 
be available on request to the media. and are also deposited at public 
libraries.   

 
7.  Access to Minutes and Agendas after the Meeting 
 
 The Council will make available copies of the following for six years after a 

meeting: 
 

 the minutes of the meeting (or records of decisions taken, together with 
reasons, for all meetings of the Cabinet) excluding any part of the 
minutes of proceedings when the meeting was not open to the public 
or which disclose exempt or confidential information; 

 
 a summary of any proceedings not open to the public where the 

minutes open to inspection would not provide a reasonably fair and 
coherent record; 

 
 the agenda for the meeting; and 
 
 reports relating to items when the meeting was open to the public. 
 

8.  Background papers listed in Reports 
 
8.1 The report author will set out in every report a list of those documents (called 

background papers) relating to the subject matter of the report which in 
his/her opinion: 

 
 disclose any facts or matters on which the report or an important part 

of the report is based; and 
 
 which have been relied on to a material extent in preparing the report  
 
but does not include published works or those which disclose exempt or 
confidential information (as defined in Rule 9 ) and in respect of executive 
reports containing the advice of a political adviser. 

 
8.2  Public inspection of background papers 
 
 The Council will make available for public inspection for four years after the 

date of the meeting one copy of each of the documents on the list of 
background papers. 

Page 96



ANNEX 5 
Part 4 – Access to Information Procedure Rules 

172 
April 2018 

 
 
 
 
9.  Exclusion of public access to Meetings 
 
 Confidential information – requirement to exclude public 
 
9.1  The public must be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely, in view of 

the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings, 
that confidential information would be disclosed. Confidential information 
means information given to the Council by a Government Department on 
terms that forbid its public disclosure or information which cannot be 
disclosed publicly by Court Order. 

 
  Exempt information – discretion to exclude public 
 
9.2 The public may be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely, in view of the 

nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings, that 
exempt information would be disclosed. 

 
 Exempt information means information falling within the following categories 

(subject to any condition): 
 

 
Category 

 

 
Conditions/Interpretation 

 
1. Information relating to any 
individual 
 
 

 
This means any individual person and 
relates back to the Data Protection Act 
1998. 
 

 
2. Information which is likely to 
reveal the identity of an individual 
 

 
This also relates to the Data Protection 
Act. 

 
3. Information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of 
any particular person (including 
the Authority holding that 
information) 
 

 
The ‘financial or business affairs’ include 
past, present and contemplated activities. 
 
Information within paragraph 3 is not 
exempt if it is required to be registered 
under the Companies Act 1985, the 
Friendly Society Acts 1974 and 1992, the 
Industrial and Provident Societies Act 
1965 – 1978, the Building Societies Act 
1986 or the Charities Act 1993 as such 
information will be in the public domain in 
any event. 
 

Page 97



ANNEX 5 
Part 4 – Access to Information Procedure Rules 

173 
April 2018 

 

 
4. Information relating to any 
consultations or negotiations, or 
contemplated consultations or 
negotiations, in connection with 
any labour relations matters 
arising between the authority or a 
Minister of the Crown and 
employees of, or office holders 
under, the authority. 
 

 
‘Employee’ means a person employed 
under a contract of service with the 
Council and would therefore include a 
consultant or a temporary member of staff 
employed through an agency or a 
company.  
 
‘Labour relations matters’ means any 
matters which may be the subject of a 
trade dispute within the meaning of 
Section 218(1) of the Trade Union and 
Labour Relations  (Consolidation) Act 
1992 or any dispute about such a trade 
dispute.  
 

 
5. Information in respect of which 
a claim to legal professional 
privilege could be maintained in 
legal proceedings 
 

 
 

 
6. Information which reveals that 
the authority proposes – 
  

(a) to give under any 
enactment a notice under 
or by virtue of which 
requirements are imposed 
on a person; or 

 
(b) to make an order or 

direction under any 
enactment 

 

 
Information is exempt only if and so long 
as disclosure to the public might afford an 
opportunity to a person affected by the 
notice, order or direction to defeat the 
purpose or one of the purposes for which 
the notice, order or direction is to be 
given or made  

 
7. Information relating to any 
action taken or to be taken in 
connection with the prevention, 
investigation or prosecution of 
crime. 
 

 

 
9.3 Information which falls within any of the paragraphs 1 to 7 above is exempt if 

and so long as, in all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information.  
 

Page 98



ANNEX 5 
Part 4 – Access to Information Procedure Rules 

174 
April 2018 

9.4 The regulations also specifically provide that Information is not exempt if it 
relates to proposed development for which the local planning authority may 
grant itself planning permission pursuant to Regulation 3 of the Town and 
Country Planning General Regulations 1992.  

   
  Exclusion of Access by the Public to Reports 
 
9.5 If, in the opinion of the Head of Democratic Services, certain reports relate to 

items during which, in accordance with Rule 9, the meeting is likely to be 
closed to members of the public, the Council may exclude access by the 
public to the relevant documents. Such reports will be marked “not for 
publication” together with the category of information likely to be disclosed. 

 
PART 2 – ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS RELATED TO EXECUTIVE (CABINET) 
DECISION MAKING 
 

The following provisions are in addition to the rules set out in Part 1. 
 
10. Cabinet Work Programme 
 
10.1 The Head of Democratic Services shall publish a Work Programme for the 

Cabinet, which will be available at the Council Offices and published on the 
Council’s website. The Work Programme will include future executive matters 
to be decided by the Cabinet including notice of items to be considered in 
private and notice of key decisions (see below).     

 
11. Notice of Items to be considered in Private  
 
11.1 The Council will give 28 days notice of any Cabinet meeting, or part of a 

Cabinet Meeting, at which a report(s) will be considered in private. The notice 
will be published as part of the Cabinet’s work programme, which will be 
published on the Council’s website and will be available at the Council 
Offices. The notice will set out the title or topic of the Report(s) to be 
considered in private and the reasons for the public to be excluded. 

 
11.2 Further notice of any matters to be considered in private will be given at least 

five clear days before the meeting, as part of the Cabinet agenda. The notice 
will include the reasons for the public to be excluded, and details of any 
representations received about why the meeting should be open to the public, 
and a statement of response to any such representations. 

 
 
 
 
12. Notice of Key Decisions (see Constitution Article 13.3) 
 
12.1 The Council will give 28 days’ notice of any Key Decisions to be taken by the  

Cabinet, a Cabinet sub-committee, Member of the Cabinet or Officer under 
delegation arrangements. The Notice will be published as part of the 

Page 99



ANNEX 5 
Part 4 – Access to Information Procedure Rules 

175 
April 2018 

Cabinet’s work programme, which will be published on the Council’s website 
and will be available at the Council Offices. 

 
12.2 The Notice will include details of the decision to be made, name or title of the 

decision making body or person, date of decision or period which it will be 
made, documents submitted to the decision making for consideration, 
address of where copies of documents can be obtained and information that 
other documents may be submitted to the decision maker and the procedure 
for requesting copies of them. 

 
13. Notice requirements in respect of decisions by Individual Members of 

the Cabinet 
 
13.1 Where an individual Member of the Cabinet receives a report which he or she 

intends to take into account in making any decision, then he or she will not 
make the decision until at least five clear days after receipt of that report. 

 
13.2 On giving of such a report to an individual decision maker, the person who 

prepared the report will give a copy of it to the chairman of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee every relevant Policy and Review Panel as soon as 
reasonably practicable, and make it publicly available at the same time. 

 
14.  Notice of Cabinet Meetings to be published on the Council’s website 
 
 Notice of Cabinet meetings, and every report for Cabinet decision, will be 

published on the Council’s website at least five clear days before the meeting, 
or where the meeting is convened at shorter notice, at the time that the 
meeting is convened. Background Papers listed at the end of Cabinet reports 
shall be published on the Council’s website five clear working days before the 
meeting.  

 
15. Records of Cabinet Decisions made at meetings 

 
 The Head of Democratic Services shall produce a written record of all 

executive decisions, including key decisions, made at a Cabinet meeting or 
any Cabinet Sub-Committee. The record shall include a statement of the 
reasons for each decision, details of any alternative options considered and 
rejected and any interests declared or dispensations granted. The Head of 
Democratic Services shall determine the form of the record, but this can be 
the minutes of the meeting.  

 
16. Publication of Records of Decisions made at Cabinet Meetings  

 
 All decision notices related to Cabinet Meetings shall be available for public 

inspection at the Council’s offices and published on the Council’s website as 
soon as reasonably practicable, and normally within three days of a decision 
being made.     
 

17. Retention of Records of Executive Decisions including Key Decisions   
 

Page 100



ANNEX 5 
Part 4 – Access to Information Procedure Rules 

176 
April 2018 

A copy of any report or part report relevant to a key decision will be open to 
inspection by the public for six years from the date the decision was made.  
Documents containing confidential or exempt information or the advice of a 
political adviser need not be disclosed. If a document is not disclosed 
because it contains exempt information, the Head of Democratic Services will 
prepare a statement.  The statement will describe the category of exempt 
information and will be open to inspection for six years from the date of the 
meeting. 
 

18. General Exception and Special Urgency 
 
 In the case that a key decision, or matter to be considered in private, is urgent 

and cannot reasonably be deferred, provisions are in place to enable the 
decision to be taken, subject to certain conditions. A schedule of the 
permitted arrangements for general exception and special urgency is set out 
in Appendix 1 to these rules.  
 

PART 3 – RECORDS OF DECISIONS MADE BY AN INDIVIDUAL MEMBER OR 
OFFICER  

 
19. Records of Executive Decisions made by individual Cabinet Members 

 
 A written record shall be produced of any executive decisions, including key 

decisions, made by individual Cabinet Members, which will be published on 
the Council’s website. For each decision, the record shall cover the date 
made, reasons for the decision, details of any alternative options considered 
and rejected and any interests declared or dispensations granted. 

 
20. Records of Executive Decisions made by Officers  
  

The Council will publish A written records shall be produced of certain any 
executive decisions made by an officers which is under delegated powers. 
Decisions on the following matters will be published on the Council’s website, 
as soon as reasonably practicable, after the decision is made.   
 
Executive decisions: 
 

 Key decisions  

 Decisions delegated to an officer(s) at a Cabinet Meeting  

 Decisions delegated to an officer in consultation with a Cabinet 
Member (Scheme of delegation or authorised at Cabinet) 

 Any dDecisions that affect a significant number of people and/or   
whether or not it is in the Cabinet Scheme of Delegation where there 
is a reasonable expectation of wide public interest in the matter being 
decided; or 

 Matters which are the subject of urgent action outside the Scheme of 
Delegation 

 
Non-Executive decisions: 

Page 101



ANNEX 5 
Part 4 – Access to Information Procedure Rules 

177 
April 2018 

 

 Decisions which would have been taken by Council/a Committee but 
have been delegated to the officer under a specific express provision  

 Decisions which grant permissions or licenses (including 
planning/building control/listed buildings) 

 Decisions which incur significant expenditure    
 

However, this shall not include: 
 

 Decisions that merely bring into effect a previous decision that has 
already been made in principle, either in the agreed Council Budget or 
otherwise by the Council, Cabinet or Committees  

 Decisions where whole or part of the record contains confidential or 
exempt information 

   
    
21. For each decision, the record shall include the date of the decision, details of 

the decision including the reasons and, where appropriate, details of any 
alternative options considered and rejected and any interests declared or 
dispensations granted. 

   
PART 4 – ADDITIONAL RIGHTS OF ACCESS TO DOCUMENTS BY MEMBERS 

 
22. Material Relating to Business Transacted at a Private Meeting of the 

Cabinet 
 

All Members will be entitled to inspect any document relating to business 
previously transacted at a private meeting of the Cabinet, which is in the 
possession or under the control of the Cabinet or its committees, unless it 
contains exempt information. falling within paragraphs 1,2,4,5 and 7 of the 
categories of exempt information  
 
However, documents will be available if the information falls within 
paragraphs (3) and (6) of paragraph 9.2 above, except to the extent that the 
information relates to any terms proposed, or to be proposed, by or to the 
authority in the course of negotiations for a contract.  

 
 
 
23. Material Relating to Key Decisions 
 
 All members of the Council will be entitled to inspect any document (except 

those available only in draft form) in the possession or under the control of the 
Cabinet or its committees which relates to any key decision unless Access to 
Information Rule 22 above applies. 

 
24.  Rights to Access Documents – Overview and Scrutiny Committee Policy 

and Review Panels 
 

Page 102



ANNEX 5 
Part 4 – Access to Information Procedure Rules 

178 
April 2018 

 Subject to Access to Information Rule 25 below, Members of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee  Policy and Review Panels will be entitled to copies 
of any document which is in the possession or control of the Cabinet, or any 
committee of the Cabinet, and; 
 
(a) contains material relating to any business transacted at a meeting of 

the Cabinet or its committees; or  
 
(c) Relates to any decision taken by an individual Member of the Cabinet, 

or officer in accordance with executive arrangements; or 
 
(d) contains exempt or confidential information when it is relevant to an 

action or decision they are reviewing or scrutinising, or intend to 
scrutinise; when officers are aware of the existence of relevant exempt 
or confidential documents they will be required to advise the overview 
and scrutiny committee Panels of their existence. 

 
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee Panel with responsibility for crime and 
disorder matters has a right to request information, relevant to the exercise of 
its functions, from the responsible authorities. The identification of individuals, 
except where essential, or information that would prejudice the operation(s) of 
the responsible authorities is not included in this provision.      
 

25. Limit on Rights 
 
 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee Policy and Review Panels will not be 

entitled to any document that is in draft form.   
 
26.  When the Overview and Scrutiny Committee a Policy and Review Panel 

can require a report 
 
 If the Overview and Scrutiny Committee a Policy and Review Panel thinks 

that a key decision has been taken which was not treated as being a key 
decision, the Committee Panel may require the Cabinet to submit a report to 
the Council within such reasonable time as the Committee Panel specifies. 
This report must include details of the decision, and the reasons for the 
opinion that the decision was not a key decision. The power to require a 
report rests with the Overview and Scrutiny CommitteePanel, but is also 
delegated to the appropriate Lead Officer of a Policy and Review Panel who 
shall require such a report on behalf of the Committee Panel when so 
requested by the chairman or any five Members. Alternatively, the 
requirement may be raised by resolution passed at a meeting of the 
Committee relevant Policy and Review Panel.   

 
27.  Nature of Rights 
 
 These rights of a member are additional to any other right that he or she may 

have. 
 
28.  Cabinet’s report to Council 

Page 103



ANNEX 5 
Part 4 – Access to Information Procedure Rules 

179 
April 2018 

 
 Where the Cabinet is required to prepare a report for submission to the 

Council, it shall be made to the next available meeting. However, if the next 
meeting of the Council is within fourteen days of receipt of the written notice, 
or the resolution of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee Panel, then the 
report may be submitted to the meeting after that. The report to Council will 
set out particulars of the decision, the individual or body making the decision 
and, if the Leader of the Council is of the opinion that it was not a key 
decision, the reasons for that opinion. 

 
29.  Reports on special urgency decisions 
 
 The Leader of the Council will report on the executive decisions taken in the 

circumstances set out in Access to Information Rule 18 (special urgency) 
through the Cabinet’s Reports to Council.  

 
30. Attendance at Private Meetings 
 
 All Members of the Cabinet will be served notice of all private meetings of 

committees of the Cabinet, whether or not they are Members of that 
committee.   

 
 Members other than Cabinet Members will not be entitled to attend private 

meetings of the Cabinet and its committees, unless invited to do so by the 
Leader of the Council or the chairman of the appropriate committee. 

 
 The Head of Paid Service, the Chief Financial Officer and the Monitoring 

Officer, and their nominees are entitled to attend any meeting of the Cabinet 
and its committees. The Cabinet may not meet unless the Head of 
Democratic Services has been given reasonable notice that a meeting is to 
take place and the appropriate notice served.   

 
PART 5 – GENERAL RIGHTS OF ACCESS TO INFORMATION – THE FREEDOM 

OF INFORMATION ACT 2000  
 

31. Rushmoor’s Publication Scheme 
 

 The Freedom of Information Act gives a general right of access to all types of 
recorded information held by the Council.  Any person who makes a request 
to the Council for information must be informed whether the Council holds 
that information, and subject to exemptions, must be supplied with that 
information. 

 
 The Council’s Publication Scheme details most of the Council’s published 

material and can be accessed on the Council’s website at 
www.rushmoor.gov.uk.  
 

 The Scheme is a guide to the information routinely published by the Council. 
It is not a list of the actual publications, since this will change as new material 
is published but rather it is a description of the classes or types of information 

Page 104



ANNEX 5 
Part 4 – Access to Information Procedure Rules 

180 
April 2018 

published. It does not include information that the Council holds, but which is 
produced by third parties. 

 
 With a few exceptions, all of the Council’s publications can be downloaded 

from the Rushmoor website. They are also available in hard copy from the 
Council’s offices. If you have difficulty in finding what you are looking for the 
Freedom of Information Officer may be contacted at: 
  
Rushmoor Borough Council 
Council Offices 
Farnborough Road, Farnborough 
Hants GU14 7JU 
Tel 01252 398603 

 
32. Requests for Information not Included in the Publication Scheme  
 
 Requests for information under the Freedom of Information Act, which have 

not already been published in the Scheme, must be made in writing (including 
email) and sent to the Council’s Freedom of Information Officer. The Council 
may charge for providing the information requested.  
 

33. Information not to be published under the Scheme 
 
 A great deal of the information that the Council holds is personal and private 

to individuals (which includes our employees or former employees) and will 
not be published. The individual concerned, however, may be able to obtain 
that information from the Council’s Data Protection Officer by making a 
separate application under the Data Protection Act. 

 
 Further guidance on information that is exempt from publication is included, 

by class of information, within the Publication Scheme. Examples include:  
 

 Work in progress (draft reports, for example) need not be disclosed 

 Information subject to a data-sharing protocol  

 commercially sensitive information which, if released, would not be in 
the public interest.  

 
 
 

34. Byelaws 
 
 A copy of any byelaws made by the Council are open to inspection by the 

public, and any person may purchase a copy.  Requests relating to the 
Council’s byelaws should be made to the Solicitor to the Council. 

Page 105



ANNEX 5 
Part 4 – Access to Information Procedure Rules 

181 
April 2018 

APPENDIX 
ARRANGEMENTS FOR URGENCY AND EXCEPTIONS 

 
The following table sets out the provisions for dealing with exceptions and urgent 
matters, where it has not been possible to meet the expected normal timescales for 
notice and publication of agendas and reports.   

 

 Circumstance 
 

Provisions 

 
1. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
As a matter of urgency, a decision is 
required before the Cabinet or a 
Committee next meets and the matter in 
question has not been delegated.   
 

 
For non-key decisions: 
 
The Chief Executive, or appropriate 
Director or Head of Service, shall 
have power to act in consultation with 
the Leader of the Council and 
appropriate Cabinet Member or 
appropriate Chairman.  
 
The decision taken and the reason for 
the urgency shall be reported to the 
next meeting of the Cabinet or the 
appropriate Committee. 
 
For key decisions:  
 
The Chief Executive, or appropriate 
Director or Head of Service, shall 
have power to act in consultation with 
the Leader of the Council and 
appropriate Cabinet Member, AND 
the provisions in either paragraph 2 or 
3 below must be applied depending 
on the timescales for the decision.    
 
The decision taken and the reason for 
the urgency shall be reported to the 
next meeting of the Cabinet. 
 

 
2. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
A key decision must be decided by the 
Cabinet, a Cabinet Member or Officer 
within 28 days - but allowing five clear 
working days’ notice.  
 

 
1. The decision may only be 

made when the Chairman of 
the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee has been informed 
by notice, in writing, of the 
matter about which the 
decision is to be made, and the 
reasons why 28 days’ notice 
cannot be given.  

 

Page 106



ANNEX 5 
Part 4 – Access to Information Procedure Rules 

182 
April 2018 

 
 

 
2. Notice of the key decision to be 

made must be published on the 
website, and giving reasons 
why 28 days’ notice could not 
be given. 

 
3. A Record of the Decision to be 

published on the website as 
soon as reasonably 
practicable, after the decision 
is made. This may be via the 
Decision Record of the Cabinet 
Meeting or by a Decision 
Record form as appropriate.  

 

 
3. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
A key decision must be decided by the 
Cabinet, a Cabinet Member or Officer 
urgently with less than five clear working 
days’ notice 
 

 
1. The decision may only be 

made with the agreement of 
the  Chairman of the 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee that the 
meeting/matter is urgent and 
cannot reasonably be 
deferred. If the Committee 
Chairman is unable to act, 
the Mayor’s agreement must 
be sought, and if he/she is 
unable to act, the deputy 
Mayor’s approval should be 
sought. 

 
2. Following agreement, a notice 

must be published on the 
website with the reasons why 
the meeting is urgent and 
cannot reasonably be deferred.  

 
3. A Record of the Decision to be 

published on the website as 
soon as reasonably 
practicable, after the decision 
is made. This may be via the 
Decision Record of the Cabinet 
Meeting or by a Decision 
Record form as appropriate.  

 
 
 
 

Page 107



ANNEX 5 
Part 4 – Access to Information Procedure Rules 

183 
April 2018 

 
4. 

 
A matter must be decided urgently by 
the Cabinet, in private, within 28 days 
and cannot reasonably be deferred.  
 
 

 
1. The meeting can only be held in 

private with the agreement of the  
Chairman of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee that the 
meeting/matter is urgent and 
cannot reasonably be deferred. If 
the Committee Chairman is 
unable to act, the Mayor’s 
agreement must be sought, and if 
he/she is unable to act, the 
deputy Mayor’s approval should 
be sought. 

 
2. Following agreement, a notice 

must be published on the website 
with the reasons why the meeting 
is urgent and cannot reasonably 
be deferred.  

 

 
5. 

 
Any Urgent Business to be raised at a 
Cabinet or Committee Meeting (but 
excluding key decisions or matters to be 
decided by the Cabinet in private).  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Urgent matters proposed to be raised 
at a meeting should be notified to the 
Head of Democratic and Customer 
Services no later than noon on the 
day of the meeting. 
 
For an urgent item to be added to the 
agenda, the Chairman’s approval 
must be sought, and the reason for 
the urgency must be recorded in the 
minutes of the meeting. 

 

 
NOTES: 
 
(1) Civil Emergencies 
 
The Chief Executive has powers under section 138 of the  Local Government Act 
1972 in the event of a civil emergency or disaster and may authorise another officer 
to exercise these powers on his/her behalf 
 
(2) Key Decisions  
 
Key decisions are ‘executive decisions’, which are likely to: 
 

 Result in the Council incurring expenditure or making savings which are 
significant in as much as they will have a material effect on the level of 
Council tax or balances or contingencies in relation to the Council’s overall 
budget1;  

Page 108



ANNEX 5 
Part 4 – Access to Information Procedure Rules 

184 
April 2018 

 

 Be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working on an 
area comprising two or more wards within the Borough  
 
1approximately £100,000 or more 
 

 

Page 109



ANNEX 6  
Part 4 – Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules 

191 
April 2018 

 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PROCEDURE RULES 
 

 

 
1.  ARRANGEMENTS FOR OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
 

The Council will appoint one the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
Policy and Review Panels as described in set out in Article 6 to 
undertake the overview and scrutiny function. The Committee Panels 
may appoint sub-committees groups which will also be subject to these 
Procedure Rules. Informal Task and Finish Groups may also be 
appointed for a fixed period on the expiry of which they shall cease to 
exist.   

 
(a) The Council will have one Overview and Scrutiny Committee, with a 

maximum of eleven Members of the Council five Policy and Review 
Panels, which will perform all overview and scrutiny functions on 
behalf of the Council.  Each will consist of a maximum of nine 
Members of the Council. 

 
(b) The general functions of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will  

each of the Policy and Review Panels will be to: 
 

(i) prepare and approve a programme setting out the 
Committee’s Panel’s work and to ensure its time is effectively 
and efficiently utilised; 

 
(ii) undertake investigations into such matters that may be 

referred by the Cabinet, Committees and/or the full Council.  
 

(iii) have the powers of overview and scrutiny in relation to 
executive decisions made but not implemented as set out in 
Section 21(3) of the Local Government Act, 2000; 

 
(iv) review existing policies of the Council to secure continuous 

improvement in the way in which the Council’s functions are 
exercised and to make recommendations to the Cabinet 
and/or the full Council for future options; 

 
(v) monitor the Council’s performance against the Corporate 

Performance Plan and monitor and review performance 
indicators; 

  
(vi) consider any relevant local government matter raised by any 

member review and/or scrutinise any matter affecting the area 
or its inhabitants; 

 

Page 110



ANNEX 6  
Part 4 – Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules 

192 
April 2018 

(vii)  appoint such task and finish groups and working groups as 
they considered appropriate to fulfil its their overview and 
scrutiny functions; 

 
(viii) report annually to the full Council on its work;    

 
(iv)  put in place a system to ensure that referrals from the 

Committee Panel to the Cabinet either by way of report or for 
reconsideration are managed efficiently and do not exceed the 
limits set out in this Constitution; and 

 
(x)  make decisions about the order in which reports should be 

referred to the Cabinet when it appears that the numbers of 
reports will interfere with the efficient running of Council 
business. 

 
(xi) review or scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken, in 

connection with the discharge by the responsible authorities of 
their crime and disorder functions and to make reports or 
recommendations to the Council with respect to the discharge 
of those functions (Section 19 of the Police and Justice Act 
2006) 

 
(c) The Panel with responsibility for Crime and Disorder Matters will 

exercise the following functions, as required by Section 19 of the 
Police and Justice Act 2006: 

 
to review or scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken, in 

connection with the discharge by the responsible authorities of their 
crime and disorder functions; and 

 
To make reports or recommendations to the Council with respect to the 

discharge of those functions 
 

2.  WHO MAY SIT ON THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE?A POLICY AND REVIEW PANEL? 

 
All councillors, except Members of the Cabinet, may be members of 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee  Policy and Review Panels. 
However, no Member may be involved in scrutinising a decision in 
which he or she has been involved directly. 

 
3.  CO-OPTED MEMBERS 
 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee, or any of its sub-committees or 
task and finish groups, Policy and Review Panels shall be entitled to 
appoint non-voting co-opted members and advisers and may  as they 
think fit. The Panel with responsibility for Crime and Disorder Matters 
may co-opt additional members from the responsible authorities when 
looking at crime and disorder issues. Co-optees may be appointed as 

Page 111



ANNEX 6  
Part 4 – Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules 

193 
April 2018 

standing co-optees, or special interest co-optees to assist with scrutiny 
of a particular matter.  
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee Panel shall not co-opt any 
person to scrutinise a decision where that person was wholly or partly 
responsible for the matter. The number of co-optees shall not exceed 
the number of permanent Committee Panel Members.  
 

4.  MEETINGS OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
POLICY AND REVIEW PANELS 

 
There shall normally be seven six scheduled meetings of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee each Policy and Review Panel in each year.   
Additional meetings may be called from time to time as and when 
appropriate. An Overview and Scrutiny Committee  Policy and Review 
Panel meeting may be called by the chairman, by one-third of the 
voting Members of the Committee Panel (but not less than three 
Members) or by the Head of Democratic Services if he or she 
considers it necessary or appropriate. 
 
The Committee Panel with responsibility for Crime and Disorder 
Matters shall meet to review or scrutinise matters in connection with 
the discharge by the responsible authorities of their crime and disorder 
functions at least once in a twelve-month period 
 

5.  QUORUM 
 

The quorum for the Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall be six 
voting members of the Committee. Policy and Review Panels shall be 
as set out in Council Procedure Rule 26 (4) in Part 4 of this 
Constitution (at least one half of the whole number of voting Members). 

 
6.  WHO CHAIRS OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MEETINGS POLICY 

AND REVIEW PANEL MEETINGS? 
 

The Chairman and Vice-Chairmen of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee shall be drawn from among those councillors serving on the 
Committee.  The Chairman shall be appointed at the Annual Meeting of 
the Council for the ensuing year. 
 
On a vacancy arising, the Committee will be asked to fill the vacancy at 
its next meeting. In the absence from a meeting of the Chairman and 
Vice-Chairmen, a Chairman for that meeting shall be appointed. Each 
Policy and Review Panel shall appoint its Chairman and Vice-
Chairman, from amongst the councillors sitting on the Panel, as it 
considers appropriate. The appointments shall be made at the Panels’ 
first meeting of the Municipal Year.  

 
 
 

Page 112



ANNEX 6  
Part 4 – Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules 

194 
April 2018 

7. VICE-CHAIRMEN 
 

The Committee may appoint up to two Vice-Chairmen to focus on 
different areas of responsibility, for example internal corporate matters, 
and external community and environmental issues.   

 
The Vice-Chairmen shall be appointed at the Committee’s first meeting 
of the Municipal Year 

 
Role Descriptions for the Vice-Chairmen of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee are set out in Article 2 of the Constitution, ‘Councillors and 
Role Descriptions’  

 
 
78.  WORK PROGRAMME 
 

(a) The Overview and Scrutiny Committee Policy and Review 
Panels will be responsible for setting its their own work 
programme and in doing so it they shall take into account the 
wishes of councillors Panel Members who are not Members of 
the largest political group on the Council.  

 
(b) When identifying and discussing issues to be included in the 

Committee’s work programme, the Committee should refer to the 
Cabinet’s Work Programme and identify issues for scrutiny in 
advance of the Cabinet making its decision. 

 
The overall work programme should take account of: 

 

 whether the proposed work furthers corporate priorities 

 whether the proposed work furthers continuous improvement 
in services 

 the likelihood of something significant or valuable coming 
from the work 

 the importance of the issue for users and the public generally 

 whether there is evidence of user/general public 
dissatisfaction with the service 

 Issues raised through Audit or Inspections 

 Whether there is a high level of budgetary commitment to the 
service 

 
 

9. TASK AND FINISH GROUPS 
 

All Councillors may be members of task and finish groups appointed by 
the Committee to carry out specific areas of scrutiny. However, no 
Member may be involved in scrutinising a decision in which he or she 
has been involved directly.     

 
 

Page 113



ANNEX 6  
Part 4 – Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules 

195 
April 2018 

 
 
10.  AGENDA ITEMS AND COUNCILLOR CALLS FOR ACTION 

 
(a) Any Member of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee a Policy 

and Review Panel shall be entitled to give notice to the Head of 
Democratic Services that he or she wishes an item relevant to 
the functions of the Committee Panel to be included on the 
agenda for the next available meeting. On receipt of such a 
request, the Head of Democratic Services will advise the 
Chairman and ensure that it is included for discussion at the next 
mid-cycle meeting of the Committee Panel, with a view to it 
being included on the next available agenda. 

 
(b) Any Member of the Council who is not a Member of the 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee appropriate Policy and 
Review Panel shall be entitled to refer to the Committee a Panel 
for discussion any ‘local government matter’ which is relevant to 
the functions and the terms of reference of the Committee. that 
Panel. The Member shall give written notice to the Head of 
Democratic Services that he or she wishes an item to be 
included, and on receipt of such a request, the Head of 
Democratic Services will ensure that it is included for discussion 
at the next mid-cycle meeting of the Committee Panel, with a 
view to it being included on the first available agenda.   

 
(c) A ‘local government matter’ is defined as one which relates to 

the discharge of any function of the authority, affects all or part of 
the ward for which the member is elected, or any person who 
lives or works in that area, and which is not an ‘excluded’ matter. 
An excluded matter is one relating to a planning or licensing 
decision, one which relates to an individual or entity where there 
is already a right to review or appeal, or one which is vexatious, 
discriminatory or not reasonable. 
 
The Committee Panel may have regard to any representations 
by the Member on why it would be appropriate for the 
Committee Panel to exercise any of its powers in relation to the 
matter. If the Committee Panel decides not to do anything, it 
must notify the Member setting out the reasons. If it does decide 
to act, any report and subsequent response should be sent to 
the member who has placed the matter on the agenda. There is 
an expectation that the member who has placed the matter on 
the Committee Panel agenda will normally attend the meeting to 
present their case.  

 
(d) The Overview and Scrutiny Committee Policy and Review 

Panels shall also respond, as soon as its their work programmes 
permits, to requests from the Council and the Cabinet to review 
particular areas of Council activity. Where it they does so, the 

Page 114



ANNEX 6  
Part 4 – Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules 

196 
April 2018 

Committee Policy and Review Panels shall report its their 
findings and any recommendations back to the Cabinet and/or 
Council, who shall consider the report of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee Policy and Review Panel within one month 
of receiving it or the next available meeting, whichever is the 
longer. 

 
11.  POLICY REVIEW AND DEVELOPMENT  
 

(a)  The role of Policy and Review Panels in relation to the 
development of the Council’s budget and policy framework is set 
out in detail in the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure 
Rules. 

 
(b)  In relation to the development of the Council’s approach to other 

matters not forming part of its policy and budget framework, 
Policy and Review Panels may make proposals to the Cabinet, 
in so far as they relate to matters within their terms of reference. 

 
(c) In relation to the review of existing policy and strategy, the 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee Policy and Review Panels 
may hold may hold enquiries and investigate the available 
options for future direction in policy and may appoint advisers 
and assessors to assist them in this process. They may go on 
site visits, conduct public surveys, hold public meetings, 
commission research and do all other things that they 
reasonably consider necessary to inform their deliberations. 
They may ask witnesses to address them on any matter under 
consideration and may pay to any advisers, assessors and 
witnesses a reasonable fee and expenses for doing so. 

 
12.  REPORTS  FROM THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

ING ARRANGEMENTS  
 

(a)  Once it has they have formed recommendations,  on policy 
development, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee Policy and 
Review Panels will prepare a formal report and submit it to the 
Head of Democratic Services for consideration by the Cabinet (if 
the proposals are consistent with the existing budgetary and 
policy framework), or to the and the Council (as appropriate (e.g. 
if the recommendation would require a departure from or a 
change to the agreed budget and policy framework). 

 
(b)  If the Overview and Scrutiny Committee a Policy and Review 

Panel cannot agree on one single final report to the Council or 
the Cabinet as appropriate, then up to one minority report may 
be prepared and submitted for consideration by the Cabinet 
(and the Council) with the majority report. 

 

Page 115



ANNEX 6  
Part 4 – Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules 

197 
April 2018 

(c)  The Cabinet or the Council shall consider the report of an 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee within one month or at the 
next available meeting (whichever is the later) of the report 
being submitted to the Head of Democratic Services. 

 
(d) When a report is made the Panel dealing with Crime and 

Disorder matters  makes a report to the Council in connection 
with the Committee’s its statutory role in paragraph 1 above, a 
copy shall be provided to each of the responsible authorities. 

 
13.  MAKING SURE THAT REPORTS BY THE OVERVIEW AND 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE POLICY AND REVIEW PANELS ARE 
CONSIDERED BY THE CABINET 

  
(a) Once the Overview and Scrutiny Committee a Policy and Review 

Panel has prepared a report, the Head of Democratic Services 
will allocate it to the Cabinet for consideration and the Council if 
the contents of the report would have implications for the 
Council’s budget and policy framework. If the Head of 
Democratic Services refers the matter to the Council, he or she 
will serve a copy on the Cabinet with notice that the matter is to 
be referred to the Council. The Cabinet will have four weeks in 
which to respond to the Committee’s Policy and Review Panel’s 
report and the Council shall not consider it within that period.  
When the Council does meet to consider any referral from the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee a Policy and Review Panel on 
a matter which would impact on the budget and policy 
framework, it shall also consider the response of the Cabinet.   

 
(b)  The Overview and Scrutiny Committee Policy and Review 

Panels will in any event have access to the Cabinet’s forward 
work programme plan and timetable for decisions and intentions 
for consultation. Even where an item is not the subject of 
detailed proposals from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee a 
Policy and Review Panel, following consideration of possible 
policy/service developments, the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee a Panel will at least be able to respond in the course 
of the Cabinet’s consultation process in relation to any key 
decision. 

 
14.  RIGHTS OF OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE POLICY 

AND REVIEW PANEL MEMBERS TO DOCUMENTS 
 

(a) In addition to their rights as councillors, Members of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee Policy and Review Panels 
have the additional right to documents, and to notice of meetings 
as set out in the Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 4 
of this Constitution. 

 

Page 116



ANNEX 6  
Part 4 – Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules 

198 
April 2018 

(b) Nothing in this paragraph prevents more detailed liaison 
between the Cabinet and the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
Policy and Review Panels as appropriate depending on the 
particular matter under consideration. 

 
15.  MEMBERS AND OFFICERS GIVING ACCOUNT 
 

(a)  The Overview and Scrutiny Committee Policy and Review 
Panels may scrutinise and review decisions made or actions 
taken in connection with the discharge of any Council functions. 
As well as reviewing documentation, in fulfilling the scrutiny role, 
they may require any Member of the Cabinet, the Head of Paid 
Service and/or any senior officer to attend before them to 
explain: 

 
(i)  any particular decision or series of decisions; 
 
(ii) the extent to which the actions taken implement Council 

policy; and/or  
 
(iii)  their performance. 
 
and it is the duty of those persons to attend if so required. 

 
(b)  Where any Member or officer is required to attend an Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee Policy and Review Panel under this 
provision, the Chairman of the Committee Panel will inform the 
Head of Democratic Services. The Head of Democratic Services 
shall inform the Member or officer giving at least three working 
days’ notice of the meeting at which he or she is required to 
attend, although, in normal circumstances, he or she will be 
expected to attend the next scheduled meeting of the 
Committee Panel. The notice will state the nature of the item on 
which he or she is required to give account and whether any 
papers are required to be produced for the Committee  Panel. 
Where the account to be given to the Committee Panel will 
require the production of a report, then the Member or officer 
concerned will be given sufficient notice to allow for preparation 
of the documentation. 

 
(c)  Where, in exceptional circumstances, the Member or officer is 

unable to attend on the required date, then the Committee 
Policy and Review Panel shall, in consultation with the Member 
or officer, arrange an alternative date for attendance or for a 
substitute to attend in his or her place. 

 
16.  ATTENDANCE BY OTHERS 
 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee Policy and Review Panels may 
invite people other than those people referred to in paragraph 13 above 

Page 117



ANNEX 6  
Part 4 – Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules 

199 
April 2018 

to attend a meeting in order to discuss issues of local concern and/or 
answer questions. It may for example wish to hear from residents, 
stakeholders and members and officers in other parts of the public 
sector and shall invite such people to attend. 
 
When dealing with The Policy and Review Panel with responsibility for 
crime and disorder matters, the Committee may require the attendance 
before it of a representative of a responsible authority in order to 
provide information or answer questions, provided at least two weeks 
notice is given. 

 
17. PETITIONS 
 
 Where a petition is submitted to the Council in accordance with the 

Council’s Petitions Scheme, and has at least 500 eligible signatures, 
the petition organiser shall be entitled to require a senior officer to 
attend a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee a Policy and 
Review Panel to answer questions and address the subject matter of 
the petition. (Petitions with 1000 eligible signatures or more shall be 
considered by the full Council in the first instance. However, if such a 
petition specifies that it wishes a senior officer to give evidence at a 
public meeting, then this shall usually take place at the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee a Policy and Review Panel). 

 
 The final decision on which senior officer should attend shall rest with 

the Committee Policy and Review Panel, and shall be dealt with in 
accordance with the provisions in Para. 13 ‘Members and Officers 
giving Account’. Committee Panel members shall ask the questions at 
the meeting, but the petition organiser shall be able to suggest 
questions by contacting the Head of Democratic Services, or Meeting 
Administrator, no later than two working days before the meeting.  

 
18.  CALL-IN 
 

(a) Call-in should be used only in exceptional circumstances. These 
circumstances are as follows: 

 
(i) Any four or more non-executive Members will have the 

right within five working days of the publication of the 
decision to call in any Cabinet decision to the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee a Policy and Review Panel 
subject to giving reasons, such as it is: 

 
 contrary to policy; or 
 contrary to budget; or  
 based on incorrect or inadequate or inaccurate 

information  
 

(ii) 25% of the Members of the Council will have the right 
within five working days of the publication of the decision 

Page 118



ANNEX 6  
Part 4 – Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules 

200 
April 2018 

to call in any executive decision direct to full Council if 
they consider it to be  

 
 contrary to the policy framework 
 contrary to the agreed budget 

 
(b) When an executive decision is made by the Cabinet, a Cabinet 

committee, a Cabinet Member or under joint arrangements or a 
key decision is made by an officer with delegated authority from 
the Cabinet, a record of that decision shall be published, 
including where possible by electronic means, and shall be 
available at the main offices of the Council normally within three 
days of it being made. All Members will be sent copies of the 
records of all such decisions within the same timescale by the 
Head of Democratic Services.  The record will bear the date on 
which it is published.  

 
(c) Subject to the urgency provisions in paragraph (j) below, any 

executive decision of the type referred to in paragraph (b) above 
will come into force and may be implemented following the 
expiry of five working days from the date of publication of the 
record of the decision UNLESS before the expiry of that period 
the decision is called in to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
appropriate Policy and Review Panel in accordance with these 
rules. A decision which has been called-in will not come into 
force until the Overview and Scrutiny Committee appropriate 
Policy and Review Panel has had the opportunity to decide 
whether the matter should be reconsidered.  

 
(d) Members will notify the Head of Democratic Services of any 

executive decision that they wish to call-in in writing.  The Head 
of Democratic Services shall refer any decision which is called-in 
to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee appropriate Policy and 
Review Panel in accordance with these Rules and shall notify 
the decision-taker of the request for call-in. 

 
(e) The Overview and Scrutiny Committee Policy and Review Panel 

will consider any decision that has been called in to the 
Committee Panel within ten working days of the Head of 
Democratic Services being notified of the request (whether 
pursuant to paragraph (a) above or by the Committee Panel 
itself). 

 
(f) If, having considered a decision that has been called in, the 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee Policy and Review Panel is 
still concerned about it, then it may refer it back to the decision 
taker for reconsideration, setting out in writing the nature of its 
concerns. If referred to the decision taker, that person or body 
shall then reconsider the decision within a further 15 working 

Page 119



ANNEX 6  
Part 4 – Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules 

201 
April 2018 

days, or at its next scheduled meeting (whichever is the later) 
amending the decision or not, before adopting a final decision. 

 
(g) If, having considered a decision that has been called in, the 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee Policy and Review Panel 
does not refer the matter back to the decision taker nor onwards 
to full Council the decision shall take effect on the next working 
day after the Committee Panel meeting.  

 
(h) If the matter is referred to full Council and the Council does not 

object to a decision which has been made, then no further action 
is necessary and the decision shall take effect on the next 
working day after the Council meeting. However, if the Council 
does object, it has no authority to make decisions in respect of 
an executive decision unless it is contrary to the policy 
framework, or contrary to or not wholly consistent with the 
budget. Unless that is the case, the Council will refer any 
decision to which it objects back to the decision taker, together 
with the Council’s views on the decision. That decision taker 
shall choose whether to amend the decision or not before 
reaching a final decision and implementing it.  

 
19. CALL-IN AND URGENCY 
 

The call-in procedure set out above shall not apply where the decision 
being taken by the Cabinet is urgent. A decision will be urgent if any 
delay likely to be caused by the call-in process would seriously 
prejudice the Council’s or the public’s interests. The record of the 
decision shall state, whether in the opinion of the decision making 
person or body, the decision is an urgent one, and therefore not 
subject to call-in. The Mayor and the Chairman of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee in consultation with the appropriate officers 
appropriate Policy and Review Panel must agree both that the decision 
proposed is reasonable in all the circumstances and to it being treated 
as a matter of urgency.   In the absence of either postholder, the 
Deputy Mayor and relevant Vice-Chairman’s consent shall be required.  
In the absence of the required combination of individual Members, the 
Head of Paid Service or his or her nominee’s consent shall be required.  

  
20.  PROCEDURE AT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

POLICY AND REVIEW PANEL MEETINGS  
 

(a)  The Overview and Scrutiny Committee Policy and Review 
Panels shall consider the following business: 

 
(i)  minutes of the last meeting; 
 
(ii)  consideration of any decisions “called in” to the 

Committee Panel; 
  

Page 120



ANNEX 6  
Part 4 – Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules 

202 
April 2018 

(iii) review of the work programme and, as appropriate, the 
Cabinet’s Work Programme Forward Plan;  

 
(iv)  responses of the Cabinet to reports of the Committee 

Panel; and 
 
(v)  the business otherwise set out on the agenda for the 

meeting. 
 

(b) Where the Overview and Scrutiny Committee a Policy and 
Review Panel conducts investigations (e.g. with a view to policy 
development), the Committee Panel may also ask people to 
attend to give evidence at Panel meetings which are to be 
conducted in accordance with the following principles: 

 
(i)  the investigation will be conducted fairly and all Members 

of the Committee Panel given the opportunity to ask 
questions of attendees, and to contribute and speak; 

 
(ii)  those assisting the Committee Panel by giving evidence 

are treated with respect and courtesy; and 
 
(iii)  the investigation be conducted so as to maximise the 

efficiency of the investigation or analysis. 
 

(c) Following any investigation or review, the Committee Panel shall 
prepare a report, for submission to the Cabinet and the Council 
(if appropriate) and shall make its report and findings public. 

 
19. MATTERS WITHIN THE REMIT OF MORE THAN ONE POLICY AND 

REVIEW PANEL 
 

Where a Policy and Review Panel conducts a review or scrutinises a 
matter which also falls (whether in whole or in part) within the remit of 
another Policy and Review Panel: 

 
(a) the Panel conducting the review shall invite the Chairman 

of the other Panel (or his or her nominee) to attend its 
meetings when the matter is being reviewed; and 

 
(b) before submitting its findings to the Cabinet and the Council 

(if appropriate) for consideration, the report of the reviewing 
Policy and Review Panel shall be considered by the other 
Panel for comment.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 121



ANNEX 6  
Part 4 – Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules 

203 
April 2018 

 
 
21.  ANNUAL REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
At the end of the Municipal Year, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee is 
asked to report to the full Council on the key outcomes from its work over the 
previous year. In particular to focus on where the Committee has: 
 

 Held the Cabinet to account 

 Contributed to continuous improvement in services through 
performance monitoring and review 

 Carried out external scrutiny  
 
 
22. MID CYCLE MEETINGS 
 
‘Mid-Cycle Meetings’ will meet between scheduled meetings of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees to plan agendas for meetings of the Committee and 
manage the Committee’s work programme.  
 
The Membership of Mid-Cycle will comprise the Chairman and Vice-Chairman 
of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee together with cross party 
representatives. Cabinet Members can be invited to mid-cycle meetings to 
discuss items in the work programme and issues for scrutiny.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

---------- 
 
 
 

Page 122



APPENDIX 3 

 
Provisional Calendar of Meetings 2018/19  

  
 
 

  
MARCH 2018                                APRIL 2018                                       MAY  2018                                             JUNE  2018                                   JULY   2018                               

 
MONDAY  
 
 

 
 
5 

 
 

12 
R 
 

 
 

19 
LY 

 
 

26 
B 

 
 
2 
Ø 

 
 

9  
LG 

 

 
 

16 
R 

 
 

23 
 

 
 

30 

 
 

7 
Ø 

 
 

14 
I 

 
 

21 
R 

 
 

28 
Ø 

 
 
4 
 

 
 

11 
 

 
 

18 
R 
 

 
 

25 
 

 
 
2 
R 
 

 
 

9 
 

 
 

16 
 

 
 

23 
R 
 

 
TUESDAY 

 
 
6 

Cab 

 
 

13 
Lsc 

 

 
 

20 
E 

 
 

27 
 

 
 
3 
 

 
 

10 
Lsc 

 
 

17 
Cab 

 

 
 

24 
 

 
 
1 
 
 

 
 

8 
I 

 
 

15 

 
 

22 
AC 

 
 

29 
Cab 

 
 
5 

PPB 
 

 
 

12 
Lsc 

 
 

19 
 

 
 

26 
Cab 

 
 
3 
 

 
 

10 
Lsc 

 

 
 

17 
PPB 

 
 

24 
Cab 

 
WEDNESDAY 
 

 
 
7 
 

 
 

14 
 

 
 

21 
 

 
 

28 
DM 

 
 
4 
 

 
 

11 

 
 

18 
 

 
 

25 
DM 

 

 
 
2 
 
 

 
 

9 

 
 

16 
R 

 
 

23 
DM 

 
 

30 
 

 
 
6 
R 

 
 

13 
 

 
 

20 
DM 

 
 

27 
 

 
 
4 
 

 
 

11 
 

 
 

18 
DM 

 

 
 

25 
a/e 

 
THURSDAY 
 

 
 
8 
 

 
 

15 
 

 
 

22 
CS 

 

 
 

29 
a/e 
CM 

 
 
5 
 
 

 
 

12 
R 
 

 
 

19 
C 

 
 

26 
a/e 

 
 
3 

BCE  
 

 
 

10 
a/e 
R 

 
 

17 
 

 
 

24 
LG 

 
 

31 
a/e 

 
 
7 

OSC 

 
 

14 
 

 
 

21 
C 

 
 

28 
a/e 

 
 
5 
 
 

 
 

12 
R 

 
 

19 
OSC 

 
 

26 
C 

 
FRIDAY 
 

 
 
9 

 
 

16 

 
 

23 

 
 

30 
Ø 

 
 
6 

 
 

13 

 
 

20 

 
 

27 

 
 
4 

 
 

11 

 
 

18 

 
 

25 

 
 
1 

 
 
8 

 
 

15 

 
 

22 

 
 

29 

 
 
6 

 
 

13 

 
 

20 

 
 

27 

 
 

                        
 
                   AUGUST  2018                             SEPTEMBER  2018                        OCTOBER 2018                             NOVEMBER  2018                        DECEMBER  2018                              

 
MONDAY  
 
 

 
 

30 
LG 

 

 
 

6 
 

 
 

13 
 

 
 

20 
 

 
 

27 
Ø 

 
 

3 
 

 
 

10 
 

 
 

17 
 
 

 
 

24 
LG 

 
 

1 
R 

 
 
8 
R 

 
 

15 
 

 
 

22 
 
 

 
 

29 

 
 

5 
R 
 

 
 

12 
 

 
 

19 
 

 
 

26 
LG 

 
 

3 
R 

 
 

10 

 
 

17 
 

 
 

24 

 
 

31 

 
TUESDAY 
 
 
 

 
 

31 
 
 

 
 

7 
Lsc 

 
 

14 
 

 
 

21 
Cab 

 
 

28 
 

 
 

4 
Lsc 

 
 

11 
 

 
 

18 
Cab 

 
 

 
 

25 
PPB 

 

 
 

2 
Lsc 

 
 
9 
 
 

 
 

16 
Cab 

 

 
 

23 
 

 
 

30 
Lsc 

 
 

6 
 
 

 
 

13 
Cab 

 

 
 

20 
PPB 

 
 

27 
Lsc 

 
 

4 

 
 

11 
Cab 

 
 

18 

 
 

25 
Ø 

 
 

1 
Ø 

 
WEDNESDAY 
 
 
 

 
 
1 
 

 
 

8 
 
 

 
 

15 
DM 

 
 

22 
 

 
 

29 
 

 
 

5 
 

 
 

12 
DM 

 

 
 

19 
a/e 

 
 

26 
R 

 
 

3 
 

 
 

10 
DM 

 

 
 

17 

 
 

24 
 
 

 
 

31 
 

 
 

7 
DM 

 

 
 

14 
 

 
 

21 
R 

 
 

28 

 
 

5 
DM 

 

 
 

12 
 

 
 

19 

 
 

26 
Ø 

 
 

2 

 
THURSDAY 
 

 
 
2 
 

 
 

9 
 

 
 

16 
 

 
 

23 
 

 
 

30 
a/e 

 
 

6 
R 

 
 

13 
OSC 

 

 
 

20 
 
 

 
 

27 
 

 
 

4 
C 

 
 

11 
R 

 
 

18 
a/e 

 

 
 

25 
 

 
 

1 
OSC 

 
 

8 
 

 
 

15 
a/e 

 

 
 

22 
 

 
 

29 
R 

 
 

6 
C 

 
 

13 
a/e 

OSC 

 
 

20 

 
 

27 

 
 

3 

 
FRIDAY 
 
 

 
 
3 

 
 

10 

 
 

17 

 
 

24 
 

 
 

31 
 

 
 

7 

 
 

14 

 
 

21 

 
 

28 

 
 

5 

 
 

12 

 
 

19 

 
 

26 

 
 

2 

 
 

9 

 
 

16 

 
 

23 
 

 
 

30 

 
 

7 

 
 

14 

 
 

21 

 
 

28 

 
 

4 

 

P
age 123



APPENDIX 3 

                
                   
      
                   JANUARY 2019                            FEBRUARY 2019                                  MARCH 2019                               APRIL 2019                                    MAY  2019              

 
MONDAY  
 
 

 
 

7 
 
 

 
 

14 
 

 
 

21 
 

 
 

28 
 

 
 

30 
LG 

 
 
4 
 

 
 

11 
 

 
 

18 
R 

 
 

25 
 

 
 
4 
 
 

 
 

11 
 

 
 

18 
 

 
 

25 
 

 
 

1 
 

 
 
8 

LG 

 
 

15 
R 

 
 

22 
Ø 
 

 
 

29 
 

 
 

6 
Ø 

 
 

13 
I 

 
 

20 
 

 
 

27 
Ø 

 
TUESDAY 
 

 
 

8 
Lsc 

 
 

15 
Cab 

 
 

22 

 
 

29 
PPB 

 
 

31 
Lsc 

 
 
5 

Cab 
 

 
 

12 
 

 
 

19 
 
 

 
 

26 
Lsc 

 

 
 
5 

Cab 

 
 

12 
 

 
 

19 
 

 
 

26 
Lsc 
PPB 

 
 

2 
Cab 

 
 
9 
 

 
 

16 
 
 

 
 

23 
Lsc 

 

 
 

30 
Cab 

 

 
 

7 
I 

 
 

14 
R 
 

 
 

21 
AC 

 

 
 

28 
Cab 

 
WEDNESDAY 
 
 

 
 

9 
 

 
 

16 
DM 

 
 

23 
 
 

 
 

30 
 

 
 

1 

 
 
6 

DM 

 
 

13 
 
 

 
 

20 
 
 

 
 

27 
 

 
 
6 

DM 

 
 

13 
 
 

 
 

20 
 

 
 

27 

 
 

3 
 

 
 

10 
DM 

 
 

17 
 

 
 

24 

 
 
1 
 

 
 

8 
 

 
 

15 
 

 
 

22 
DM 

 
 

29 
 
 

 
THURSDAY 
 

 
 

10 
 
 

 
 

17 
 

 
 

24 
a/e 

 
 

31 
OSC 

 
 

2 
 

 
 
7 
 

 
 

14 
a/e 

 
 

21 
C 

 
 

28 
 

 
 
7 
 
 

 
 

14 
a/e 

 
 

21 
 

 
 

28 
OSC 

 
 

4 
 

 
 

11 
a/e 

 
 

18 
C 
 

 
 

25 
 

 
 
2 

BCE 

 
 

9 
a/e 
R 

 
 

16 
R 

 
 

23 
LG 

 

 
 

30 
 

 
FRIDAY 
 
 

 
 

11 

 
 

18 

 
 

25 

 
 
1 

 
 

3 

 
 
8 

 
 

15 

 
 

22 

 
 
1 

 
 
8 

 
 

15 

 
 

22 

 
 

29 
 

 
 

5 
 

 
 

12 

 
 

19 
Ø 

 
 

26 

 
 
3 

 
 

10 

 
 

17 

 
 

24 

 
 

31 

 
 

 
 
 
 
  All Meetings start at 7.00 p.m. except licensing sub-committee meetings, which are usually held during the day as required.  

 
 
AC – Annual Council Meeting 
BCE – Borough Council Elections 
Ø - Bank Holiday 

 
R – Reserved Dates 
I – Induction Training 
C - Council Meeting 
Cab – Cabinet 

 
LG -Licensing and General Purposes Committee 
Lsc - Licensing Sub-Committee 
a/e - Licensing Sub-Committee (Alcohol and 
 Entertainments) 
DM - Development Management Committee 
 

 
OSC – Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
PPB – Policy and Project Advisory Board 
 
 

 

 
Issued by Democratic Services, Rushmoor Borough Council, Council Offices, Farnborough, Hampshire GU14 7JU  

P
age 124


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	2 External Auditor - Audit Plan - Update
	3 External Auditor - Local Government Audit Committee Briefing Paper
	1
	Government and economic news
	Accounting, auditing and governance
	Regulation news
	Find out more
	Key questions for the Audit Committee

	4 Accounting Standards Issues But Not Yet Adopted 2017/18
	5 Review of Governance Structure
	Item 5 - Appendix 1 - Decision Making Structure (Diagram)
	Item 5 - Appendix 2 - (Incorporating Annexes 1- 6)
	APPENDIX 2 to Report
	Annex 1
	Annex 2
	Annex 3
	Annex 4
	Annex 5
	Annex 6

	Item 5 - Appendix 3 - Provisional Calendar of meetings 2019


	Button 24: 
	Button 25: 
	Button 26: 
	Button 27: 
	Button 28: 
	Button 18: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 61: 
	Page 82: 
	Page 103: 
	Page 124: 

	Button 17: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 71: 
	Page 92: 
	Page 113: 



